
HYDE HOUSING ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Annual report and  
financial statements
31 March 2022
Regulator for Social Housing Registration No. LH0032

Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act Registration No. 18195R



Contents

Highlights 2021/22 4

Remembering Michael Hollingsworth MBE, 1936-2022 6

Introduction from the Chair and Chief Executive Officer 8

About us 10

Our vision, mission and core principles 12

Delivering our plan: Our progress in 2021/22 14

Delivering and demonstrating sustainable impact 21

Becoming truly customer-driven  22

Our journey to becoming truly customer-driven 24

Our customers  25

Customer voice 26

Customer services 29

Our social impact 32

The value of our social tenancies 37

People and culture  40

The essential role of our staff 42

Diversity and inclusion 44

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homes   46

Our homes 48

Keeping customers safe in their homes 50

Managing our homes 53

Environment and sustainability 56

Investment, development and partnerships 58

Our development programme 60

Working with our partners to build more homes  62

Our long-term partnerships with stakeholders and investors 63

A portfolio approach to managing our homes 65

Financial sustainability  66

Our financial performance 68

Viability statement 74

Value for money 75

Our governance 80

Group governance 82

Board and advisers 86

How our Board operates 87

Board members and membership 88

An active and engaged Board 90

Board members’ experience 92

Statement of the Group Board’s responsibilities 95

Internal controls assurance 96

Risk management 98

Health and safety 105

Improving our information governance 106

Statements of compliance, Regulator of Social Housing 107  
Governance and Financial Viability Standard 2021/22

Financial statements 108

Independent auditors’ report to the members 110 
of Hyde Housing Association Limited 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 120

Statement of Financial Position 122

Statement of Changes in Reserves 124

Statement of Cash Flows  126

Notes to the financial statements 128



Annual report and financial statements | 31 March 2022   |   5 

Highlights 2021/22

Highlights 2021/22

More of the right homes, in the right places

48,062 (48,721) 
homes in management

859 (1,926)  
homes started on site

456 (651)  
homes completed

Safe, decent, energy-efficient homes

£80.0m (£63.8m) 
invested in building safety since 2017

1,573 (988) 
fire risk assessments carried out

99.2% (100%) 
Decent Homes Standard compliance

73% (66%) 
of our homes are EPC band C or above2

Efficient, high-performing, customer culture

Staff  
engagement:  

78% (85%)

Investors in People 

Gold  
11th year running 

Median ethnicity  
pay gap:  

3.5% (6.5%)

Median gender  
pay gap:  

4.7% (5.5%)

1 Core operating is defined and reconciled to our statutory results on p68
2 Based on best-available portfolio data
Figures in brackets refer to 2020/21 performance

Becoming truly customer-driven

82%

Overall satisfaction with 
customer services:

2021/22

84%

2020/21

Customer satisfaction with 
responsive repairs:

2020/21

81%

2021/22

83%

customers helped 
improve our services

satisfaction with 
lettings (90%)

3,744

92%

Our financial strength and stability

Available liquidity:

£891m (2020/21 actual: £908m)

Core operating surplus1:

£81.7m vs budget of £83.1m (2020/21 actual: £85.4m)

Core operating margin1: 

29.5% vs budget of 30% (2020/21 actual: 31.3%)
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Michael Hollingsworth, who died on 5 March 2022 aged 
85, was one of the driving forces behind the formation 
of Hyde Housing Association in 1967.

With the country’s major cities struggling to overcome 
the impact of World War II, demand for decent 
affordable housing was outstripping the capacity of the 
building industry and local authorities to supply homes.

Against this backdrop, and the BBC drama 
documentary, ‘Cathy Come Home’, Michael, along with 
his old friend Ted Watts and others, were inspired to 
tackle homelessness in their area and discussed how 
they might respond. Michael’s dedication to the service 
of those in need of housing was further inspired by 
a talk given by the Duke of Edinburgh to members of 
Round Table, encouraging them to make a difference in 
their communities. It was for the co-founding of Hyde, 
and his service to housing for more than thirty years, 
that Michael was awarded an MBE in 1991.

Michael was Hyde’s Chair for 29 years, before standing 
down and being appointed Honorary Life President. We 
grew steadily during his time in charge, with many other 
housing associations asking to join Hyde.

Over the years, Hyde has remained true to the ideals 
to which Michael and Ted aspired when embarking on 
their journey in 1967: to help people excluded from the 
mainstream housing market, by providing them with 
decent, affordable homes and managing them properly.

Michael improved the lives of tens, if not hundreds, of 
thousands of people. A fabulous legacy of which Hyde 
is the current custodian. He’ll be greatly missed.

Remembering Michael Hollingsworth MBE

1936-2022
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Introduction from the Chair and Chief Executive Officer 

Well-governed, financially stable, and here  
for the long term 
Having a strong, resilient business provides the 
foundation on which our ambitious strategy is built. It also 
gives us the ability to make choices, so we can deliver the 
right outcomes for our current and future customers.

We were delighted to retain our G1/V2 rating from 
the Regulator of Social Housing, demonstrating our 
robust governance and solid finances. This has been 
acknowledged in both of our credit ratings: both S&P 
and Fitch have given us A+ (stable outlook) ratings.

We’re also implementing the recommendations of an 
externally-facilitated board and governance review 
carried out this year, to further enhance our board and 
committee structures, and governance arrangements.

Putting sustainability at the heart of  
our business
As an organisation with a strong social purpose, 
sustainability is truly at the heart of our business. 
Fundamentally, we invest to enhance social capital, 
so our customers can live and work in thriving 
communities. But delivering homes and services has 
an impact on natural capital through land-use, adverse 
impacts on biodiversity and emissions.

We must enhance all forms of capital – financial, 
social/human and natural. We have a long way to go, 
but we’re making significant changes to create better 
outcomes for our customers, our people and our planet.

We’ll continue to publish separate overviews of our work 
to improve energy efficiency and reduce emissions, and 
the value that our affordable tenancies deliver to society.

We’ll be transparent about the frameworks we use, so 
that our progress, over time and in comparison to others 
(in both the sector and more widely), can be judged 
reliably. However, this is an evolving area and standards 
will change. We’ll always seek to adopt the most 
appropriate standards available and, where appropriate, 
recast historic figures to provide reliable trend analysis.

Outlook
There’ll undoubtedly be significant financial pressures 
in the coming years, both for Hyde and our customers. 
We’re committed to investing more in our homes, 
supporting our customers through tough times, both 
directly and through the Hyde Foundation and the Hyde 
Charitable Trust, and to building more homes.

In the current year, we very carefully reviewed the 
expected impact of proposed rent increases, on the 
basis of the Consumer Price Index as at September 
2021 plus 1%, before implementing them. 

We’ve built our financial plan for 2023/24 on the basis 
of rent increases which are substantially lower than 
the rate of inflation currently expected in September 
2022, as we believe this is the right thing to do in these 
extremely challenging circumstances. This will be 
formally reviewed before setting the rents for the next 
financial year, as part of the annual rent setting process 
in early 2023.

This may result in short-term reductions in our operating 
margin, but this is the best approach, because it means 
we can continue to deliver on our core objectives and 
social purpose. We’ll continue to deliver significant 
operating efficiencies, alongside service improvements, 
ensuring our long-term financial strength is retained, as 
we become truly customer-driven.

We know a high-quality, affordable home in a thriving 
community enables people to make the best of their 
lives, but we also recognise that rising food and  
energy costs, double digit inflation and increasing 
interest rates mean some our of customers face  
being unable to afford the basics of food, fuel and rent 
on a weekly basis.

Our message to customers is to get in touch as soon 
as they think they’re getting into financial difficulty. We 
believe that people shouldn’t be made to feel ashamed 
about their financial situation, and shouldn’t feel 
embarrassed about reaching out for help.

While we properly emphasise that paying rent is a 
priority, and that persistent failure to do so has serious 
consequences, we also want customers to know we’ll 
listen with empathy and help them stay in their home 
if they’re struggling. We can help customers access a 
range of support, whether it’s arranging an affordable 
repayment plan, resolving benefit issues, money and 
debt advice, access health and social care services, or 
helping them into jobs and training.

We appreciate we need to do more to ensure that 
those who need the most help feel able to reach out 
to us at the earliest opportunity. We’re working hard 
to proactively engage with customers, and to regularly 
communicate in ways that build trust.

It’s also important that we provide easy access to 
information and support. So, while recognising that 
some people won’t have access to the internet (or  
don’t have the skills to do so), this year we’ve 
continued to develop digital tools to allow customers 
to manage their rent account themselves, as well as 
online resources.

Investing in our homes and building more
It’s right our customers should feel we get the balance 
right between investing in our homes and building much 
needed new ones. While the perception may be that 
this has not always been the case, we’re absolutely 
committed to ensuring all our homes and communities 
are ones of which, we, and our customers can be proud.

Alongside the £80m we’ve already invested, we plan 
to invest a further £100m in improving building safety 
over the next ten years. We’re also planning a major 
programme of work to improve energy efficiency, in 
addition to our five-year programme of cyclical repairs 
and improvements.

Unfortunately, we don’t always meet the high standards 
we set ourselves. We’re working hard to ensure we can 
continue to improve the quality of homes we provide. 
This can mean developing long term plans to regenerate 
whole communities but in some cases, we simply need 
to get the basics right on a consistent basis. We’re 
committed to delivering both.

We’ll continue to build more homes too. While COVID-19 
impacted our development programme over the past 
couple of years, we still have the ambition to manage 
between 75,000 and 100,000 homes by 2050. We’re 
expanding our development programme and aim to be 
building at least 2,000 homes a year by 2027/28.

Funding new homes, alongside our ambitious 
programme to improve our existing homes, will require 
a mix of funding options and we’ll continue to explore 
these. Partnerships, such as the one we formed with 
M&G in 2021, will provide hundreds of millions of pounds 
for new sustainable homes, with customers receiving 
the same level of service, whoever their landlord.

Introduction from the Chair  
and Chief Executive Officer 

There’s no doubt that our vision of “a great home for everyone” and our 
mission “to provide more people with a roof over their head, so that 
they can make a home” have become even more important over the 
last few years, with the continuing impact of the coronavirus pandemic 
now being exacerbated by the escalating cost-of-living crisis.

Andy Hulme 
Hyde Group Chief Executive Officer

Mike Kirk 
Hyde Group Board Chair
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Our core principles

We’re a leading provider of affordable housing in London, the south east of England and neighbouring 
areas. We’re primarily a group of ‘not-for-profit’ organisations, headed by Hyde Housing Association, 
which was established in 1967. We provide about 48,000 homes for more than 105,000 people who 

might not otherwise be able to afford one, as well as providing them with easy-to-use landlord services.

We’re committed to our social purpose, to becoming a truly customer-driven organisation, providing 
great services and ensuring our homes are safe, decent and energy-efficient. We’re guided by a set  

of core principles:

We’ll: 
• Be truly customer-driven, ensuring  

fairness, and choice; and create greater 
customer mobility

• Deliver great housing management, asset 
management and specialist services

• Provide a mix of tenures to support 
successful mixed communities and 
placemaking

• Provide safe, decent and energy-efficient 
homes that are affordable 

• Become a ‘catalyst’ for delivering a net 
increase in homes

• Take a long-term view of our homes, 
communities, and business – making sure 
we’re here for good, and continue to deliver 
social value over the next 30 years

• Maintain our financial strength and stability.

We’ll achieve this by:
• Listening to customers so we understand 

their needs
• Investing in homes to improve their quality, 

ensuring they’re safe and energy-efficient
• Building a diverse, engaged, skilled and 

empowered workforce
• Working with partners to build homes and 

deliver services, including building and 
managing homes for others

• Using grants, debt finance, capital 
investment and private sales income to 
build more homes

• Growing our knowledge of our portfolio to 
invest wisely and expand into new areas

• Maintaining our focus on operating 
efficiencies and prudent investment.

Our vision

A great home for everyone

Our mission

To provide more people  
with a roof over their head so 

that they can make a home

About usAbout us
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2050

2030

Our progress in 2021/22

Our 2050 Strategic Plan, A great home for everyone, sets out our plan for the next 30 years. 
Our social purpose remains unchanged - we will carry on providing homes let or sold at prices 
people can afford; strive to ensure our homes are safe and decent, while working towards the 
2050 climate goals; work hard to improve our services to customers; and continue to support 
our communites.
We’re committed to providing social rented homes, but demand often means a lack of choice and little opportunity 
for people to move as their needs change. We’ll make it easier for customers to move, ensuring they have the 
right home for every stage in their lives. We’ll invest in improving the quality of our homes, with a sector-leading 
approach to ensuring they’re safe and energy-efficient.

We’ll also balance the needs of existing and future customers, and we’re committed to building as many homes 
as possible. We’ll be a catalyst for development, working with others to build significant numbers of homes in 
successful, mixed communities.

Some of our goals can be delivered comfortably within five years, others will take 10 or even 20 years to deliver 
fully. Our strategic plan details our objectives for 2025, 2030 and 2050 and can be downloaded from our website.

2050

2030

2050

2030

2050

2030

About usAbout us
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We will: 
• Champion a customer-driven approach, guided by the 

principles of ‘listen to me, empower me and improve 
my service’ in our Customer strategy

• Improve our systems and processes to deliver modern 
service choices to fit with customers’ lives

• Ensure we have the resources, tools, skills and 
flexibility to deliver the ambitions we share with  
our customers

• Define, promote and provide core housing management 
and asset management services, in line with our 
Housing Management strategy

• Implement changes to support the  
‘lifecycle homes’ principle.

In 2021/22 we:
• Worked with 3,744 of our customers, through our 

Customer Involvement group, customer panels, 
resident inspection teams, to improve services. We 
also held our first customer conference

• Allowed more people to manage their account using 
our MyAccount digital service. At the year end, 10,000 
customers had registered, with an average of 1,700 
active users per month

• Shared our award-winning Universal Credit tool with 71 
housing associations and councils, to help more people 
with their claims

• Provided financial advice and support to 1,458 
customers, making 1,979 interventions preventing 
evictions and homelessness

• Began rolling out new processes and IT systems to 
improve customer services. 

Become a truly customer-driven housing provider

Delivery of the first phase of our strategic plan is guided by our 2020-25 objectives

About us

We will: 
• Implement our Asset Management strategy
• Create a five-year investment plan, using the most  

cost-effective approach to ensure our homes remain 
decent and safe

• Re-procure our stock investment contracts to  
reduce costs of component replacement, while 
retaining quality

• Review the Hyde Quality Standard, so it provides value 
for money, while giving customers choice

• Achieve greater assurance by improving asset data.

In 2021/22 we:
• Maintained a full repairs service throughout the 

COVID-19 pandemic
• Established an in-house disrepairs team to solve long-

standing issues faster and more efficiently, as part of 
our drive to achieve 100% compliance with the Decent 
Homes Standard

• Invested £19.8m in improving homes, with new 
kitchens, bathrooms, doors, windows, roofs and 
cyclical works

• Invested £16.2m in building safety, installing fire 
alarms, fixing fire stopping and replacing cladding

• Continued to improve the energy-efficiency of our 
homes: 73% are now in EPC Band C or higher.

Ensure all of our homes are safe, decent and energy-efficient

About us
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We will: 
• Implement our People and Culture strategy, which has 

customers at its heart
• Maintain focus on delivery and efficient ways  

of working
• Maintain alignment between our long-term financial 

and strategic plans
• Agree and implement new business processes and 

our IT road map
• Embed information governance across Hyde, so we 

can hold customer data securely and safely and it’s 
easy to access.

In 2021/22 we:
• Launched our hybrid working policy, supporting staff to 

deliver the best outcomes for customers 
• Improved our diversity and inclusivity, supporting staff, 

running training and changing how we recruit
• Refreshed our values: We’re customer-driven, inclusive, 

collaborative and innovative
• Invested £11m modernising our IT systems, including a 

new finance system, Workday
• Delivered £11m in efficiency savings, improving value 

for money for our customers 
• Continued to run an efficient business, with an 

operating margin of 29.5%.

Have an efficient, high-performing, and customer-driven culture

About us

We will: 
• Develop a mixed funding model for development, 

incorporating grant, debt funding, partnerships, joint 
ventures and investor partners

• Work in partnership to build more than we could alone; 
becoming a catalyst for new housing

• Ensure customers living in the homes we manage 
receive the same level of service, whoever  
their landlord

• Build homes to sector-leading standards of safety, 
energy efficiency and sustainability

• Implement a Portfolio Management strategy guiding 
the disposal, acquisition and building of homes

• Agree and deliver our Development strategy to guide 
the purchase of land, construction, sale and letting  
of homes.

In 2021/22 we:
• Completed 456 homes
• Began work on 859 homes in Peterborough, 

Cambridge, Kent, London and the south coast
• Secured funding through strategic partnerships with 

Homes England and the Greater London Authority to 
deliver 4,476 more affordable homes up to 2026

• Reviewed our standards to ensure new homes are 
sustainable, as we work towards all homes built from 
2025 being EPC Band B or above

• Agreed a new partnership with Chichester District 
Council to improve stock condition and investment

• Set-up a dedicated team to work with institutional 
investors to deliver more affordable homes through  
our partnerships.

Deliver more of the right homes, in the right places

About us
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About usDelivering our plan: Our progress in 2021/22

Delivering and demonstrating sustainable impact

Our goal is to be sustainable in everything we do: from building and managing affordable 
housing, to delivering better outcomes for customers, society and the environment. 
Demonstrating this helps us attract the significant private and public investment we needed to 
meet the Government’s building safety and zero-carbon agenda.

We measure and manage the wide-reaching impact 
of the homes we deliver and the services we provide, 
against core sustainability objectives. This enables us to:
• Listen to customers and demonstrate we’re acting in 

their best interests, to provide homes that are safe, 
decent and energy-efficient

• Improve customers’ life chances –giving them access 
to better education and employment opportunities

• Make a clear commitment to working with housing 
providers (and others) to deliver our shared purpose, 
and to overcome the funding challenges we face

• Show investors we’re an attractive, culturally-aligned 
partner; one that will only work with those serious 
about sustainable outcomes

• Demonstrate to Government that social housing can 
address the country’s housing crisis.

A truly sustainable approach will help us to tackle some of 
the major challenges we face as an organisation, sector 
and society: the retrofitting of thousands of homes to 
meet 2050 zero carbon objectives; the construction of 
new, zero carbon homes; increasing biodiversity; ending 
fuel poverty and supporting customers dealing with the 
cost-of-living and energy crises.

Our ESG framework

We published our first Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG) framework in early 2021, to give an 
accessible and meaningful way for us to measure and 
manage the wide-reaching impact of the homes we deliver 
and the services we provide, against core objectives. 

Our framework uses many of the metrics of the 
Sustainability Reporting Standard for Social Housing 
(SRS). However, while there’s value in creating common 
standards and metrics across the social housing sector, 
it’s equally important for us to continue to use a ‘bespoke’ 
framework that reflects our priorities and focus areas.

The framework integrates our different strategies 
critical to us providing the best homes and services 
to our customers, from our Investment, Development 
and Partnership strategy, to our Sustainability strategy, 
our Social Impact strategy and our Financial Plan. It 
also provides a commonly-understood language of the 
impact we, and the wider social housing sector, have on 
people’s lives, communities, the environment, society 
and the economy.

Our ESG framework also forms a basis for us to 
collaborate with others in the social housing sector (such 
as the Greener Futures Partnership - p57), helping us align 
our objectives and boundaries so that together, we can 
make the fundamental changes needed to become truly 
sustainable in every aspect of how we live and work. We 
recognise we’re at the start of our journey but we believe 
we’re moving in the right direction.

About us
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Becoming truly  
customer-driven
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We want to build trusting relationships with customers, treating them with empathy, so we can engage in  
more positive and meaningful ways. We assess the progress of our journey to become truly customer-driven 
using six ‘pillars’: culture, insight, strategy, service design, delivery and measurement.

Culture

Having the right culture is absolutely central to us 
becoming a truly customer-driven organisation. While 
we still have a long way to go, this year we refreshed 
our values (p42) to better-reflect our 2050 Strategic 
Plan. We also continued to embed the ‘I am Hyde’ tone 
of voice - one of the most important tools for improving 
our culture and the customer experience. We plan to 
make I am Hyde training compulsory for all staff, and 
ensure we put the approach into practice across Hyde, 
to improve customer engagement and satisfaction. 
We’ll also set customer-driven KPIs for teams, and 
objectives for every member of staff, to make our 
ambitions tangible, measurable and effective.

Insight
We use customer insight and feedback to improve 
services, analysing how and when customers use 
services, carrying out surveys and gathering direct 
feedback through our Customer Involvement activities, 
and through customers’ complaints. We also use the 
findings of the Value of a Social Tenancy report, and 
the work of the Hyde Foundation and other areas of 
the business, to build a complete picture of customer 
behaviours, their needs and expectations.

Strategy
Everything we do must be customer-driven, from the 
strategic decisions we take, to empowering staff to own, 
and resolve, customers’ issues. Our Customer strategy 
sets out our targets for 2020-24 under three themes: 
Listen to me, Empower me and Improve my services. 
This is supported by our Housing Management strategy 
and our Customer Involvement strategy.

Service design
We’re improving services with customers, based 
on insight and feedback, but there’s more to do. 
We’ll design frontline and back office processes 
with customers in mind – while meeting legal and 
regulatory requirements – and ensure services 
provided by our partners are customer-driven.

Delivery
Our Digital Programme (p31) will enable us to deliver 
services that improve the customer experience. 
Over the past year, we’ve introduced a new customer 
contact system and moved MyAccount, which allows 
customers to manage their account online, onto a  
new platform, Salesforce. Over the next couple of  
years, we’ll build a new customer relationship 
management system in Salesforce and improve  
how we collate and manage data, giving us a complete 
picture of our customers (and their homes), so we can 
provide better services.

Measurement
Measuring our impact on customers’ lives is crucial 
in developing better services. Over the past few 
years, we’ve developed tools to measure the impact 
of our homes and services, including the Value of a 
Social Tenancy report, the Hyde Foundation Impact 
report, our ESG framework, our neighbourhood plan 
dashboard and our social value dashboard. We’ll 
develop more socioeconomic metrics in the future, 
including those relating to customer wellbeing and 
rental income.

Our customers
We provide homes for a wide range of people, all of whom want a secure, decent and affordable home that enables 
them to make the best of their lives. Our customers include those moving into their first home, young families with 
children, and older people.

12% of customers  
are older than 65,  

while 46% are 
younger than 35

The average  
age of  

customers is 39

51% of households  
have an annual income 

of less than £20k;  
the annual income for 

29% of household  
is less than £10k

65% of 
customers are 

employed

About 20% of 
households have an 

annual income of 
£20k-£30k

Demographics

Tenancies

Finances

73% of customers 
rent their homes, 

most on social rent  
or below market  
rent tenancies

24% of customers 
 are homeowners, 

including  
shared owners

The average  
tenancy lasts  

about 11.9 years

Our journey to becoming truly customer-driven

Becoming truly customer-drivenBecoming truly customer-driven
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Customer voice

We’re committed to listening to customers and acting on what they tell us. We want to inspire customers to share 
their views, so we can deliver services and homes to meet their needs now, and in the future.

Customers with influence
We worked with Customer Voice, our customer group, 
on initiatives across the year, including discussions on 
service charges, repairs, building safety and support 
for customers accessing services, as well as our first 
Customers Connect conference.

Customer Voice met with the Group Board and the 
Group Housing Services Board, and helped select the 
new Chair and new Chief Executive Officer. We recruited 
new members to the group, to increase diversity and 
representation of our customers.

We worked with the Homeowners Panel, the Resident 
Inspection team and the Building Safety Panel. 
Recommendations and feedback from these groups  
are now influencing service improvement and 
development plans.

This year, we began drafting a Customer Charter as 
part of our commitment to being transparent and 
accountable to customers, and to improve services. 
Following feedback from Customer Voice, we’re 
proposing to put our initial focus for 2022/23 on 
practical plans which address our customers’ priorities. 
We’ll continue to evolve our Charter with our customers.

2,640 
members of the OAK  
our customer involvement website 

Connected communities
Customers have told us they want more opportunities 
to engage with us about services and issues 
concerning them.

Customers Connect conference
About 120 customers and 80 staff took part in our first 
Customers Connect conference, held online over two 
weeks in November 2021. Developed with Customer 
Voice (which ran two of the sessions), the aim was 
to give customers the chance to talk to us about their 
services and for us to promote customer involvement, 
with sessions on repairs, complaints, service charges 
and home ownership. There was also a ‘live lounge link 
up’ between two sheltered schemes - Lacy House in 
Chichester and St Mauritius House in Lewisham - giving 
residents the opportunity to discuss, and help shape, their 
new cleaning and grounds maintenance services.
We launched a number of initiatives based on our 
conversations at the conference, including:
• A quarterly service update bulletin
• Development of a Customer Charter and new service  

level agreements
• Improved online forms that guarantee a  

personal response
• A consumer panel for customers to discuss services 

and share experiences
• New forms to make it easier for customers to update 

their contact details
• Monitoring staff against our new values and more 

training to improve customers’ experience.

Neighbourhood plans
This year, we developed frameworks and dashboards 
for five neighbourhood plans. We’ll be consulting with 
customers on these in 2022/23 and the frameworks and 
dashboards have been designed to be adapted for all 
our neighbourhoods.

Supporting Tenants and Residents’ Associations
We continued to support Tenants and Residents’ 
Associations (TRAs) this year, with face-to-face and 
online meetings on customer scrutiny and involvement, 
and consultation about communal repairs, ASB, 
individual repairs, building safety and communal space 
use. Hyde Charitable Trust awarded £20,000 to TRAs to 
pay for IT support and training.

Improving services together
We want more customers to get involved in 
influencing, improving and designing services. 
Customers have told us we need to promote activities 
better, keep things simple and make performance 
information more widely available.

Shaping our approach to building safety
Our Building Safety Panel is made up of eight customer 
volunteers and staff from our Property team, and helps 
ensure our customer engagement and communication 
on building safety issues is transparent and honest. 
This year, the panel also discussed how we’ll manage 
building safety under the forthcoming Building 
Safety Bill. It holds formal quarterly meetings, ad hoc 
workshops and discussion sessions. There is also a 
forum on the OAK, our customer involvement website.

Inspecting sinking funds, decants and damp and mould
Each year, our Resident Inspection team chooses 
different services to assess. In 2021, the team of 
involved customers, reviewed the Section 20  
consultation process, the use of sinking funds (money 
customers save collectively to pay for future work to 
their building) and decants (when we have to move 
people out of their homes for major works). The team 
also looked at how we tackle damp and mould issues. 
It recommended clearer communication around the use 
of sinking funds and Section 20 consultations and that 
we give better support for vulnerable customers during 
decants. We’ll be implementing these recommendations 
and reporting back on our progress.

Customers help choose contractors
It’s important customers have a say in choosing our 
suppliers, to ensure services meet their needs, achieve 
high levels of customer satisfaction and deliver value 
for money. This year, customers were involved with 
consultations and in co-creating the scope of new 
cleaning and grounds maintenance contracts. We’ll 
appoint contractors in 2022/23.

Becoming truly customer-drivenBecoming truly customer-driven

3,744
customers helped

improve our services

customer involvement 
communications  

sent to customers

SIX

customers joined our  
Customers Connect conference

122
customer involvement  
activities organised

183 726
outcomes from 
customer involvement activities
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Becoming truly customer-driven

Customer services

We want the services we provide to customers to be seamless, integrated and easy, and continually improving. 
This year, we continued to focus on making service charges clearer, transparent and more accurate, so 
customers understood the reasons behind increased costs, and carried out a major review of our Section 20 
consultation process with our Resident Inspection team.

Service charges
Paying service charges can be difficult for some of our 
customers, particularly when they’re struggling to pay 
other bills.

This year we’ve been trying to be more open and 
transparent about service charges as well as making 
them more accurate. We’ve told customers about those 
services with the sharpest increases, explaining in 
detail why costs have gone up and what we’re doing to 
try to mitigate further increases. We’ve also put more 
information about the costs on our website, along with 
FAQs and links to help and support. This has been 
backed by a social media campaign explaining how we 
can help customers in financial difficulty, and referrals 
to our specialist advisers.

We know we’ve got some way to go to consistently get 
service charges right, first time. We’re working hard to 
improve accuracy of estimates and final charges and 
resolve issues as soon as possible.

Resolving customers’ complaints
While customers have told us that we’re easy to 
communicate with, too many customers experienced 
unacceptable delays in their complaints being resolved, 
which meant customer satisfaction with complaints 
handling fell this year to 47% (2020/21: 55%). We’ve 
improved reporting, worked to improve responses and 
recruited extra staff to rectify the situation.

We’re committed to delivering a prompt, fair and 
polite complaints service. The Housing Ombudsman 
revised the Complaint Handling Code in April 2022 
and we’re taking this opportunity to completely review 
our complaint handling approach. We want to ensure 
we deliver swifter responses and better outcomes for 
customers, and receive fewer complaints. We’ve also 
introduced a customer compliments scheme to record 
and learn from positive feedback.

overall satisfaction 
with customer services 

(2020/21: 84%)

estate inspections 
completed  

(2020/21: 20,207)

Anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) reports received 

(2020/21: 3,424)

82% 2,638 20,592

satisfaction  
with lettings

92% 
(2020/21: 90%)

satisfaction with 
ASB services 

68%
(2020/21: 70%)

homes let  
to customers

1,355
(2020/21: 1,432)
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Housing management
We want to tackle social housing stigma and keep 
customers safe in decent and energy-efficient homes, in 
communities where they want to live. We’ll proactively 
seek out customers’ views, listening to them and acting 
upon their feedback. We’ll involve customers in decisions 
about the future of their homes and communities, and 
the services they receive.

Reviewing how we consult with homeowners and tenants
We carried out a complete review of our formal Section 
20 consultation process this year, so it’s easier for 
homeowners and tenants who pay service charges 
to understand. This review was carried out with the 
Resident Inspection team (p27), to ensure we took 
customers’ views and needs into consideration.

In September 2021, we sent a guide to 32,000 
customers, explaining why we must consult with them 
on major works and framework contracts, how the 
process works, and why it’s important for them to give 
us their observations on the consultation. We published 
this information, including answers to FAQs, on our 
website, and ensured letters sent with Section 20 
notices were written using the ‘I am Hyde’ tone of voice, 
to make them easier to understand.

Working with sheltered housing residents to  
improve services
This year, we’ve built positive dialogue with customers 
living in our sheltered housing schemes. We’re using 
their feedback to take positive action. This included 
arranging meetings with contractors, working to provide 
mobility scooter stores and looking at installing chair 
lifts to provide access, should lifts be out of service. 
We’re looking to recruit more scheme officers and to 
improve how we handle and manage repairs.

We also introduced a new telephone monitoring 
contract to support independent living. Customers in 67 
of our sheltered and supported schemes have access 
to Taking Care’s responsive, 24-hour monitoring service. 
Taking Care monitors pull cords, personal alarms, 
fall detectors, fire panels and door entry systems for 
about 1,900 customers, dealing with emergencies and 
providing assurance when customers need to hear a 
friendly voice. Not only do customers receive a better 
service, but we’ve also streamlined our telephone care 
monitoring suppliers from five to one, making us more 
efficient and saving money.

Helping more people find a home
We completed 1,355 lets in 2021/22 (2020/21: 1,432) 
and continued to reduce the average empty home 
turnaround, to 19.8 days (2020/21: 22.9 days), against 
a target of 22 days. Turnaround times reduced partly 
because of our ‘Any day tenancies’ initiative, launched in 
September 2021. Tenancies now start on the day tenants 
receive their keys, instead of the following Monday.

We enabled 482 mutual exchanges and priority moves 
(2020/21: 259). This significant increase is the result 
of us giving customers more options to move as their 
needs change, in line with our Housing Management 
strategy. Customer satisfaction with lettings increased 
to 92% (2020/21: 90%) and reached 100% in two 
months this year, as we improved our services, based on 
customer feedback.

Customer mobility was further improved with the 
successful switch of our priority moves to Jigsaw, our 
online home search platform. This gives customers more 
control, responsibility and choice in where they want 
to live, and enables us to find people to live in our hard 
to let properties. New customers can now use a digital 
registration process, which enables us to handover homes 
faster, and a digital home demonstration, increasing 
customer satisfaction and freeing-up the team to sign-up 
more customers.

We also began implementing the recommendations 
from the Resident Inspection team’s audit of our decant 
process, particularly around customer communication 
and tailored services.

Dealing with anti-social behaviour in our communities
Ensuring communities are safe places for everyone to 
enjoy is a crucial element of our housing management 
services. Our Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) team works 
with customers and teams across Hyde to not only deal 
with ASB, but also to address its root causes. 

We received 2,638 ASB reports this year, down from 
the high of 3,424 in 2020/21, when cases rose by 44% 
during the coronavirus lockdowns. We’ve continued to 
deal with the residual effect of the 2020/21 increase, 
closing more cases this year then ever before. 
Customer satisfaction with how we dealt with ASB 
reduced slightly to 68% (2020/21: 70%).

We’ll always aim to stop customers’ anti-social 
behaviour, while allowing them to stay in their homes, 
but sometimes this isn’t possible and, as a last resort, 
we have to remove people from their homes for the 
greater good of their neighbours and the community.

Our Digital Programme: Continuing to transform our services and ways of working
Our Digital Programme will transform our customer 
services. Customers will be empowered to manage 
their homes effectively, as well as making us more 
efficient. Eventually, we expect about 75% of services 
will be delivered digitally, as more customers appreciate 
how easy it is to use online services. Of course, for 
customers who prefer to speak to us, and for more 
complex issues, we’ll always be happy to talk. While 
there have been challenges around data integration and 
quality, we’ve made great progress this year.

Salesforce
Salesforce is a customer relationship management 
system that will enable customers to manage their 
homes online. Salesforce will also help us to support 
customers more effectively, as it will give us ‘one view’ 
of their data. In June 2021, we upgraded our customer 
contact system to Salesforce Voice and, in January 
2022 we began moving MyAccount (our system 
enabling customers to manage their rent account via 
their PC or mobile device), onto Salesforce. At the year 
end, 10,000 customers had registered, with an average 
of 1,700 active users per month.

TotalMobile Connect
TotalMobile Connect (TMC) will bring all our property 
information together in one place, so we can manage 
repairs, maintenance and compliance better. Our Gas 
Servicing team began using TMC in October 2021, 
improving the way we manage the 11,500 homes with 
gas supplies for which we’re responsible (p54). In 
2022/23, we’ll be rolling out TMC to more teams across 
the business, including responsive repairs, empty 
homes, electrical testing and planned works.

Data and integration
We’ll hold one version of all our data in the cloud, 
enabling us to link data more efficiently between each 
of our different systems. We’ll continue to work on this 
aspect of the programme in 2022/23.

Becoming truly customer-drivenBecoming truly customer-driven
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Our social impact

The impact of the cost of living crisis, cuts to local services, and the extraordinary setbacks caused by the 
coronavirus pandemic, means we must support our communities now, more than ever.

We aim to enable positive change in local communities 
and develop places where people want to live. We provide 
specialist advice and advocacy services to customers 
at risk of homelessness and, through Hyde Charitable 
Trust (HCT) grants and social value contributions from 
our supply chain, add value to our Successful Places and 
Successful Tenancies programmes.

Many of the essential services that support our 
customers and communities can only be provided 

through our fundraising. In 2021/22, we secured 
commitments of £1.6m for HCT, Hyde Foundation and 
our community partners. 

HCT awarded 458 grants worth a total of £1.1m to 
individual customers and community organisations 
last year, along with emergency relief funding to help 
people and our partners tackle the physical, mental and 
financial impacts of the coronavirus pandemic.

secured towards 
rent payments

£3.3m 
of external 

funding secured

£1.6m 
in social value impact 

delivered by our suppliers

£1.65m
awarded through 458 grants 

by Hyde Charitable Trust

£1.1m
(2020/21: £1.5m, 632)(2020/21: £264k)(2020/21: £130k)

direct interventions 
preventing eviction and 

homelessness

1,979
(2020/21: 2,083)

(2020/21: £3.5m)

customers  
received  

financial advice

1,458
(2020/21: 1,552)

customers 
received jobs and 

skills training

305 
(2020/21: 86)

Case study: 
Triumph  
at the ARC

The ARC Centre is a community hub 
in Islington providing much-needed 
services, including events, classes, a 
garden and foodbank. The ARC team has 
ambitious refurbishment plans for the 
centre, improving the various spaces so 
more services can be offered to the local 
community. Improvements are being tackled 
in stages, but without outside help, in the 
form of cash, materials and labour, it would 
be almost impossible to complete this work 
– or it would take a long time.

A key part of the plan was to turn the 
centre’s meeting room into a multi-use 
space. This meant installing flooring 
suitable for exercise classes and building 
purpose-built storage for the foodbank.

Two of our contractors stepped in to help: 
Equans fitted refurbished wood flooring 
reclaimed from one of its projects, originally 
destined for landfill, and Claritas supplied 
materials for the floor-to-ceiling cupboards, 
which were built by its subcontractor  
DGP Logistics.

The ARC Centre Manager, Damien Brown, 
said: “The flooring and cupboards are 
already making a huge difference. Having 
everything safely stashed away and out 
of sight means the kitchen is clear, so 
volunteers aren’t having to traipse through 
the venue with food. It also means we 
have more space to hire out, generating 
essential income.”

Supporting customers to stay in their homes
We want customers to know we’ll listen and help them 
stay in their home, if they’re struggling financially. 
However, we need them to understand rent is one of 
their priority bills, and that we can help them access a 
range of support, should they need it.

It’s important we understand why people fall into arrears 
and how best to support those in financial difficulty. 
This helps us develop better services, whether it’s 
money and debt advice, support to access health and 
social care services, resolving benefit issues, or helping 
customers into jobs and training.

We supported a new report, published in early 2022 
by cross-party thinktank Demos, exploring the 
experiences of social housing tenants in arrears. The 
Bottom Line findings will help shape how we collect 
rent. We’ll be looking at more ways to connect and 
build trust with customers as a result. We’ll also 
strengthen our relationships with organisations such 
as credit unions and continue to invest in innovative 
approaches to alleviate hardship. We’ll share our 
findings with others, so there’s a real and lasting 
impact on the sector.

Becoming truly customer-drivenBecoming truly customer-driven
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Helping to reduce youth violence in London
We’ve been working to reduce youth violence in our 
communities for many years. The causes of violent 
crime are extremely complex and involve deep-seated 
problems, such as poverty, inequality, social alienation 
and a lack of opportunities. Last year, we joined a new 
partnership with London’s Violence Reduction Unit 
(VRU) and eight other housing associations to work with 
communities to identify and tackle violence in Brent, 
Hackney, Islington, Lambeth, Southwark, Tower Hamlets 
and Waltham Forest.

The partnership gives vital support to young people, 
their families and communities, providing mentoring, 
conflict management and counselling. It also offers 
training for parents and communities to identify risk 
factors, and provides safe spaces for young people.

Dramatic increase in social value delivered by 
our supply chain partners
During 2021/22, £1.65m in social value was delivered by 
our suppliers, including project sponsorship, customer 
recruitment, training and workshops and skill sharing.

Social value delivered this year is nearly 12 times that 
delivered in 2020/21 (£130k). While social value activities 
in the previous year were affected by COVID-19, the main 
reason for this year’s increase is a successful drive to 
encourage suppliers to commit to delivering social value 
and offering a wider choice of social value activities. 

We launched our new Social Value strategy in March 
2022, setting out our renewed ambition to maximise 
economic, social and sustainability outcomes for 
customers and communities, by working with suppliers 
to build more social value into procurement. There are 
three key objectives: to generate better outcomes for 
customers and communities; to get more value for 
money from our contracts; and to position ourselves as 
a social value champion.

We’ll involve customers, communities and stakeholders 
in deciding what activities and opportunities our 
suppliers should offer, to ensure they have impact. 
We’re serious about creating the best outcomes for our 
customers, communities and society, and we’ll ensure 
our suppliers care too.

Kickstarting careers
We’re part of a consortium of 80 organisations, 
including 58 in the housing sector, to give young 
people training, support and expert advice through the 
Government’s Kickstart scheme. Kickstart helps young 
people improve their employability through a six-month 
job placement programme. By the end of March 2022, 
we had 38 Kickstarters at Hyde (p44).

A new tool to support Universal  
Credit claims
We know applying for Universal Credit (UC) can be 
complex and overwhelming. That’s why we developed 
the UC Helper, a free online tool to help people when 
applying for UC for the first time.

Launched in November 2021, the mobile-friendly UC 
Helper takes users through every step of an application, 
from creating an online UC account, to making a claim, 
and what to expect when attending an interview. It was 
developed with customers and our frontline staff and 
funded with £35,000 from Catalyst and the National 
Lottery Community Fund COVID-19 Digital Response 
programme. Since the launch, more than 3,000 
customers have accessed the tool.

We’ve also made the UC Helper available to other 
organisations and at the year end, 71 organisations 
were using it. The tool was named ‘Most innovative new 
product’ at the 2022 Housing Digital Innovation Awards. 

Funding community projects  
across Rochester
The Rochester Riverside Community Board was set up 
to ensure the benefits of Rochester Riverside, Hyde and 
Countryside’s £419m regeneration scheme in Medway 
(p61), are felt across the area, with up to £30,000 
available each year for community-led projects.

In 2021, £24,000 was awarded across five projects, 
including Medway Fashion Week, the Hygiene Bank 
Medway (providing household cleaning products) and 
the Non-Visible Disability (NVD) Initiative (which raises 
awareness, improves wellbeing and encourages inclusion 
of people with NVDs). Two projects previously supported 
by the Board also received funding: St Margaret’s at Troy 
Town School, to pay for furniture for its outside teaching 
area; and Wave, an arts club for young people that works 
to prevent suicide and self-harm.

Continuing to support customers experiencing domestic abuse 
Domestic abuse affects around 12% of the UK population 
and almost one in three women aged 16-59 will 
experience domestic abuse in their lifetime. We estimate 
domestic abuse could be happening in about 5,800 of our 
homes at any one time and we’re committed to helping 
anyone experiencing abuse. This year, we:
• Updated our customer domestic abuse policy and 

procedure, setting out our process for helping and 
supporting anyone experiencing, or being threatened 
with domestic abuse

• Reaffirmed our commitment to supporting staff 
experiencing domestic abuse, through the Chartered 
Institute of Housing’s ‘Make a stand’ pledge

• Updated our website with more information on the 
support available

• Trained staff in domestic abuse awareness
• Set up our Domestic Abuse Fund, giving financial 

support to people experiencing abuse
• Installed additional security measures to  

customers’ homes
• Asked those people we’ve supported to give their 

feedback on our services.

DAHA accreditation
We’ve applied for Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance 
(DAHA) accreditation, which we hope to achieve in 
2022. DAHA accreditation is the UK benchmark for how 
housing providers respond to domestic abuse. It covers 
eight priority areas, ensuring organisations deliver safe 
and effective interventions.

My Sisters’ House opens in Chichester
My Sisters’ House is a women’s centre offering vital 
support to women experiencing any difficulty or crisis, 
including domestic abuse. The centre received a £20k 
grant from Hyde Charitable Trust’s Communities Fund 
last year. We also worked with Chichester District 
Council to find a location for the drop-in centre, which 
offers emergency food vouchers and toiletries, as well 
as one-on-one support and advice.

Domestic Abuse Fund
We’ve given £25,000 to customers to help deal with the 
effects of abuse since we launched our Domestic Abuse 
Fund in 2020. The fund pays up to £1,000 per person, and 
up to £2,000 if children are involved. Money can be used 
to pay for things like court fees, travel, replacing essential 
items, clothes, home security and clearing debts.

Case study: 
New life for 
customer 
fleeing 
domestic 
abuse

Anna* contacted our Successful 
Tenancies team after leaving 
her home due to domestic 
abuse. Her ex-partner had 
attacked her, smashed up her 
home and was stalking her. At 
one point she was held prisoner 
in her own property, where she 
was beaten and threatened, 
leaving her in constant fear.

Luckily, Anna was able to 
escape, ending up in a women’s 
refuge. We applied for an 
‘urgent move’ for her, but this 
was turned down because 
she was in rent arrears. We 
successfully applied for a 
discretionary housing payment 
to clear Anna’s arrears and got 
her on the urgent moves list. 
This meant we were able to 
offer Anna a new home, so she 
could start afresh.

Case study: 
Making a 
home safe 
and secure 
after 
domestic 
abuse

Emma* is a Hyde customer 
who got in touch to ask if 
we could remove her partner 
from her household details. 
After one of our tenancy 
officers spoke with her to find 
out more, it transpired that 
Emma’s partner had attacked 
her. Her partner was arrested 
and bailed, and ordered not to 
return to the home.

Emma had never reported 
domestic abuse before. A 
‘Non-molestation order’ was 
obtained, with help from 
the police, and we arranged 
for her home’s locks to be 
changed. We also secured all 
the windows and doors and 
installed security lights, so 
Emma felt as safe as possible. 
We bought Emma a new mobile 
phone and all her partner’s 
belongings were removed from 
the property.

*Not the customer’s real name
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Becoming truly customer-driven

The value we create as a housing association goes beyond delivering financial surpluses and building more 
homes: social housing has an inherent value to society and the economy.
We know social housing creates safe and sustainable 
communities. It reduces the burden on emergency 
services, healthcare and local authorities.

We use an evidenced approach to measure our impact 
on customers, communities and society, comparing 
how life looks like with social housing to life without 
social housing, where tenants are assumed to be 
living in temporary accommodation, private rental 
accommodation or with family and friends.

The difference in the associated costs and benefits 
between these two scenarios gives us an estimate of 
the value of a social tenancy (our 33,981 social rented 
and shared ownership homes).

It shows how, by giving people a secure roof over 
their heads we can not only enrich their lives but also 
contribute millions of pounds to the economy, by giving 
people better life chances and allowing them to realise 
their potential.

The total social value of our tenancies in 2021/22 was 
at least £601m, or £17,684 per tenancy. This is made 
up of the core social value of our tenancies (£440m, 
or £12,960 per tenancy) and the economic impact of 
building and maintaining homes (£161m, or £4,724  
per tenancy).

Social value numbers have not been audited or assured. 
The value of a social tenancy is calculated with the 
support of our advisor, Sonnet Advisory & Impact 
CIC. We compare life with ‘with social housing’ to life 
‘without social housing’. We use data from a variety of 
sources, including our own tenancy data, to then work 
out a value for the impact of each of our tenancies. 
This value is not derived directly from the financial 
statements. The reporting criteria provides a summary 
of how Sonnet modelled and calculated the values.

* We believe the value of a social tenancy is ‘at least’ this amount because figures have been discounted by 5%, reflecting that benefits may arise without a social tenancy,  
   and by a further 40%, because other factors, individuals and agencies contribute to delivering these benefits.

The value of our social tenancies

Social value per  
Hyde tenancy

£12,960 
per annum

All Hyde social homes

£440m  
per annum

Economic impact  
of construction

£3,259 
per tenancy

All Hyde homes

£111m  
in total

Economic impact  
of maintenance

£1,465 
per tenancy

All Hyde homes

£50m  
in total

Total social value  
per Hyde tenancy

£17,684 
(at least*)

All Hyde homes

£601m  
in total
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The value of a social tenancy by key stakeholder
The annual direct benefit of all Hyde’s social tenancies (the core social value) of £440m, is shared between a 
number of sectors: local authorities; police and justice; education; the National Health Service; the Department for 
Work and Pensions; the economy; the fire service and banks and creditors.

Economic gain in employment. Tenants include 53,459 adults of working age. For every extra tenant in 
employment, value is generated in wages, earnings for the employer, taxes and in local economic activity, as they 
spend their wages. Employed people living in social housing are less likely to take time off work and are more 
productive when they are at work.

Reducing unemployment rates brings significant economic value, representing £185m or £5,445 per tenancy.

Health-related savings. Those living in social housing use fewer NHS services, less often, saving £98m a year.

Local authority savings. People moving from temporary accommodation to permanent homes saves local 
authorities significant sums of money (£46m this year, in the case of Hyde customers). Money is also saved by 
enabling older people to remain in their own homes for longer and by having fewer childcare interventions.

Economy £198m  • 8,489 more adults in work through the stability of social housing, 
generating £185m

 • Social tenancies reduce presenteeism valued at £0.5m
 • Social tenancies halve absenteeism to ten days a year, valued at £12m.

NHS £98m Customers living in social housing have improved physical and mental 
wellbeing, resulting in:
 • Fewer drug and alcohol issues
 • Fewer falls for the elderly
 • Reduced incidence of childhood asthma due to damp living conditions
 • Fewer GP and A&E attendances.

Police and Justice £61m Customers living in social housing are less likely to be involved in, or be 
victims of, crime. This:
 • Reduces the number of police callouts not resulting in an arrest, saving £6m
 • Results in 8,484 fewer incidents, saving £55m

Local Authority £53m Local authority savings are the result of:
 • Moving 6,976 people out of temporary accommodation, saving £46m
 • Helping the elderly stay independent longer, delaying a move into 

residential care, saving £6m
 • Children living in social housing being less likely to be on the Child 

Protection Register, saving £1m.

DWP £14m Customers living in social housing are more likely to be employed, reducing 
Universal Credit claims.

Education £13m Children living in social housing are more likely to attend school and have 
improved earning potential.

Fire Service £2m Secure, safe and high-quality social housing (along with housing association 
support) reduces the risk of domestic fires.

Banks and Creditors £1m Customers living in social housing are less likely to have problem debt.

Becoming truly customer-drivenBecoming truly customer-driven
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People  
and culture
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The essential role of our staff 
We aim to have an efficient, high-performing and customer-driven culture, and a physical and virtual workplace 
environment which empowers staff, enables agile working and is adapted to generational change in our workforce.
Our People and Culture strategy has five key objectives:
• To future-proof our business, by ensuring our 

structures are efficient and by embracing technology, 
so we have the right skills now and for the future

• To transform the way we work, using our office space 
more flexibly and redefining how and where our 
people work

• To ensure our leaders and managers have the skills 
and knowledge to lead an evolving business

• To build a diverse workforce, at all levels, to benefit our 
staff and help meet the diverse needs of customers

• To create an inclusive workplace, where we listen and 
value what our people say, where people feel they can 
bring their whole self to work and where our core people 
practices, such as recruitment, pay and recognition, are 
recognised as being fair and transparent.

In July 2021, in response to feedback from our staff 
about the benefits of remote working, we launched our 
new ways of working policy to pilot permanent changes 
to how we work. This gives staff more flexibility and 
choice about where they work, while maintaining our 
powerful sense of culture.

One indicator of our culture - our engagement score - 
remains high, despite the challenges we faced in this 
year. We celebrated and reconnected with each other 
post lockdown with 863 colleagues attending our staff 
conference in September 2021.

At the end of March our engagement score across 
all our teams was 78%, which compares well with a 
national average of around 72%. Our staff tell us they 
are proud to work for Hyde (80%) and 78% think Hyde is 
a good place to work – the same proportion that would 
still like to be working for us in a year’s time.

Refreshing our values
We revisited our values this year, to make sure they 
were still in line with our strategic plan. We kept two 
of our core values – ‘collaboration’ and ‘innovation’ 
– and created two new ones: ‘customer-driven’ and 
‘inclusive’. We launched the new values at our staff 
conference and, in our March 2022 survey, 79% of staff 
told us they felt the values were right for Hyde today.

Wellbeing
Over the year, we continued to communicate and 
promote our wellbeing offer, which includes our 
employee assistance programme, free access to the 
Headspace app and an online GP.

In our wellbeing survey in June 2021, 82% of our staff 
said we’d done a good job promoting our wellbeing and 
support offer during lockdown. However, only 62% said 
they could talk openly about mental health at work. 
In response, we introduced mental health first aiders. 
Twenty-two volunteers were trained to provide a first 
point of contact for employees who need support.

People and culture People and cultureSocial sustainability: The essential role of our staff
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Case study: 
Olivia’s 
story

Staff network groups
Our four staff networks, each sponsored by one of our 
Leadership Team, went from strength-to-strength this year.

• Pryde, our LGBTQA+ network with more than 100 
members, organised several activities, including 
celebrating Pride and ‘Lunch and learn’ events, 
during LGBTQ History month

• Embrace, our network for Black, Asian and other 
minority ethnic employees, ran a successful Black 
History month campaign and celebrated a range of 
other cultural and religious festivals

• Aspire, our women’s network, ran an event 
focusing on menopause, ahead of the launch 
of our menopause policy, and an International 
Women’s Day event focusing on leadership and 
mental health

• Don’t dis my ability, our group for disabled 
colleagues and their allies, focused on 
neurodiversity, raising awareness and helping us 
focus on practical steps to support colleagues. 
This group has attracted national attention and 
showcased the work we’re doing at two events 
organised by the Chartered Institute of Housing.

Additionally, all four groups came together under a 
‘together we are stronger’ theme, to promote their work 
at the staff conference in September.

Ensuring diversity at all levels of our 
organisation
Overall, our workforce is diverse, but we continue to 
focus on how we can rebalance the profile of our senior 
teams, with more women and ethnically-diverse leaders, 
to better-represent our workforce as a whole.

Ethnic minority staff make up 30% of our workforce 
(2020/21: 29%), and 11.7% of our senior leadership 
team (2020/21: 8.6%). Additionally, 44.2% of our senior 
leaders are women (2020/21: 41.4%).

We’re focusing on some key actions to make Hyde a 
more diverse and inclusive place to work. We’re doing 
more to attract diverse, talented candidates by ensuring 
we interview diverse candidates (in terms of gender 
and ethnicity) and have diverse interview panels. We’re 
also actively supporting the career aspirations of our 
talented women, ethnic minority and younger staff.

Our gender and ethnicity pay gaps
We continue to have gender and ethnicity pay gaps, due 
to women and ethnic minorities being under-represented 
at more senior levels, and not because people are paid 
differently for the same or equivalent work.

Our mean gender pay gap increased from 14.1% in 
2020/21 to 15% in 2021/22. In the same period, our 
median gender pay gap fell by 0.8% from 5.5% to 4.7%.

Our mean ethnicity pay gap is 17.7% (2020/21: 16.6%) 
and our median ethnicity pay gap is 3.5% (6.5%).

We’re committed to working to increase the number 
of women and minority ethnic committee members, 
leaders and managers than today, and we’ll reduce our 
pay gaps year-on-year.

People and culture

Diversity and inclusion
Diversity and inclusion are central to our culture. We respect and value differences between people, whether they’re 
our staff, customers or other stakeholders. We all bring different experiences and perspectives and we encourage 
these to be voiced and shared. We’re making good progress in ensuring diversity and inclusion are embedded in our 
culture but we appreciate there’s more to do. This will make us a stronger team, enabling better decision-making and 
creating better services for our customers.

An inclusive culture
We want a culture where everyone feels they belong, 
and where we respect difference and welcome diverse 
perspectives. We prioritise employee wellbeing and 
engagement, creating an environment where people can 
be open about their mental health.

This means clearly defining leadership behaviour, 
accountability and expectations and supporting our 
leaders to embrace and put these into practice.

This year, led by our Diversity and Inclusion group, we’ve 
made some changes to make our recruitment practices 
more inclusive. All interview panels must now be 
ethnically diverse and, where possible, gender diverse. We 
trained 39 ethnically diverse volunteers to sit on panels, 
and we’ve started training all hiring managers to be aware 
of unconscious bias in recruitment. We also completed a 
‘Let’s talk about inclusion’ training programme.

Junior Board helps support our future culture
We appointed a second Junior Board this year, giving 
some of our younger staff (those under 35) the opportunity 
to develop initiatives to help raise morale and support 
our future culture strategy. This year’s group researched 
and presented ideas on how to engage our employees 
with digital transformation and how to introduce more 
sustainable practices into everyday working life.

Giving young people’s careers a kickstart
In September we recruited ten new apprentices and we 
also offered placements to 38 young people through 
the Government’s Kickstart scheme. Twelve of our 
Kickstarters have secured employment, nine of them with 
Hyde. We marked national apprenticeship week with a 
celebration of our current and former apprentices.

People and culture

Olivia Riordan joined the 
Kickstarter scheme in June 2021. 
She said: “Joining the Kickstart 
scheme was an amazing 
opportunity to build my CV and to 
get experience in a job that I knew 
I could progress in and open 
more doors for me, and that’s 
exactly what Hyde has done.

“I chose Hyde for my placement 
because I wanted to be part of 
a customer-driven organisation 
that helps and supports people 
by giving them an affordable 
home. I worked as a Grants and 
Monitoring Assistant before 
becoming a Customer Service 
Apprentice.

“After working in the Tenancy 
Advisory team for six months, 
I joined the Kent Property 
Management team, which I’m 
really enjoying. I’ve been given my 
own patch to manage; I carry out 
estate inspections and raise any 
communal repairs.

“I like working at Hyde - everyone 
has been friendly and supportive 
and there are some amazing 
opportunities. My colleagues 
are passionate about what 
they do, which makes me want 
to do better. I hope to keep 
working for Hyde after I finish my 
apprenticeship and I’d love to be 
a Property Manager one day.”
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Our mission is to provide more people with a roof over their head, so that they can make a home. To do this, 
we need to provide homes that span customers’ lives, via a range of tenures. We had 48,062 (2020/21: 48,721) 
properties in ownership and management on 31 March 2022.

PeterboroughPeterborough

LondonLondon

NorthamptonNorthampton

SouthamptonSouthampton

PortsmouthPortsmouth BrightonBrightonChichesterChichester

PetersfieldPetersfield

DoverDover

CanterburyCanterbury

RochesterRochester

CrawleyCrawley General needs and affordable rent 
31,618 (31,612)
Primarily for individuals and families unable to rent 
or buy at a market value

Shared ownership 
3,975 (4,042)
Customers purchase a share in the equity of their 
home and pay rent to us on the remainder

Supported housing and older people schemes 
2,770 (2,821)
Primarily for those with additional needs 
 

Other social housing 
1,064 (1,029)
Including intermediate rent, leasehold and 
management schemes providing temporary 
accommodation and rent to buy tenures

Leaseholder and freeholder management 
8,567 (9,144)
Properties and homes owned by individuals on our 
developments and to whom we provide services

Non-social rental units 
68 (73)
Available for individuals who can afford to rent at 
market levels

Properties by tenure type 2021/22 (2020/21 shown in brackets)

Total properties 
48,062 (48,721)

Our homes

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homesSafe, decent and energy-efficient homes
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Keeping customers safe in their homes

We believe people are entitled to feel, and to be, safe in their homes without fear of financial ruin. We 
wholeheartedly support the Government’s principle that ‘the polluter should pay’ and that leaseholders shouldn’t 
foot the bill for the building safety crisis not of their making.
We’ve spent £80.0m removing and replacing dangerous cladding in our tallest buildings, and rectifying internal 
safety issues we’ve found, since the Grenfell Tragedy in 2017. 

At every step of the way, we’ve worked to fulfil our legal obligations as a building owner, head lessee and landlord, 
following the guidance of fire safety experts, the National Fire Chiefs’ Council and the Fire Service, to ensure people 
are safe in their homes, while we deal with any issues we’ve found.

£16.2m 
spent on building safety  

work in 2021/22
(2020/21: £12.7m)

£80.0m 
total spent on building  

safety work since 2017/18
(2020/21: £63.8m)

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homes

The scale of the building safety challenge 
We own and manage 81 tall buildings (more than 
seven storeys or 18m high) and 2,000 multi-occupancy 
buildings of four storeys and above, but less than 18m 
high. We have a further 3,000 multi-occupancy buildings 
of three storeys or below.

We estimate we’ll need to spend a further £100m over 
the next ten years to finish work on our buildings of 18m 
and taller, and to carry out external wall inspections on 
all our multi-occupancy buildings (regardless of height), 
following the introduction of the Fire Safety Act in 2021.

Funding building safety
The Government has made billions of pounds of funding 
available, in the form of the Building Safety Fund and 
the Waking Watch Relief Fund. Additionally, it intends to 
source an extra £4bn of funding from developers for the 
removal of dangerous cladding on buildings between 11m 
and 18m; and to pursue those responsible for defects.

However, we understand funding will only cover 
cladding replacement and won’t cover other necessary 
fire safety remediation work in buildings where cladding 
doesn’t need to be replaced. Our experience is that 
cladding replacement typically only accounts for about 
45% of the total cost of fire safety remediation projects.

While the Government says the housing sector should 
prioritise ‘safety before supply’, we must also continue 
to build the homes the country desperately needs and 
meet net zero targets. This means more funding is 
needed, to stop us from having to pass on any costs to 
homeowners. As a charity and not-for-profit organisation, 
we must follow the rules about how we use charitable 
funds, which limit our discretion to pay for building safety 
works on behalf of leaseholders and shared owners.

We hope to obtain grant funding where possible and to 
recover money from our developers mutually or via legal 
action, where we can, to offset these costs. To date, 
we’ve recovered £18.3m through the courts and from 
the Government’s Building Safety Fund.

Allowing shared owners to sublet their homes
We updated our subletting policy this year, following 
the Government’s announcement in January 2022 
that shared owners could sublet their homes where 
they were unable to sell or remortgage because of 
EWS1 issues, or where they were expecting high 
building safety costs. Shared owners aren’t normally 
allowed to sublet their homes, unless in exceptional 
circumstances, to stop people becoming shared owners 
for financial gain. Previously, building safety wasn’t 
deemed to be an exceptional circumstance.

A proportional, risk-based approach  
to building safety
We carried out 1,573 fire risk assessments (FRAs) this 
year, to ensure there are adequate layers of protection 
against fire. These included 1,569 Type 1 FRAs, which 
are visual inspections, as well as four Type 4 FRAs, 
which are detailed intrusive inspections that can 
include inspections of the external wall systems. FRAs 
set out the actions we must carry out (within a set 
time), to maintain a building’s safety. At year end, we 
had no overdue actions.

We’ll continue to rely on FRAs and external wall surveys, 
completed by suitably qualified fire experts, to evidence 
the safety of our buildings. We don’t support the use 
of EWS1 forms to assess building safety; we believe 
lenders should accept the documents landlords must 
provide to comply with fire regulations, good practice 
and legislation.

We’ll only obtain EWS1 forms once we’re happy we’ve 
met all our statutory duties, with the cost of surveys 
charged in accordance with our leasehold charge 
obligations. We publish all the EWS1 forms we have for 
our buildings on our website.

Building safety communications  
and engagement
The Building Safety Bill will require us to keep 
customers informed about building safety, to listen and 
respond to them, and be transparent and accountable. 
The Regulator of Social Housing already requires 
Registered Providers to engage with customers on 
all matters in this way, so we don’t expect to change 
our approach fundamentally, although the amount of 
information we’ll share will increase significantly.

Our approach focuses on engaging with customers living 
in buildings where issues have been identified, work 
is planned or where work is underway. Engagement is 
primarily via letters, emails, social media, virtual monthly 
meetings and the building safety area of our website, 
where we have created individual pages for key projects; 
these are updated regularly. We also provide general 
building safety information and FAQs for customers.

Our aim is to provide open, honest and timely customer 
communications on all aspects of building safety, that 
meet our legal and moral obligations. This includes 
asking customers what they expect from us and being 
clear about our expectations of them. To this end, 
we set up the Building Safety Panel (p27) to involve 
customers from the outset of our plans.

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homes

fire risk assessments 
carried out

1,573
(2020/21: 988)

overdue fire risk assessment 
actions at year-end

ZERO
(2020/21: zero)
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Progress on building safety  
remediation in 2021/22
We’ve continued to rectify building safety issues we’ve 
uncovered in our buildings this year, to keep customers 
safe. We spent £16.2m on building safety this year 
(2020/21: £12.6m).

We completed the removal and replacement of 
cladding, and addressed compartmentation issues, at 
Artesian House, Prospect House and Hicks House in 
Bermondsey, south east London. All three buildings 
passed an EWS1 assessment after work was finished.

Work started at Bolanachi Building, also in Bermondsey, 
where we’re replacing timber cladding in a courtyard 
and atrium walkways with a non-combustible 
aluminium system. Projects to remove and replace 
cladding and external wall insulation also started at 
Millard Road in Deptford, east London, at Gary Court in 
Croydon, and at four blocks at Propeller Crescent and 
Purley Way in Waddon. 

Preparing for the Building Safety Bill
The Building Safety Bill, which will bring in new laws 
on how buildings are managed from a fire and building 
safety perspective, is passing through Parliament in 
2022, with a two-year transition period. We carried 
out pilot programmes across our estates in 2021/22, 
to prepare for the new law. We examined how we’ll 
manage building safety under the new law, assessed 
our policies and procedures relating to building homes; 
and looked at how we’ll work with customers, so they 
understand their responsibilities, as well as our own.

Gosport Towers cladding project  
highly commended
The recladding of five residential towers in Gosport 
was highly commended in the community engagement 
category at the national ASCP Safety and Compliance 
Awards in September 2021. The award recognised our 
‘commitment to supporting the wider communities 
we serve – making a real difference or adding value’. 
Community engagement at Gosport was critical in 
supporting these works, as customers stayed in their 
homes during recladding. We engaged with customers 
and the wider community regularly, with concerns 
addressed promptly and disruption minimised.

Managing our homes 

Demand for repairs continued to grow this year, compared with pre-COVID levels. We know we have much to do to 
ensure repairs are completed quickly and fully, and make sure customers’ homes are safe, decent and comfortable.
Our Property team continued to deliver high levels of customer satisfaction as we emerged from the last lockdown 
in 2021. Customer satisfaction with responsive repairs was 81% (2020/21: 83%). Additionally, customer satisfaction 
with gas repairs was 86%, compared with 89% the year before.

Providing decent homes
We want all our homes to meet the Decent Homes 
Standard, but recognise this isn’t always the case. In line 
with other registered providers, we’ve changed how we 
report the decency of our homes this year, considering all 
reported disrepair cases and outstanding repairs. While 
some reported disrepairs turn out not to be disrepairs, 
they’re still included.

This year, 99.2% of our homes met the Decent Homes 
Standard, with 32 having outstanding repairs and 
200 having reported disrepairs at 31 March 2022. 
We’re completing the outstanding repairs and we’re 
investigating the disrepairs, so we can resolve any issues.

In April 2021, we set up our London Property 
Maintenance team to bring more disrepair work in-house. 
This helps us complete work faster, save time and 
money, improve customer satisfaction and reduce the 
risk of litigation.

Along with the industry-wide skills shortage, the number 
of disrepair claims has doubled since before COVID-19, 
with ‘no-win, no-fee’ solicitors encouraging customers to 
prevent access to their homes and to take legal action.

While we understand customers’ frustration when we 
don’t deliver a prompt and effective solution to their 
issue, not allowing access can prolong a disrepair.

Our approach is to tackle the root causes of disrepairs. 
For example, damp and mould may be caused by 
overcrowding and by customers turning off their heating 
because of fuel poverty. We give customers the support 
they need, so we can fix issues once and for all.

We recruited more tradespeople and management 
staff during the year and, with a full team in place, we 
anticipate making better progress in resolving disrepairs 
in 2022/23.

Decent Homes 
compliance

99.2% 
(2020/21: 100%)

satisfaction with
86%
gas repairs 

(2020/21: 89%)

7,344 
homes

(new kitchens, bathrooms, 
doors and windows and roofs)

Improvements to

(2020/21: 4,355)

cost per home

£2,037
Maintenance 
and major repair

(2020/21: £1,642)

48,062
homes managed

(2020/21: 48,721)

£19.8m  
invested in  

improving our homes
(2020/21: £12m)

satisfaction with
81%

responsive repairs 
(2020/21: 83%)

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homes
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Stock condition surveys
We carried out the latest phase of stock condition 
surveys in 2021/22, checking the age and condition 
of key elements in 6,000 of our regulated stock, to 
help us understand the overall condition our these 
homes and blocks. As well as checking homes meet 
the Decent Homes Standard, these surveys, which are 
carried out on a five-year rolling basis, help us plan our 
stock investment programmes. Surveys include energy 
efficiency assessments, which support our drive to 
improve the sustainability of our homes. 

Stock investment
Five new stock investment contracts went live at the 
beginning of 2021/22 and, over the course of the year, we 
invested £19.8m in improving 7,344 homes. This was a 
significant increase on the previous year, when we invested 
£12m on improving 4,355 homes, when planned work was 
impacted severely by COVID-19. Improvements included 
cyclical decorations, replacing bathrooms, kitchens, 
windows and doors, installing new roofs and carrying out 
electrical and ‘business as usual’ fire safety works.

Changing our approach to maintaining  
our homes
In June 2021, we introduced a new approach to how 
we maintain our homes, enabling us to plan and 
programme major external works and improvements up 
to five years ahead. Work plans are based upon stock 
condition surveys. We won’t replace components that 
are in good condition, however old they are; this will 
mean some things will last longer than expected – and 
of course, some won’t last as long as we thought.

Our planned programme is published on our website, 
so customers know when major external works and 
improvements, such as windows and doors, and roofs, 
are planned for their home. Decoration of communal 
areas will be planned over seven years but ad hoc work 
will be carried out, if there’s good reason to do so.

Bringing more property maintenance and 
repairs in-house

During the year, Property Maintenance, our in-house 
team serving customers in the south of England, will 
also start to provide services to our 11,000 homes in the 
London boroughs of Greenwich, Lambeth, Southwark, 
Lewisham, Camden, Islington, Harrow and Brent. 
Services currently provided by our contractor Mears 
will be transferred to Property Maintenance over the 
first half of 2022/23, to ensure a smooth transition and 
continuity of service. 

Adopting new technology to transform  
repairs and maintenance
This year, we continued rolling out TotalMobile Connect 
(TMC), a new system that will change the way we 
manage the repair and maintenance of our homes. TMC 
will hold all the data we have on a home in one place, 
giving more assurance we’re dealing with ‘one version 
of the truth’. This will mean we make better decisions, 
are more efficient, and deliver better customer service – 
and keep everyone safe in their homes.

The latest team to start using TMC is Gas Servicing, 
helping us to better-manage 11,500 of our homes with 
gas supplies, for which we’re responsible. TMC will help 
prioritise and schedule repairs, and ensure we carry 
out annual safety checks on time. More accurate data 
will help us to plan the replacement of old appliances 
better and plan investment in new heating technologies, 
to reduce customers’ fuel bills and improve the 
sustainability of our homes.

In 2022/23, we’ll be rolling out TMC to more teams 
across the business, including responsive repairs, 
empty homes, electrical testing and planned works.

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homes

Ensuring lifts are safe and reliable
We know how important lifts are to everyone who has 
one in their building, particularly older customers, those 
with mobility issues and families with young children. 
Maintaining lifts so they’re safe and reliable is paramount.

Our new lift and maintenance contractor, Jackson Lift 
Group, will maintain lifts in about 400 of our buildings 
for three years from 1 March 2022, with the option to 
extend for another three years. Jackson has more than 
40 years’ experience in lift maintenance and has an 
excellent reputation in social housing, having worked 
with some of the country’s largest housing associations.

We’re particularly keen to resolve problems in those lifts 
with ongoing reliability issues. We’ll be taking a more 
proactive approach with these, carrying out full technical 
inspections and drawing up clear plans of action to 
fix problems as quickly as we can. This will include 
identifying potential problems before they occur, so we 
can act and avoid costly and inconvenient breakdowns.

Value for money was an important consideration 
in awarding the contract and we’ll be working with 
Jackson to identify any cost savings.

Our new emergency repairs toolkit
An emergency repair is one affecting a customer’s 
health and safety, or one that could cause significant 
damage to the home, if it isn’t dealt with. Dealing with 
an unexpected home emergency can be both worrying 
and time-consuming. We launched our new Emergency 
Repairs toolkit on our website in October 2021 to help 
customers understand more about emergency repairs 
and how to report them.

The new toolkit explains what we consider to be an 
emergency repair, and signposts customers to the right 
place to get help. It also tells customers what we need 
to know when they report an emergency repair, so we 
don’t have to call them back to get more information. 
We’ve included ‘help us fix it faster’ tips to help speed up 
the process, so we can ensure whoever comes to fix the 
issue is fully prepared, with the right tools and materials.

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homes
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Environment and sustainability

We know the impacts from climate change, such as overheating, flooding and water scarcity, will become more 
frequent in the future. We must plan for climate resilience in our homes and open spaces, to create sustainable homes 
and communities, improve customers’ wellbeing and to end fuel poverty.
We want to become carbon neutral, to minimise our impact on the environment and mitigate the effects of climate 
change. We continue to assess the energy efficiency of our buildings, as part of our stock investment survey 
programme, and make improvements to customers’ homes.

Continuing our journey to achieving net zero 
carbon by 2050
We’ll launch our new Sustainability strategy in 2022, 
setting ourselves some ambitious targets, as we continue 
our journey to achieving net zero carbon by 2050.

We’ll build energy-efficient homes in more sustainable 
ways and retrofit existing ones. The aim is for us to 
have less impact on the environment, in terms of the 
materials and services we buy, water use, pollution and 
waste. We’ll transition away from gas to lower carbon 
alternatives and manage green spaces better, enhancing 
wildlife and biodiversity, and create more spaces to help 
people improve their physical and mental health.

It’s essential our customers fully-engage with our plans 
and we’ll work with them when setting targets around 
green spaces, biodiversity, energy advice and reducing 
water use and waste in their homes.

Ending fuel poverty and lowering energy and water bills 
have far-reaching benefits – they can make tenancies 
more sustainable and customers healthier, reducing the 
burden on health and social services, and increasing 
employment and educational attainment.

We’ll give our staff the knowledge and skills they 
need to deliver our sustainability targets and support 
customers. Being a truly sustainable organisation will 
help attract and retain talented people, particularly 
those at the start of their careers.

Sustainability SHIFT
In March 2022, we signed up to SHIFT, the social housing 
sustainability accreditation scheme, to help benchmark 
and measure our sustainability performance against 
others in the sector. SHIFT assesses environmental 
impact across 21 categories, including carbon dioxide 
emissions, water use, landfill waste, biodiversity and 
response to climate risks. It will also help us check our 
progress against our long-term sustainability targets.

Additionally, SHIFT will assess our commitment to 
sustainability through our leadership and strategy, and 
enable us to demonstrate our environmental credentials 
to partners, funders, staff, regulators and customers.

New hybrid fleet vehicles for London  
Property Maintenance
Our London Property Maintenance team took delivery of 
seven new diesel hybrid vans in November 2021. The self-
charging hybrids automatically switch between diesel and 
electric power and, because of the types of journeys our 
operatives typically make, we’re confident they’ll be running 
on electricity most of the time. This will significantly reduce 
our CO2 emissions and increase fuel economy. 

Greener Futures Partnership: A voice for 
sustainability in housing
We recognise the need to collaborate with the wider 
housing sector, government, our supply chain and the 
research and development community to introduce 
new funding models and technical solutions to benefit 
housing associations and their customers.

That’s why we established the Greener Futures 
Partnership (GFP) in April 2021, along with Home Group, 
Abri, Anchor Group and Sanctuary. The partnership is 
based on the importance of collaboration in delivering 
each of our own net zero targets, as well as meeting 
those of the Government. GFP has a five-point plan:

• To better inform residents on low-carbon solutions
• To see a simplified low-carbon grant framework for 

housing associations to retrofit homes
• To welcome the design of new financing options to 

support a low-carbon transition
• To address the skills challenge of adapting to new 

low-carbon technology
• To use the collective economic resources to 

negotiate better deals for customers.

This year, GFP commissioned Northumbria University to 
investigate some of the best ways of retrofitting social 
housing to be energy-efficient. Its report, Social Housing 
Retrofits for the Future, concluded that the higher capital 
investment needed for a deep, whole-house approach to 
retrofitting might not work for housing associations and 
that a ‘fabric first’ approach might be more appropriate, 
with four key steps:

1. Fabric improvements to improve thermal 
performance, through insulation, as well as 
window and door replacements

2. Optimising thermal flows with mechanical 
ventilation and well-designed heating systems

3. Installing renewable energy sources on-site or 
connecting to a local supply

4. Contracting green energy supply, and offsetting 
any remaining carbon, if renewable energy cannot 
be produced on-site, or if technical difficulties 
hinder energy-efficient interventions.

The report was designed as a reference tool for housing 
associations which have not yet fully decided on the 
best ways to approach retrofitting. It’s the first of several 
reports planned by GFP, with a view to sharing findings 
with the rest of the sector.

Safe, decent and energy-efficient homesSafe, decent and energy-efficient homes

Energy efficiency of our homes

Since 2020 we've:

Built 1,074  
energy-efficient homes

Made 7,052 homes more energy-efficient  
and 73% of homes are now in  

EPC Band C or higher (2020/21: 66%)

Reduced the carbon impact  
of customers' energy use by 8%

Energy use and carbon impact of our operations

Since 2020 we've:

Cut our total energy use by 5%

Reduced the carbon impact of  
energy use in our offices by 34%

Reduced the carbon impact  
of our fleet by 41%

Halved the carbon impact  
from work-related travel
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Our development programme

We want to provide affordable homes for people that need them, in the places where they’re most needed. We 
aim to be managing between 75,000 and 100,000 homes by 2050 and will partner with others to build more than 
we can alone. We use a mixed-funding model, incorporating grant, debt funding, partnerships, joint ventures and 
third-party investors.
The homes we build will be safe, decent and energy-efficient. We’ll use modern methods of construction, using 
robust, long-lasting and sustainable materials, ensuring we hand over homes with minimal defects. This will enable 
us to maintain homes efficiently and effectively, benefitting customers and delivering value for money.

We completed 456 homes in 2021/22 (2020/21: 651), which includes 30 homes that were developed with our joint 
venture partners.

Our planned pipeline 2022 to 2032
Delays, and materials and labour shortages, caused 
by COVID-19 have been impacting our development 
programme since 2020. We expect to increase the 
number of homes we build over the next few years and, 
by 2027/28, aim to be building at least 2,000 homes a 
year, with a planned pipeline of more than 18,000 homes.

This significant number of homes will require new 
development land in our existing operating areas 
and mean expanding into new regions – from sites 
with planning permission, right up to strategic land 
acquisitions for longer-term development. We’ll grow 
our Investment Development and Partnerships team to 
ensure we can properly manage our programme.

We’ll also need more funding through institutional 
investment, such as our partnership with M&G (p63). 
This will make significant money available for building 
thousands of affordable homes we’ll manage on our 
partners’ behalf.

£414m in grant funding from Homes England 
and the GLA to build nearly 4,500 homes
We’ve got a successful track record of building homes 
through partnerships with Homes England and the 
Greater London Authority (GLA). This year, we were 
chosen as one of 31 new strategic partners in Homes 
England’s Affordable Homes Programme, as well as one 
of the 53 housing providers to receive funding under 
GLA’s Affordable Homes Programme.

Homes England has allocated almost £5.2bn to housing 
associations and ‘for-profit providers’, to build 90,000 
homes outside of London. We’ll receive £250m to build 
3,000 homes for shared ownership and social rent.

GLA has allocated £3.46bn to housing associations, 
local authorities and for-profit providers over the next 
five years. Money will be used to build 29,456 homes, 
with 57% of the homes for social rent. We’ll receive 
£164m, allowing us to build 1,476 more homes, 590 
of which will be for social rent and 886 for affordable 
home ownership.

GLA funding comes with stringent safety and design 
requirements, and the Homes England funding focuses 
on modern methods of construction and sustainability; 
both elements already form a fundamental part of our 
development approach.

Housing association of the year at the 
WhatHouse? Awards 2021
We took the Gold award for our forward-thinking 
approach to some of the biggest issues that the 
industry faces. Judges recognised our commitment 
to building 18,000 homes over the next decade, along 
with our innovative approach to funding through private 
capital, our focus on sustainable development and our 
commitment to delivering social value.

Charlton Riverside gets council backing
Our proposal to build 1,200 homes at Charlton Riverside, 
40% of them affordable, was approved by Greenwich 
council in March 2022. GLA will provide £22m to fund 
construction of the affordable homes.

We plan to build 718 high quality and energy-efficient 
homes in phase one, with the first available in 2026. Of 
these, 267 will be available to rent at London Affordable 
Rent rates for local people on the housing waiting list: 
133 for shared ownership and 322 for private sale.

As well as building these much-needed homes, we’ll 
be contributing to new bus services and new roads to 
support local infrastructure. These homes will form a 
thriving, desirable community for many people and we 
hope it will lead to further development of the area.

Green light for affordable homes in Shoreham
Our plans to build more than 150 affordable homes 
in Shoreham-by-Sea, West Sussex, received planning 
consent in March 2022. A total of 159, one, two and 
three-bedroom homes will be built in one six-storey 
building and one nine-storey building on the former site 
of the Adur Civic Centre. Thanks to our Homes England 
partnership, all the homes will be affordable: 99 for 
shared ownership and 60 for social rent.

Next phase of Rochester Riverside underway
Work on the third phase of Rochester Riverside, our 
£419m regeneration project with Countryside, began 
in 2021. Rochester Riverside will eventually be a 
new community of about 1,400 homes, along with 
a new primary school, nursery, hotel, river walkway, 
commercial units, parking, green open spaces, play 
areas and landscaping.

Phase three comprises 171 homes, including 128, one and 
two bedroom flats and 43, two to five bedroom houses. It 
also includes a large waterfront park, a further section of 
a river walkway, plus significant public realm works. The 
homes and amenities will be built by a predominately local 
workforce, demonstrating our commitment to sharing 
economic benefits across Medway.

homes due to be started 
between 2022-27

4,519
homes due to be completed 

between 2022-27

6,748859
homes started

(2020/21: 1,926)

homes for 
shared 

ownership sold

99
(2020/21: 171)

homes  
for market  
sale sold

153
(2020/21: 255)

456
homes 

completed
(2020/21: 651)

Investment, development and partnershipsInvestment, development and partnerships
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Investment, development and partnerships

Building hundreds of affordable homes in 
Brighton & Hove
Our partnership with Brighton & Hove City Council, 
Homes for Brighton & Hove, began construction of 
346 low-cost homes for people living and working in 
Brighton and Hove in 2021, with the first homes due to 
be ready in 2023.

More than half the homes will be available for rent 
and the rest will be available to buy through a shared 
ownership scheme. Thanks to changes to the 
partnership, and Homes England funding, 176 of the 
new homes will be available through the council on 25% 
lower rents than originally planned.

Brighton and Hove is a growing city with high house 
prices, low incomes, and a significant proportion of 
households with support needs. Affordable housing 
only makes up a small proportion of overall housing, 
and it’s harder than ever for local people who work in 
the city to afford to live in it as well. These will be the 
first of 1,000 homes we aim to build in the city over the 
next few years.

First phase of Eastman Village completed
The first phase of the redevelopment of the former 
Kodak factory in Harrow, a major regeneration scheme 
we’re delivering in joint venture with Barratt London, 
finished in May 2022. We built 284 homes for London 
Affordable Rent, 73 for shared ownership, 274 for 
private sale and 60 for senior living.

By 2028, Eastman Village will be a thriving community 
of 2,000 homes, 40% of which will be affordable. There’ll 
also be shops and a landscaped park creating a green 
link in the heart of Harrow. The iconic chimney of the 
Kodak factory will be refurbished and incorporated into 
a community energy centre. 

Working with our partners to build more homes Our long-term partnerships with stakeholders 
and investors
We’ve been forming co-investment partnerships with 
institutional investors over the past few years, as we 
believe it’s central for us to build more affordable 
homes. We work with culturally-aligned partners looking 
to invest in ways that deliver social and environmental 
benefits, selecting partners whose sustainability and 
social value goals help enhance our own.

We work with institutional partners, developing, 
managing, and maintaining new affordable homes, 
and providing continuity of service and high quality 
management to customers. We work with low risk, 
stable organisations, with clear social and environmental 
agendas, and a commitment that customers will receive 
the same service, whoever their landlord.

The M&G Shared Ownership Fund
The first stage of the partnership saw M&G buy 422 of 
our shared ownership homes in London and Kent for 
£61m, to establish the M&G Shared Ownership Fund in 
2020/21. There were no sales to the fund in 2021/22. 
Investors provided initial investment of more than 
£215m has been secured by the fund, from two local 
government pension schemes, Homes England, two 
of M&G’s client funds and ourselves. Our investment 
of £2.9m was done through our subsidiary, Hyde 
Investment Leibniz Limited.

Through capital raised through investors in the fund, 
£0.5bn will be allocated to enable M&G to commit in 
advance to buy the shared ownership homes we build. 
This reduces our risk exposure to the sales market and 
enables us to recycle capital more quickly to support 
further development.

Initially, M&G will acquire homes from our development 
pipeline. The first acquisition of new homes will be 
at Eastman Village in Harrow. M&G will also acquire 
shared ownership homes at another development in 
Waddon. We’ll then work with M&G to identify new 
development opportunities in 2022/23.

The M&G Shared Ownership Fund was registered in 
2020 as a for-profit registered provider and must meet 
the same high standards expected by the Regulator 
of Social Housing. Homes will remain in the regulated 
social housing sector, and we’ll continue to manage and 
maintain them for the long-term. Customers won’t see 
any changes to their shared ownership leases, rental 
arrangements or services.

Investment, development and partnerships

Our partnerships and joint ventures will deliver thousands of affordable homes in the coming years.
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Investment, development and partnerships

We actively manage our property portfolio to ensure we are getting the most value out of it, and that we can use 
that value to provide safe, energy-efficient homes that meet our customers’ needs. 
By taking this approach, and deepening our understanding of our assets, we can identify opportunities to repurpose 
tired and obsolete stock, build new homes on land we already own, and release capital for reinvestment.

Area audits
Our area audits programme comprises a series of 
structured ‘deep-dives’ in local authority areas where 
we have a significant presence. The aim is to enhance 
our understanding of how our stock in those areas is 
performing, and how it could be used to better satisfy 
local need and demand. Audits also enable us to 
identify opportunities to work with local authorities and 
other local stakeholders to deliver more homes. 

This year, we reached the final stages of our Chichester 
Area Audit. Chichester represents one of our largest 
concentrations of homes and one of the most diverse, 
with homes in towns, cities, villages and rural areas. We 
own and manage almost 8,000 homes and properties in 
the area, plus amenity land, car parking and garages. 

We’re working with Chichester District Council 
to develop a portfolio management plan to build 
up to 1,000 new homes, alongside energy retrofit 
programmes on existing homes.

We’ll build some of these homes on small sites we 
already own. To that end, we’re developing a planning 
strategy for the smallest sites (of one to three homes); 
we’ve started capacity studies on 18 of our schemes; 
and we’ve set up a partnership with a specialist modern 
methods of construction developer to deliver a pilot 
scheme of 12 shared ownership houses in one of our 
existing Chichester neighbourhoods.

We also progressed area audits in five other local 
authority areas, where we hope to replicate our 
Chichester success.

Repurposing empty homes
When one of our homes becomes empty, we assess 
our options, review key factors such as the age of the 
property and its EPC rating, and decide whether we 
should keep it, put it to better use, or sell it. 

Selling empty homes to raise capital to build more  
than we sell
We normally improve the homes we sell and carry 
out works to enhance value and maximise our 
sales income. We sold 109 empty homes this year, 
generating a surplus of £22.9m for reinvestment.

Transferring homes to improve services and meet 
urgent need
We sold a further 26 refurbished homes to Beehive 
Affordable Homes and the London Borough of Bromley 
this year, as part of an on-going innovative tri-party 
arrangement that sees families living in temporary 
accommodation being given permanent homes. We 
also sold 65 homes to a homelessness prevention 
service in Southampton.

A portfolio approach to managing our homes

Investment, development and partnerships
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Our financial performance
We continue to be in a strong financial position, delivering a healthy surplus and core operating margin this year, 
while supporting customers, improving building safety, building homes and investing in our Digital Programme.
We’ll face significant challenges as costs continue to rise, but we’re committed to our 2025 objectives and 2050 
strategy. This will reduce margins in 2022/23 but it’s right to leverage our financial strength to invest for the future.

A full reconciliation from our management reporting (which includes core operating surplus) to the statutory surplus 
is shown below. We distinguish between our core operating business, building safety, development and joint venture 
sales, and disposal proceeds. We also report movements from derivative fair values, impairments and pension 
valuations separately, to arrive at our overall surplus, as these depend on market conditions out of our control. 

2022
£m

2021
£m

Core operating business

Operating income 277.1 272.6

Operating costs (195.4) (187.3)

Core operating surplus 81.7 85.4

Margin 29.5% 31.3%

Building safety works   

Building safety costs (16.2) (12.7)

Building safety recovery 2.9 12.9

Net building safety costs (13.3) 0.3

Development   

Development sales 93.6 79.8

Development cost of sale and operating costs (80.2) (69.5)

Development surplus 13.4 10.3

Margin 14.3% 12.9%

Joint ventures   

Joint venture income 6.1 21.9

Joint venture cost of sales (5.9) (20.2)

Share of joint venture surplus 0.2 1.6

Margin 3.3% 7.5%

Disposals   

Disposal surplus 35.0 41.7

Impairment (6.3) -

Statutory operating surplus 110.7 139.3

Net financing costs (49.7) (51.6)

Fair value movement on investments 1.0 2.0

Loan break costs - (154.9)

Statutory surplus/(deficit) before derivatives and taxation 62.0 (65.2)

Fair value movements in derivatives 31.9 42.8

Taxation 0.3 (0.1)

Statutory surplus/(deficit) for the year 94.2 (22.5)

Financial sustainabilityFinancial sustainability

Core operating business
Our core operating business generated a surplus and margin of £81.7m and 29.5% against a budget of £83.1m and 
30% (2020/21: £85.4m and 31.3%). This is against a backdrop of significant pressures on operating costs, which will 
continue to affect our future margins.

Our core operating income of £277.1m increased from last year (2020/21: £272.6m), driven by rent increases in 
line with regulation. This was slightly below our budget of £278.9m, due to lower than estimated recoverable costs 
falling within the year.

Core operating expenditure was £195.4m, which was broadly in line with the budget of £195.7m. We spent £80.9m on 
repairs and maintenance of our properties before capitalisation. Management, responsive repairs and service charge 
costs also increased this year, as we continued to invest in our homes.

Development and joint ventures
Development and joint ventures are reported together, as both relate to building homes. For statutory reporting, 
our development sales and costs are recognised in the turnover and operating expenditure (shown in note 4 as 
shared ownership first tranche sales and outright property sales). Joint ventures are equity accounted for with our 
share of operating surplus in joint ventures shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (and further broken 
down in note 9).

The total surplus for the year from development and joint ventures was £0.2m against a budget of £15.1m. The 
lower surplus is due to the phasing of sales of homes built through joint ventures, which are expected to be realised 
in 2022/23. Details of our development programme and joint venture partnerships are on pages 60-65. 

We undertake impairment and Net Realisable Value (NRV) assessments at the year-end, due to the inherent risk 
with development. These assessments resulted in a total impairment charge of £6.3m in 2021/22. Further details 
of these judgements and our assessments are shown in notes 1, 14 and 21.

Housing property disposals 
Housing property disposals (and related costs) include disposals of homes no longer meeting customers’ needs and 
other asset sales, such as sales of homes to our strategic partnerships (p63). Shared ownership staircasing sales are 
also presented as housing property disposals.

During the year, the total surplus from disposals was £35.0m, which was broadly in line with the budget of £33.7m. We 
also incurred disposal costs of £2.6m when setting up our new strategic partnerships.
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Financial sustainability

Building safety
We report our building safety programme separately, to ensure we have transparency and oversight of works, and 
continue to manage our costs and related recoveries efficiently, in response to the ongoing changes in regulations and 
industry practice. We continue to invest significantly in our buildings, to ensure they meet the highest safety standards, 
and have spent a total of £80.0m in the past five years. In 2021/22 we spent £16.2m; this was lower than our budgeted 
£19.7m, with further works budgeted for 2022/23 instead.

Building safety spend (£m)
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Building safety expenditure Cumulative building safety expenditure

2018 2019 2020 20222021

Financial sustainability

Statement of Financial Position
Our total assets increased to £3,578.7m. This includes holding our homes at historical cost net of depreciation, 
which is significantly lower than the value properties would fetch on the open market. Net assets (total reserves) 
increased to £686.3m. We use our reserves to reinvest in our business and to meet the ambitions of our 2050 
Strategic Plan.

2022 
£m

2021 
£m

Housing properties net of depreciation 3,158.7  3,008.0 

Other non-current assets 161.9 136.6 

Non-current assets net of depreciation 3,320.6  3,144.6 

Net current assets  171.1   331.7 

Total assets less current liabilities 3,491.7   3,476.3 

Grant (1,120.5) (1,118.0)

Long term loans (1,522.6) (1,595.6)

Other long term creditors (162.3) (183.2)

Net assets and reserves 686.3  579.7 
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Cash flow management 

Cash flows from operating activities of £181.8m was a result of a strong cash generation from our operations, 
including property sales (from first tranche and staircasing shared ownership), strategic asset disposal (including 
right to buy) and open market sales. See notes 3 and 7 for further details.

Cash outflow from investing activities of £102.4m was driven by building and acquiring homes and other fixed 
assets of £121.6m, offset by £19.8m in social housing grants. This delivered 332 new homes, in addition to the 112 
homes delivered by our joint venture partners.

Cash outflow from financing activities of £121.4m was aligned with the ongoing repayment profile of existing debt. 
This is reflected in our lower weighted average cost of debt, which has reduced significantly over the past five 
years from 4.65% in 2017/18 to 3.35% in 2021/22. This is a slight increase on 2021 due to a reduction in floating 
rate debt combined with an increase in interest rates. However 92% of debt is at a fixed rate so the impact of 
interest rate increases is minimal.

Weighted Average Cost of Debt 
5.0%

3.0%

2.5%
2018 2020 20222019 2021

4.0%

3.5%

4.5%

Cash flow (£m) 2022 2021

Cash flow from operating activities 181.8 237.8

Cash flow from investing activities (102.4) (60.4)

Cash flow from financing activities (121.4) (165.1)

Net change in cash (42.0) 12.3

Liquidity
We have significant liquidity, in the form of headroom on undrawn existing facilities and cash of £891m at 31 
March 2022. This far exceeds our 12-month liquidity target of £400m. It’s also sufficient to fund at least the next 
five years of our Financial Plan. This gives us significant financial resilience against the heightened uncertainties 
we face, safeguarding our long-term viability even under the most extreme economic stress testing scenarios. 
Further details are further explained in our viability statement (p74).

Gearing
Our gearing reduced from 48% in 2020/21 to 45%. Gearing has reduced as we’ve simplified and reduced our loan 
portfolio over the past five years with less dependency on debt. Gearing is calculated based on the historical cost of 
our asset base which is significantly lower than the open market value of our asset base.
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The Board has assessed the Group’s future viability over the next five years, based on the approved Financial Plan, 
which covers the same period. 
The Financial Plan was reviewed and approved by the Board in June 2022. It considers the impact of different 
strategic, operational and economic assumptions and factors. It also considers the impact of relevant risks and 
mitigation action available to us. 

The Financial Plan has sufficient detail to allow the Board to assess the forecast liquidity position and financial 
performance KPIs: 

Viability statement

How we monitor VFM performance
• The Group Board is responsible for VFM and ensures our approach is strategic, comprehensive and 

appropriate
• The Group Housing Services Board oversees housing service delivery, including our performance against 

budget and delivery of key performance indicators
• The Group Investment Committee oversees investment, including new developments, considering their 

financial value, return on investment and affordability
• The Group Treasury Committee oversees treasury management, including ensuring our financing delivers 

financial value and risk assurance
• The Group Audit Committee oversees risk and internal control, ensuring robust stewardship of our resources
• The Asset Management Approval Panel considers the best use of our existing assets, including the strategic 

disposal of some and major investment in others
• The Scheme Approval Panel evaluates all new development proposals
• Customer Voice monitors customers’ experience of our services.

Delivering value for money

Value for money

We ensure value for money (VFM) is at the heart of everything we do. VFM forms a key element of our 2050 Strategic 
Plan: by being more efficient, we can create more value that will enable us to build more of the right homes, in the 
right places, that are safe, decent and energy efficient, and deliver high levels of service to our customers.

We track our VFM performance through a range of financial, operational and strategic metrics, as well as metrics 
required by the Regulator for Social Housing. Progress is monitored monthly, using a balanced scorecard approach. 
To ensure VFM for our customers, and to ensure compliance and continuous improvement, we also carry out an 
annual assessment against:

• Regulatory standards
• The Sector scorecard, comparing our performance against other housing providers
• Internal targets, with KPIs calculated using our adjusted operating surplus metrics.

Measuring value for money

Financial sustainabilityFinancial sustainability

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Liquidity £943m £673m £818m £498m £503m

Total surplus £101m £87m £121m £128m £138m

Core operating margin 26% 26% 29% 31% 32%

As part of the viability assessment we carried out stress testing, considering key factors that may adversely 
impact viability. Based on the relevant risks (linked to the strategic risk register), 13 different scenarios were 
applied, including: 

• The Bank of England’s stress tests, with a focus on those most relevant to the Group, using published indices 
such as inflation, house prices and interest rates

• Sector-wide scenarios relevant to the Financial Plan, including rent policy, building safety regulations and 
funding, and sustainability requirements

• Additional scenarios impacting the Group and our future strategic plans, including counterparty risk, specific 
development scheme risks, cost base assumptions and other one-off events. 

The Bank of England’s stress tests show that, under an extreme combination of multiple stresses, the Financial 
Plan could be broken by either breaching covenants or not having sufficient liquidity. This could cause a breach of 
the tightest interest cover covenant in March 2023 and a shortfall in liquidity in March 2027. These scenarios were 
considered without mitigation to allow the plan to be ‘reverse stress tested’. This is not considered to be a plausible 
situation, given the extreme nature of the scenarios and the lack of mitigation. Specific mitigations that could be 
used in this situation include: 

• Refinancing of the relevant existing loans and swaps. The repayments and associated break costs could be 
met within other facilities

• Renewing loan facilities
• Pausing uncommitted development spend
• Deferring uncommitted and discretionary spend, including investment in our Digital Programme.  

Using one or more of these mitigations would mean we’re able to withstand the most severe Bank of England 
stress test in March 2023 and March 2027. None of the other scenarios would ‘break’ the Financial Plan. 

Due to our healthy liquidity and covenant position, we can manage the potential risks under these different scenarios. 
Additionally, we’re able to manage our operations in such a way as to control and defer significant parts of our cash 
outflows and pressures on the tightest covenants, whilst still meeting all contractual obligations. The ability to do this 
has further demonstrated that we can ensure long-term financial viability, in even the most adverse scenarios. 

The Board’s review of the five-year Financial Plan shows we expect to be financially viable over this period.
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The reinvestment KPI measures expenditure on our properties, including work to existing homes and building 
new ones, as a percentage of the value of total we hold at cost. Our reinvestment for the year was 4.0%, which 
was higher than last year, as we continued to invest in homes that are safe, decent and energy efficient. This was 
lower than target, as some elements of the development programme and major repairs spend were re-phased into 
2022/23, partly due to supply chain challenges.

Our occupancy rate for the year was 99.5% (2020/21: 99.5%). This shows the success of our strategy of increasing 
customer mobility, giving more customers the opportunity to find new homes, even during the lockdowns, when 
getting empty homes ready for new customers and re-letting took longer than usual.

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) compares the operating surplus to total assets, less current liabilities, and 
indicates the efficient investment of our capital. Our ROCE was 3.2% (2020/21: 4.1%), slightly lower than last year 
and target, however remained above the G15 median.

Our ratio of responsive repairs to planned repairs reduced to 48.9%, however is still higher than our target. This is 
an area we’re  focused on improving through our planned maintenance programme.

Asset management metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2021/22

Target
2021/22

Actual  
2020/21

G15 median 
performance 

2020/21

Regulator Reinvestment in existing stock and new supply 4.0% 7.6% 2.9% 5.0%

Sector scorecard Occupancy - voids 99.5% 99.5% 99.5% 99.1%

Regulator Return on Capital Employed 3.2% 3.4% 4.1% 2.7%

Sector scorecard Ratio of responsive repairs to planned maintenance 48.9% 36.9% 56.4% 61.5%

Customer satisfaction with our services was 81.6%; slightly lower than last year. This was partly due to service 
pressures on ourselves and key suppliers. We’re working to improve overall satisfaction by making improvements 
and bringing more of our repairs and maintenance services in house in 2022/23 (p24 to p39).

We continued to provide support to customers and communities, investing a further £2.7m in 2021/22. Plans are in 
place to further increase our social impact work in the coming years, to help support our customers and the places 
in which they live (p32).

Customer metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2021/22

Target
2021/22

Actual  
2020/21

G15 median 
performance 

2020/21

Sector scorecard Customer satisfaction with Hyde services 81.6% 83.0% 83.8% 75.5%

Sector scorecard Investment in communities £2.7m £3.0m £3.1m £2.9m

The operating margin shows how efficient our business is overall. Our core operating margin (excluding profit from 
development sales and building safety costs) of 29.5% was slightly below our target of 30%. We recognise that 
given the significant pressure on our cost base, our plans to invest in our core business and the need to continually 
improve services to our customers, we’ll experience a lower core operating margin over the next couple of years. 
This is aligned with our budgets and financial plans.

Overhead costs as a percentage of turnover increased to 11.7% (9.5% 2020/21), which reflects our increased 
operating costs as we invest in our core business. 

KPI source Metric Actual  
2021/22

Target
2021/22

Actual  
2020/21

G15 median 
performance 

2020/21

Internal Core operating margin1 29.5% 30.0% 31.3% N/A

Regulator Operating margin 20.2% 21.1% 26.3% 22.5%

Regulator Operating margin – social housing lettings 33.8% 36.4% 36.5% 29.5%

Sector scorecard Overheads as a % of turnover (excluding building safety recovery) 11.7% 11.0% 9.5% 10.7%

1 See a full reconciliation of the core operating margin to the statutory operating surplus (p68)

Business health metrics

Financial sustainabilityFinancial sustainability

Efficiencies
Following an extensive review of our operating income 
and cost base in 2020/21, we delivered our £11m 
efficiency target in 2021/22, by generating additional 
income and reducing costs across the business, without 
compromising customer service.

Over the next five years we plan to make further 
efficiency savings. A third of these savings will  
result from new ways of working introduced through  
our Digital Programme; the rest will come from  
operational efficiencies, combined with growth and 
increased revenue.

Some of these initiatives are already underway, such as 
managing the disposal of our empty homes in-house 
and increasing the size of our legal team, so we’re less 
reliant on outside legal advice. We’ll continue to develop 
these plans from 2022/23.

Procurement
We’re mindful that increasing costs across all sectors 
and industries will result in a rise in service costs, and 
we must ensure we get the best possible value for 
money for our customers, whenever we buy goods or 
services. In 2021/22, our Procurement team worked 
on seven major contract tenders, identifying combined 
savings of £4.1m over the life of the contracts. We also 
raised £280k, by selling our procurement frameworks, 
and collaborated with external partners in managing 
and promoting about 90 other frameworks.

VFM initiatives delivered in 2021/22

We continued with our VFM initiatives this year, enabling us to use our resources efficiently and effectively, and 
to continually improve our customer services. We’ve embedded formal change management processes across 
Hyde, to better ensure our change programmes make a substantial difference, with improved support for staff.

We monitor VfM across all areas of the Group with a suite of KPIs aligned with each business area. Performance 
against these KPIs are regularly reported to management, the Hyde Leadership Team and the Group Board. 
These are set out on the following pages. 
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Our headline social housing operating cost per home increased to £4,464 (2020/21: £3,951) as we continue to invest 
in our core business.

Similarly, property management costs increased slightly to £1,392 per home, service charge costs increased  
to £708 per home, maintenance costs increased to £1,172 per home and major repairs costs increased to £865  
per home.

The Income Taskforce was set up in 2021/22 to target arrears reduction. Following the success of the Taskforce, 
it has now been embedded into the organisation to continue as business as usual. As a result, income collection 
performance of 100.44% reflects the great work in supporting our customers to pay their rent on time.

Social housing lettings metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2021/22

Target
2021/22

Actual  
2020/21

G15 median 
performance 

2020/21

Regulator Headline social housing cost per home – Social housing activities £4,464 £4,450 £3,951 £5,096 

Sector scorecard Property management cost per home – Social housing lettings £1,392 £1,385 £1,325 £1,365

Sector scorecard Service charge cost per home – Social housing lettings £708 £695 £630 £837.5

Sector scorecard Maintenance cost per home – Social housing lettings £1,172 £1,150 £1,074 £1,275

Sector scorecard Major repairs cost per home – Social housing lettings £865 £820 £610 £964

Sector scorecard Rent collected as a % of rent due 100.44% 100% 98.8% 99.65%
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Gearing measures the level of net debt, compared with the carrying value of our housing properties. Gearing was 
44.7% (2020/21: 47.7%), reflecting our ongoing work to reduce our net debt and stable treasury management.

Our interest cover ratios of 130.1% and 163.9% (2020/21: 166.1% and 165.6%) remained strong, driven by our lower 
interest payments resulting from the successful debt refinancing strategy we’ve undertaken over the last few years.

The EBITDA MRI % interest cover calculation excludes our share of surplus of joint ventures and housing asset 
sales, which both contribute total overall surplus.

Funding metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2021/22

Target
2021/22

Actual  
2020/21

G15 median 
performance 

2020/21

Regulator Gearing - debt to asset ratio 44.7% 53% 47.7% 47%

Internal Interest cover - core EBITDA MRI  
(using core operating surplus) as a % of interest 130.1% 177.1% 166.1% N/A

Regulator Interest cover - EBITDA MRI as a % of interest 163.9% 148.7% 165.6% 133.5%
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We completed 426 new homes (excluding through joint venture entities) in 2021/22; 66% were social rent and 34% 
were outright sale. Our social rent handovers were lower than 2020/21, owing to the timing of completions in our 
development programme, combined with some handover delays resulting from labour and contractor shortages 
towards the end of the financial year. Our outright sale handovers were greater than target due to 96 completions 
from our joint arrangement with Countryside at Rochester Riverside.

Consequently, we expect to hand over more homes in 2022/23, as we complete delayed projects alongside those 
originally planned to finish next year. We expect our development activity to increase further in future years through 
our partnerships with private investors. By 2025, we aim to be building an average of 2,000 homes per year, 
comprised of homes owned by us and homes owned by others.

Development metrics

KPI source Metric Actual  
2021/22

Target
2021/22

Actual  
2020/21

G15 median 
performance 

2020/21

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – Absolute 426 426 570 687

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – Absolute, social housing homes 281 379 425 561

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – Absolute, non-social housing homes 145 47 145 146

Sector scorecard New supply delivered – as a % of homes owned 1.1% 1.2% 1.7% 1.7%

Regulator New supply delivered – as a % of homes owned, social housing homes 0.7% 1.1% 1.2% 1.4%

Regulator New supply delivered – as a % of homes owned, non-social housing homes 0.2% 0.1% 0.2% 0.3%
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We’re committed to being transparent (providing information that is complete and informs), accountable to all 
stakeholders (from customers and staff, to investors, partners, the Regulator of Social Housing and Government) 
and in terms of engagement (making it easy for stakeholders to share their views with us and for them to trust we’ll 
respond to them).

We’ve adopted the National Housing Federation’s Code of Governance 2020.

Good governance ensures effective decision-making and good risk management, keeping us aligned to our vision and 
mission, helping to meet our social purpose and reinforcing our reputation.

The Group Board

The Group  
Housing Services  

Board

The Group  
Audit  

Committee

The Group  
Treasury  

Committee

The Group  
Remuneration and 

Appointments 
Committee

The Group  
Investment 
Committee

The Group Board
The Group Board is our ultimate governing body, with 
up to ten non-executive directors and two executive 
directors. Board members (p86) come from a range of 
professional and business backgrounds, giving us the 
best mix of skills and expertise, and are paid for their 
time and involvement. The Board holds four formal 
business meetings a year and also meets to consider 
strategic issues and to approve the Group accounts. 
It delegates some responsibilities to five committees, 
each chaired by a non-executive director.

The Group Audit Committee
The Group Audit Committee (GAC) oversees internal 
and external audits, as well as our risk management 
framework and internal control framework. This ensures 
we have appropriate systems in place and that we 
comply with the Regulator of Social Housing’s standards 
and expectations.

GAC reviews the audited financial statements for 
all parts of the Group and recommends them to the 
relevant boards for approval. It’s responsible for 
recommending the appointment of internal and external 
auditors and for investigating any activity it thinks fit (or 
anything referred to it).

The Group Housing Services Board
The Group Housing Services Board (GHSB) scrutinises 
the performance of our core operations. It also identifies 
and mitigates statutory and regulatory risk (including 
health and safety) and people issues. GHSB gives the 
Group Board assurance that our operational performance 
is subject to effective non-executive oversight.

GHSB is the hub for our “common board” model of 
governance of our registered provider subsidiaries. 
GHSB members are also on the boards of Martlet 
Homes Limited, Hyde Southbank Homes Limited and 
Hillside Housing Trust Limited, so the boards can meet 
at the same time, if needed.

The Group Investment Committee
The Group Investment Committee (GIC) oversees and 
approves our property investment strategies, including 
acquisitions, capital expenditure, development, asset 
management and disposal. In particular, it scrutinises 
and approves our involvement and investment in large 
urban regeneration and renewal projects.

The Group Treasury Committee
The Group Treasury Committee (GTC) provides 
oversight of the Group’s corporate finance and treasury-
related activities and recommends, or endorses, actions 
and proposals to the Group Board or subsidiary boards 
for approval.

The Group Remuneration and  
Appointments Committee
The Group Remuneration and Appointments Committee 
(GRAC) is responsible for setting the remuneration of 
board members and of Hyde’s Leadership Team. GRAC 
oversees board member appraisals and reviews board 
member appointment, as well as overseeing recruitment 
of Hyde’s Leadership Team members.

Hyde’s Leadership Team
Hyde’s Leadership Team (HLT) is responsible for 
delivering the strategies and plans that ensure we 
provide homes and services meeting our customers’ 
needs. HLT answers to the Group Board, scrutinising 
our performance and taking remedial action where 
necessary. No member of HLT holds any interest in the 
Association’s shares and members act as executives 
within the authority delegated by the Group Board. 
HLT members’ details are set out on in the Board and 
advisors section (p86).

Group governance

Our governanceOur governance
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Group structure organogram

Key
Charitable entity

Holding and investment companies

Subsidiary non-regulated business (100% owned)

Subsidiary regulated business

Joint ventures and special purpose vehicles

Protecting our charitable reserves
We have a number of ways to protect our charitable reserves:

• Our registered provider subsidiaries focus on our 
affordable assets and customers, as well as the 
direct funding of affordable development. These 
activities are overseen by GHSB. Our governance 
and policies help protect our affordable assets, 
while also using these to help develop and invest 
in opportunities

• Our commercial activities are carried out by 
distinct legal subsidiaries, to separate our 
regulated, publicly funded and charitable activities 
from commercial risk. These are overseen by 
GIC. There are no guarantees from the Group’s 
charitable entities to the commercial subsidiaries

• Surplus from the sale of homes is typically used 
to offset the cost of building affordable homes. 
These activities are typically funded from our 
own reserves, arm’s length pre-approved loans 
from the registered providers and third-party non-
recourse finance

• GHSB oversees regulated activity and GIC 
oversees commercial and property activities

• The exposure and level of risk is managed 
through a series of delegations. For GIC, this is 
via investment levels in the commercial entities 
and by the hurdle rates for development (which 
vary according to tenure). GIC refers any new or 
unusual schemes to the Group Board

• Joint ventures are usually entered into on a 
contractual basis, supplemented by JV-level 
formal governance

• We take independent professional advice 
regarding the regulatory and charity law aspects 
of any joint venture deals and on any liabilities

• Group Board, supported by GTC, approves 
any loans and charging of assets. It also has 
oversight of inter-company lending, liquidity and 
the development pipeline

• We stress test our financial plan every year, 
covering both Group and subsidiary covenants 
and liquidity need.

Partners for Improvement  
in Islington

PFI 10% equity stake HHA

Hyde 
Charitable Trust

100% HHA

Hyde Investment  
Leibniz Limited  

100% HIHL

Halesworth 
Limited*

100% HIHL

Hyde Investment 
HoldCo Limited (HIHL)

100% HHA

HHA Subsidiary  
Non-Regulated Business 

100% HHA

Hyde Southbank Homes

100% HHA

Hillside Housing Trust

100% HHA

Martlet Homes

100% HHA

HHA Subsidiary 
Regulated Business

100% HHA

Brent  
Co-Efficient

100% HHA

Hyde New Build  
Limited (HNBL)

100% HHA

Hyde  
Devco 2

100% HHA

Hyde Vale  
(HV)

100% HHA

Bilsham Road 
Developments LLP

99.9% HV, 0.1% HNBL

The Kent Homebuilding 
Partnership LLP

99.9% HV, 0.1% HNBL

London Homebuilding 
Partnership LLP

99.9% HV, 0.1% HNBL

Rochester Riverside 
Managing Agents

100% HHA

Special purpose vehicles

Evera Homes LLP

25% HV, 25% Flagship, 
25% Cross Keys, 
25% Longhurst 

One Preston Park LLP

87% HV,  
13% First Base

Packington Square LLP

50% HV, 
50% Rydon

Harrow View LLP

50% HV,  
50% Barratt

51 College Road LLP

50% HV,  
50% Barratt

Homes for the City of 
Brighton & Hove LLP (HCBH)

49.9% HHA, 0.1% HNBL, 
50% Brighton & Hove CC

DevManCo

Homes for the City of 
Brighton & Hove Design and 
Build Company 100% HCBH

Joint ventures

Hyde Holdco  
Limited (HHL)

100% HHA

Hyde Devco 1
100% HHL

Hyde Manco
100% HHL

Hyde Devmanco
100% HHL

Hyde Housing  
Association Ltd (HHA)

Group Parent

Our governanceOur governance

* Entity was registered with Regulator of Social Housing on 7 July 2022. Entity was dormant during 2021/22.
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Board and advisers
The Board

Non Executives:
Mike Kirk (Chair)  appointed 5 October 2021
David Banks
Mandy Eddolls  appointed 22 March 2022
Myles Edwards  appointed 4 January 2022
Oke Eleazu  appointed 4 January 2022
Lynn Gilbert
Karen McElhatton 
Katherine Rodgers
James Wardlaw 

Jan Durbridge (observer)

Executives:
Andy Hulme  appointed 21 February 2022
Rod Holdsworth

Registered Office

30 Park Street
London
SE1 9EQ
Tel: 020 3207 2600
www.hyde-housing.co.uk

Bank

National Westminster Bank Plc
143 High Street
Bromley
BR1 1JH

Solicitors

Devonshires
30 Finsbury Circus
London Wall
London
EC2M 7DT

Trowers and Hamlins
3 Bunhill Row
London
EC1Y 8YZ

Hyde’s Leadership Team (from 1 June 2022)

Andy Hulme  Group Chief Executive Officer 

Neal Ackcral  Chief Property Officer 

Sarah Bissell   HR Director

John Carmichael  Risk and Governance Director 

Tom Grundy   General Counsel

Rod Holdsworth  Chief Finance and Resources Officer

Kate Krokou   Chief Strategy and Transformation Officer

Anjali Manoj Kumar  Group Technology Director

Zoe Ollerearnshaw  Company Secretary

Sharon Pearce   Finance Director

Guy Slocombe  Chief Investment Officer

Susan Stockwell Chief Customer Officer

Independent Auditors

BDO LLP
Chartered Accountants  
and Statutory Advisors
55 Baker Street
London
W1U 7EU

Internal Auditors

Beevers & Struthers LLP
15 Bunhill Road
London
EC1Y 8LP

How our Board operates

ACTIVITIES

Committee meetings

30
Board meetings,  

including sessions without 
the executive present

12

Annual assessment of governance 
effectiveness, external governance 

review and appraisals of individual Board 
members and the Board as a whole

BOARD SIZE

2015 to date: 12 Board members 
including up to three co-optees

BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY TO STAKEHOLDERS

Regular liaison meetings 
with the Regulator of 
Social Housing

Published annual review 
 

Annual meetings between 
non-executive directors  
and Customer Voice

BOARD AND LEADERSHIP TEAM CHANGES

HOW WE THINK ABOUT BOARD REFRESHMENT*

Term limits: Maximum term will normally be up to 
six consecutive years (an initial term of three years, 
plus three, one-year terms). Where a member has 
served six years, and the Board agrees it’s in the 
organisation’s best interests, their tenure may be 
extended up to a maximum of nine years

Annual Board appraisal and collective appraisal 
every three years

Achieving a balance of knowledge of the Group  
and fresh perspectives

In the past five years: we have recruited six new 
board members, following planned retirements,  
and four new Board committee members

Our governanceOur governance

Peter Denton   (resigned 30 June 2021)

Neal Ackcral   (interim CEO 1 July 2021 to 20 February 2022)

Mark Batchelor   (interim Chief Property Officer 1 July 2021 to 20 February 2022)

Alan Collett   (resigned 4 October 2021)

Duncan Ingram   (resigned 1 November 2021)

Piers White   (resigned 1 November 2021)

Elsie Akinsanya   (resigned 14 April 2022)

Stephan Lavollee  (resigned 31 May 2022)
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Board members and membership

Members
See pages 92 and 93

Oversees
Four quarterly meetings, plus extra 
meetings to deal with key issues; 
one meeting to consider and approve 
year-end related business; approval of 
audited accounts; two dates set aside 
each year for strategic discussions; 
annual governance effectiveness review 
and board appraisal; periodic meetings 
between the Group Chair and the 
Committee chairs.

Recent focus areas
 • Business continuity arrangements in 

response to COVID-19 
 • Financial risks, impacts and mitigants 

arising from COVID-19 
 • Approval of M&G partnership (p63)
 • Board and committee member  

skills strategy
 • Approval of action plan to embed the 

new NHF Code of Governance 2020
 • Governance review facilitated by 

independent consultant.

Members
James Wardlaw
Myles Edwards

Oversees
Internal and external audits, financial 
reporting, risk management, internal 
control and compliance. 

Recent focus areas
 • Reviewed and recommended the 

annual accounts for the Registered 
Providers and all subsidiaries to 
Group Board

 • Carried out an assurance review 
of the implementation of our new 
financial system, Workday

 • Supported an external SOx UK Impact 
report to be reviewed in 2022/23

 • Considered a review of the 
Wates Principles as an additional 
governance lens

 • Reviewed the external audit process, 
to ensure continued improvement

 • Monitored actions taken to strengthen 
and test regulatory reporting 
arrangements

 • Improved reporting to collate recent 
developments, themes and trends

 • Approved and monitored the internal 
audit programme.

Members 
Rod Holdsworth (Executive) 
Katherine Rodgers
Guy Slocombe (Executive)
Antara Sundararajan  
(Independent committee member)

Oversees
Approval of property investment 
strategies, including acquisitions, 
capital expenditure, development, asset 
management and disposal. Scrutiny 
and approval of our involvement and 
investment in large urban regeneration 
and renewal projects. Consideration of 
investments in strategic partnerships. 

Recent focus areas
 • Our portfolio management approach 

and associated strategies
 • Strategic fixed asset disposals 

generated through the Asset 
Management Assessment Panel

 • Strategic partnerships with  
Homes England and the Greater 
London Authority

 • Reviewed corporate structure, 
development delivery and expansion 
of land-led development

 • Reviewed and recommended our 
institutional partner strategy.

Group Investment 
Committee (GIC)

Chair:  
Lynn Gilbert

Group Audit  
Committee (GAC) 
 
Chair:  
David Banks

Group Board 
 
Chair:  
Mike Kirk 
Senior Independent 
Director: 
David Banks

Members
Neal Ackcral (Executive) 
Myles Edwards
Oke Eleazu
Susan Stockwell (Executive)
Asit Acharya  
(Independent committee member)
Ian Joynson  
(Independent committee member)
Jan Durbridge  
(Chair of Customer Voice)
Stella Young  
(Vice Chair of Customer Voice)

Oversees
Operational performance, including 
corporate services, IT strategy, 
operational risk and major change 
programmes.

Recent focus areas
 • Our response to the continuing service 

pressures caused by COVID-19
 • Contractor performance
 • Our Income Taskforce, set up to focus 

on the challenges of income collection
 • Complaints handling
 • Our Digital Programme
 • Building safety.

Members
Mike Kirk
Karen McElhatton
Geoffrey Milton  
(Independent committee member) 

Oversees
Non-executive and executive 
remuneration; recruitment, appointment 
and Board member appraisal; senior 
leaders’ bonus scheme; CEO appointment 
and performance; and Board and 
executive succession planning.

Recent focus areas
 • Appraisal process for Non-Executive 

Directors
 • Recruitment and appointment of CEO
 • Succession planning for our 

Leadership Team and senior 
leadership roles

 • Succession planning and skills audits 
for non-executives

 • Gender and ethnicity pay gap 
reporting, and diversity and inclusion 
reporting

 • People and culture strategy
 • Pension arrangements and provision
 • Market review and benchmarking of 

Leadership Team salaries.

Group Housing 
Services Board 
(GHSB)

Chair:  
Karen McElhatton 

Group Remuneration 
& Appointments 
Committee (GRAC)

Chair:  
Mandy Edolls

Members
Lynn Gilbert
David Banks
Rod Holdsworth (Executive) 

Oversees
The Group’s corporate finance 
and treasury-related activities and 
recommendations (or endorsement of 
actions and proposals) to the Group 
Board or subsidiary boards, for approval.

Recent focus areas
 • External and intra-group funding 

arrangements
 • Refinancing review
 • Treasury policy
 • Financial plan and stress testing
 • Security for borrowings
 • Treasury reporting and KPI monitoring.

Group Treasury 
Committee (GTC)

Chair:  
James Wardlaw

Our governanceOur governance

88   |   Annual report and financial statements | 31 March 2022 Annual report and financial statements | 31 March 2022   |   89 



An active and engaged Board

In 2021/22, the Board:

Approved applications to grant programmes with Homes England 
and the Greater London Authority

Launched the Greener Futures Partnership and our ESG framework

Oversaw the arrangement for an interim appointment and 
recruitment of a new CEO

Oversaw return-to-work plans, including a flexible working policy

Approved a donation to Hyde Charitable Trust of £5m to support 
rent and COVID-related issues

Adopted the NHF Code of Governance 2020, after determining compliancy

Approved the Financial and Annual Plans, including additional modelling

Reviewed our risk appetite for key risk areas

Adopted the Corporate Criminal Offences Policy

Reviewed our governance, facilitated by an independent consultant

Considered the implications of proposed rent increases in line with the 
Rent Standard

Our governanceOur governance
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Mike Kirk (Chair) Mike is Chair of the Hyde Group Board. He joined Hyde from housing 
association Vivid, where he was Chair from 2017, following the merger of 
First Wessex (where he was Chair) and Sentinel. He is currently a trustee of 
the Ironbridge Gorge Museums Trust and was previously Executive Chairman 
at Quadrise Fuels International plc, chair of Portsmouth Water, Senior 
Independent Director at KBC Advanced Technologies, Managing Director of 
PR agency Weber Shandwick/Square Mile and a Partner at investment bank 
Cazenove & Co.

David Banks David is our Senior Independent Director and chairs the Group Audit 
Committee. A Chartered Accountant by profession, David has held a number 
of senior executive roles in Justice-related services, in both the public and 
private sector. Until 2011 he was Group Managing Director of the Care and 
Justice businesses of G4S plc. David is a non-executive director of the 
Disclosure and Barring Service. He was a non-executive member of the Youth 
Justice Board, chairing the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and being a 
member of the Remuneration Committee.

Karen McElhatton Karen is Chair of our Group Housing Services Board. She’s Chief Investment 
Officer at Avon/Natura & Co, a non-executive director at CFL and a governor 
at Reed’s School. Karen is originally from New Zealand and has held various 
global Technology, Digital and Shared Services leadership positions in 
consumer goods and retail.

Lynn Gilbert Lynn is Chair of our Group Investment Committee. She’s a senior adviser 
at specialised real estate asset manager QSix. She was previously Head of 
Origination Activity for the Real Estate Finance Team at M&G and worked 
on real estate debt funds at Renshaw Bay. Lynn has more than 30 years of 
banking and real estate experience, which has included leading commercial 
mortgage activity at Barclays Capital and at Morgan Stanley. Lynn was 
previously a trustee of the Princess Alice Hospital in Esher.

Katherine Rodgers Katherine is a trustee of Hyde Charitable Trust and a member of the Group 
Investment Committee. She’s Director of Property Development at the 
University of Cambridge and has worked for leading real estate investment 
and development specialists in the UK residential and commercial sectors. 
Katherine was Head of Strategy and Business Planning, and Major Projects 
Development Director, at Grosvenor Britain and Ireland. She was also 
on the Board of the Bermondsey Business Improvement District and the 
Bermondsey Community Kitchen.

James Wardlaw James Wardlaw is Chair of our Group Treasury Committee and a member 
of our Group Audit Committee. He brings 34 years’ experience in financial 
markets, both public and private, of raising capital from institutional investors. 
He’s a partner in the infrastructure investment team at Federated Hermes and 
on the advisory boards of three firms engaged in infrastructure and real assets. 
He was on the board of Notting Hill Genesis (and one of its predecessors) for 
six years, with spells as acting Chair, Senior Independent Director and Chair of 
its Treasury Committee. He also led an initiative for Homes England (then HCA) 
in 2009-10 to encourage institutional investment into Build to Rent and was a 
Senior Civil Servant in HM Treasury for three years.

Board members’ experience

Myles Edwards Myles is a member of the Group Housing Services Board and Group Audit 
Committee. He’s a business strategy consultant with 30 years’ experience in 
financial services, healthcare and social housing sectors. He was previously 
Membership Director at Foresters Friendly Society and Commercial Director 
at Age UK. Myles is a member of the Magenta Living Board and Audit 
Committee, sits on the Royal London Independent Governance Committee 
and is an Age UK trustee.

Oke Eleazu Oke is a member of the Group Housing Services Board. He’s Chief Operating 
Officer of ManyPets, one of the UK’s leading pet insurance providers, and was 
previously Director of Customer Experience for Sainsbury’s, Customer Service 
Operations Director for Bupa and Customer Service Director at Prudential. Oke 
served on the Board of housing association Bromford Group for seven years.

Mandy Eddolls Mandy is Chair of our Group Remuneration & Appointments Committee. She 
started her career in human resources in UK and US manufacturing, before 
holding senior roles in financial services and higher education. She now leads 
on people, culture and ways of working for about 3,500 staff at the House of 
Commons and the Parliamentary Digital Service, and advises MPs in their role 
as employers. Mandy is Visiting Professor of HR Management at London South 
Bank University and holds a number of non-executive roles in social housing.

Andy Hulme

Chief Executive Officer

Andy joined Hyde from Lloyds Banking Group, where he was Global Managing 
Director of Real Estate and Housing. He was also Lloyds Bank Mortgage 
Director, Group Head of New Mortgages and Managing Director of the Equity 
Businesses. Andy worked with UK Government to bring Help to Buy to market 
during his time at Lloyds. He was CEO of the Housing Growth Partnership, a 
private equity investment fund supporting SME housebuilders. Andy’s held 
senior roles at Virgin Money, Direct Line, the Royal Bank of Scotland, NatWest 
and Tesco Bank.

Rod Holdsworth

Chief Financial and 
Resources Officer

Rod is a highly experienced Chief Financial Officer who’s worked in facilities 
management, construction and housebuilding. Most recently he was CFO 
at Crest Nicholson plc, Wates Group and OCS Group. Rod trained as a civil 
engineer before moving to a career in finance, where he trained with Price 
Waterhouse at London Bridge. He’s also a director of British Carriage Driving.

Full biographies of Board members are available on the Hyde website.

Our governanceOur governance
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Board member Board GAC GHSB GIC GTC GRAC

David Banks 12 6 2 - 5 -

Mandy Eddolls 1 - - - - -

Myles Edwards 3 1 3 - - -

Oke Eleazu 3 - 1 - - -

Lynn Gilbert 11 - - 5 5 -

Mike Kirk 11 1 2 - - 5

Karen McElhatton 8 - 6 - - 5

Katherine Rodgers 11 - - 5 - -

James Wardlaw 11 5 - - 5 -

Number of meetings attended by Non-Executive Board members Statement of the Group Board’s responsibilities

The Group Board is responsible for preparing the 
financial statements and annual report in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 and registered social housing legislation require 
the Board to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Private Registered Provider (PRP) and 
of the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the Board is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

• Make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

• State whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the  
financial statements

• Prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the PRP will continue in business.

The Group Board is responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show 
and explain the transactions and which disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial 
position of the PRP and to enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008 and The Accounting Direction 
for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.

It has general responsibility for taking reasonable steps 
to safeguard the assets of the PRP and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Group Board is responsible for ensuring that the 
Annual Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the 
Group and its subsidiaries included in the consolidation, 
together with the disclosure of the principal risks 
and uncertainties they face. Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

The Group Board is responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the Group’s website.

In the case of each director in office at the date the 
Directors’ Report is approved:

• So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Group’s auditors are 
unaware; and

• They have taken all the steps that they ought 
to have taken as a director to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of 
that information.

Our governanceOur governance
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Our governance

Internal controls assurance 

The Group Board’s responsibility for establishing and maintaining the whole system of internal control and for 
reviewing its effectiveness is set out in this internal controls assurance statement.
The Group Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring 
the Group establishes and maintains a system of 
internal controls appropriate to the various business 
environments in which it operates. Such a system is 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and can only 
provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The key elements in exercising control include:
• Group Board-approved terms of reference and 

delegated authorities for the audit, treasury and 
investment committees, and Group Housing 
Services Board

• Clearly defined management responsibilities 
for the identification, evaluation and control of 
significant risks

• Robust strategies and business planning 
processes, with detailed financial budgets  
and forecasts

• Formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff

• Established authorisation and appraisal 
procedures for significant new initiatives  
and commitments

• Robust treasury management, which is subject to 
external review each year

• Regular reporting to the appropriate committee on 
key business objectives, targets and outcomes

• Group Board-approved whistleblowing and anti-
theft and corruption procedures

• Group Board-approved fraud procedures, covering 
prevention, detection and reporting together with 
recoverability of assets

• Regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities

• Annual review of Regulator of Social Housing 
‘Economic and Consumer Standards’.

The Board confirms that it has a strategy and procedure 
for anti-fraud and corruption.

The system of internal controls is ongoing, and has been 
in place for the year to 31 March 2022 and up to the date 
of approval of the annual report and financial statements.

The Board recognises its responsibility for the system 
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
The Group produces an annual review of internal 
controls. This provides assurances around actions 
from external audit, internal control, internal audit, 
whistleblowing, risk management and performance 
monitoring. This includes a review of the fraud register. 
The Board confirms that all necessary actions are taken 
to remedy any significant failings or weaknesses which 
may have been identified during the review.

The Board cannot delegate ultimate responsibility 
for the system of internal controls but has delegated 
authority to the Group Audit Committee to regularly 
review the effectiveness of the system of internal 
controls. The Board receives Group Audit Committee 
quarterly reports and has access to all meeting minutes. 
The Group Audit Committee has received the annual 
report of the internal and external auditor and has 
provided its Annual report to the Board.

The Board confirms no weaknesses were found in the 
internal controls for the year ended 31 March 2022, 
which might otherwise have resulted in material losses, 
contingencies or uncertainties which require disclosure 
in the financial statements.

Our governance
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Risk management
Managing risk in everything we do is essential. The Group 
Board owns and sets our level of risk appetite, which 
guides our decision-making and strategy development.
Sound risk management, based on strategic, economic, 
social and environmental principles, underpins our 
approach to governance. We regularly review our control 
framework and how we manage emerging risks, to ensure 
we capture and address issues that could affect our ability 
to meet our statutory obligations and strategic objectives.

Our internal control framework is designed to limit and 
manage these risks materialising. However, we realise 
this framework only provides reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance, which means non-compliance issues 
can still happen.

Risk appetite
We have risk appetite statements across 12 key risk 
areas that establish our capacity for taking and absorbing 
risk, and provide guiding principles for decision-making. 
The Group Board reviews risk appetite every year, with 
the next review taking place in September 2022.

Our performance against Key Risk Indicators for each 
risk appetite category (a blend of KPI metrics, risk 
escalation indicators and reactive indicators) is reported 
to the Board quarterly.

Our governanceOur governance
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Optimum risk appetite

3 CORE SERVICE DELIVERY: 
         MINIMALIST

 • We prefer highly conservative core service 
delivery options, with low inherent risk and a 
potential for limited reward

 • We avoid innovation, unless it’s essential, 
and changes are managed to ensure delivery 
isn’t compromised

 • Our primary focus is to ensure we get 
the basics right and maintain regulatory 
compliance. We take an incremental 
approach to change and have no appetite for 
transformational change

 • Maintaining the security and resilience of our 
systems is very important. We implement 
best practice controls to reduce risk

 • We have a strong preference to use market-
leading products and providers. We only 
use small or start-up providers where the 
inherent risk is very low, and where there 
are no other suitable products offered by 
market-leading providers.

 9 OUTSOURCING: OPEN

 • We take a risk-based approach to 
outsourcing. Subject to availability of 
specialist resources, or where inherent risk 
is high, we won’t outsource business-critical 
functions

 • We have an outsourcing strategy and 
framework. We invest in ongoing contract 
management to ensure our contractors are 
properly managed and are delivering

 • We prefer to purchase off-the-shelf products, 
rather than developing bespoke solutions.

11 REPUTATION: OPEN

 • While we’re not careless with our reputation, 
we’re prepared to say and do things with 
the potential to draw additional attention 
from central and local Government, the 
Regulator, media, general public and/or 
other stakeholders. However, we only do this 
once appropriate steps have been taken to 
minimise any potential adverse impact.

12 PEOPLE: HUNGRY

 • We actively recruit people without sector 
experience to introduce new ways of 
thinking and working

 • We strongly encourage flexible and new 
ways of working. We’re open to innovative 
and experimental ways of working, as long 
as they’re not detrimental to service delivery, 
or staff engagement and welfare

 • We continually re-assess the structure and 
location of our workforce, to ensure it’s 
optimised to achieve our objectives.

 • We’re open to restructuring and relocating 
our workforce, as long as it ensures we 
maintain a competitive advantage and 
achieve our objectives

 • We invest heavily in employees’ learning 
and development, even if this comes at a 
significant financial cost. We proactively 
identify employees’ learning and 
development needs and support them to 
achieve their goals and qualifications.

 5 BUSINESS CONTINUITY AND 
         RESILIENCE: CAUTIOUS

 • We have some appetite for business 
disruption, but this is largely confined to 
areas outside of our control

 • While we apply all best practice controls, 
we won’t apply controls that go above 
and beyond best practice, if they are too 
expensive, and won’t result in significant 
improvements or reductions in business 
disruption losses

 • We have business continuity and IT disaster 
recovery plans, which are tested annually.

 4 DATA, PRIVACY AND INFORMATION 
         SECURITY: MINIMALIST

 • We have a very limited appetite for data loss 
or information security breaches

 • We apply all best practice controls to prevent 
data loss events

 • We have a very limited appetite for breaches 
of any data, privacy and information security 
legislation, especially the Data Protection 
Act 2018.

 2 FRAUD, BRIBERY, THEFT AND 
         CORRUPTION: AVERSE

 • We have no appetite for breaching anti-
money laundering regulations. We have 
procedures for verifying and recording the 
identity of counterparties and reporting 
suspicions. We ensure staff are aware of the 
subject and our procedures

 • We have no appetite for internal or external 
fraud losses. We apply all reasonable controls 
to prevent fraud events from occurring, even 
if these controls are expensive and outweigh 
the losses that could arise.

 1 REGULATORY AND 
         HEALTH & SAFETY: AVERSE

 • Regulatory, and health and safety compliance 
is a fundamental organisational objective

 • We’ll implement all possible controls to 
ensure compliance, following an exercise to 
determine if those controls are proportionate 
to the risk

 • 100% Compliance: We’ll comply with all health 
and safety legislation at all times.

7 LEGAL: OPEN

 • We have some appetite to take actions that 
could be challenged. However, we’ll only do 
this if we’re likely to win the challenge and if 
gains outweigh adverse consequences

 • We generally favour further legal action. We 
only favour settlement if it’s estimated to 
cost less than further legal action.

8 INVESTMENT AND ASSET 
         MANAGEMENT: OPEN

 • We’re open to expanding beyond our 
traditional products and geography, provided 
we’re confident we can manage the risks

 • We consider partnership working 
arrangements as appropriate, provided 
we have confidence in our partners and 
potential successors in title

 • We have an active development  
programme, which will deliver a large 
number of homes every year

 • We maintain at least a V2 rating

 • We’re open to taking market sales risk as 
part of a balanced development portfolio

 • We’re open to options to realise latent potential 
value though active asset management, as 
long as the business case makes sense.

 6 FUNDING AND  
         LIQUIDITY: CAUTIOUS

 • We maintain a minimum liquidity of 
£400m, or enough funds to cover planned 
contractual commitments, as well as the 
‘extreme’ stress level scenario under Bank of 
England standards

 • Group fixed debt (including swaps) must be 
between 70% and 95% of the drawn debt at 
any time

 • We apply controls to protect our credit rating 
and only take actions we’re confident won’t 
result in a downgrade

 • We seek appropriate financing arrangements 
for the business and prefer to keep things 
simple.

10 CHANGE AND  
         TRANSFORMATION: OPEN

 • We’re open to change

 • We support innovation to improve service 
delivery

 • We want to deliver change at pace, provided 
we can manage the risks well.

Averse

Minimalist

Cautious

Hungry

Open
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Business assurance framework
We use a combined assurance reporting tool, supported by a suite of business assurance KPIs, to further strengthen 
our control environment. This focuses on key business areas, providing integrated assurance mapping that identifies 
and assesses the type, performance and relationship of the sources of assurance across all lines of defence.

Risks, uncertainties and governance 
The Group Audit Committee reviews the arrangements for risk identification and management each year, in terms 
of strategic and operational risks.

Strategic risks are reviewed regularly by Group Board and updated as necessary, to ensure we’re able to continue to 
deliver the objectives of our 2050 Strategic Plan.

Operational risks, that might impact day-to-day service delivery, are owned and monitored by our Leadership Team 
and reported to the Group Housing Services Board, Group Audit Committee, Group Treasury Committee (Finance 
and Treasury Risk) and Group Investment Committee (Development Risk).

We produce risk registers based on key risks and make an initial assessment of cause and the likelihood and 
potential impact of events occurring to determine the level of risk. This is evaluated against the mitigation measures 
we have in place, to provide a residual risk score. This year, we started to implement target risk scoring for our 
strategic risks, guided by our risk appetite statements. Over the next year, this will feed into operational risks.

To ensure risk management is part of everyday activities, our Leadership Team reviews emerging issues monthly 
and reports impact, mitigation and a wider Political, Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental 
(PESTLE) analysis to each business meeting of the committees and Group Board.

Group Housing 
Services Board

Group Audit 
Committee

Group Investment 
Committee

Group Treasury 
Committee

Risk areas 
covered

Operational risks: 
Regulatory, statutory 
(legal, health and 
safety), service and 
property standards, 
organisational change 
programme

Effectiveness of risk 
management systems

Development and 
growth risk for new 
build schemes, 
regeneration 
programme, land bank 
and joint ventures

Financial risks: 
Financial plan, treasury 
strategy and policy. 
Loan portfolio 
restructuring, hedging, 
financing and 
headroom

How Formal review of 
operational risk each 
quarter, six month 
project review and 
horizon scan, monitor 
risk management each 
quarter

Review adequacy of 
the risk management 
methodology and the 
structures, processes 
and responsibility 
for identifying and 
managing key risks

Review risk profile and 
mitigation for every 
proposal, monitor 
whole portfolio risk, 
review delegation 
limits annually, review 
JV Board reporting 
quarterly

Review of financial 
plan including 
assumptions, stress 
testing, review 
treasury/hedging 
strategy, assess 
viability, structure 
and terms for raising 
finance and use of 
financial instruments

Group Board
Strategic risks: Strategic plan milestones, treasury strategy, oversight of resource 

allocation. Formal quarterly review of strategic risk, key risk indicators, emerging risk 
and Political, Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental (PESTLE) 

factors; six-monthly strategic plan review and horizon scan.

Hyde’s Leadership Team
Monthly review of emerging issues, risk management and key risks from each Directorate. 
Reviews strategic plan milestones twice a year. Monitors change programme and horizon 

scan. Delivers effective risk identification, montoring, mitigation and management. Ensures 
KPI risk triggers are effective and that performance management is embedded. Reviews risk 

assessments for new business opportunities, including mergers and acquisitions.

Emerging 
Risks & Issues

• Monthly 
review

• Full annual 
PESTLE 
review

PESTLE
Directorate 

Operational Risk 
Registers

• Audit
• Health and 

safety
• Governance
• Operational

Key risks 
from each 
Directorate 
reported to 

HLT on a 
monthly basis
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• Operational
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Directorate 
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HLT on a 
monthly basis
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The top three risks from our Group Strategic Risk register are:

KEY RISK MITIGATION/ACTION

1. External economic factors 
(economic cycle/shocks) negatively 
impact Hyde’s financial position 
(sales and income), leading 
to financial loss and loss of 
opportunities for growth.

 • We’ve stress-tested our financial plan to determine our ability to deal with 
extreme stresses, including Bank of England stress guidance, the impacts 
of COVID-19, and Hyde-specific stresses

 • Where appropriate, we work with external partners through joint ventures to 
share development risk

 • Our development programme is phased, and our financial plan is conditional 
upon certain thresholds being met

 • We’ve worked with key contractors to ensure they have appropriate 
continuity arrangements to minimise the impact of COVID-19 and Brexit

 • We’ve structured the Group to ringfence commercial activity to prevent 
contagion risk to social housing assets

 • We continue to monitor the impact of welfare reform and COVID-19 on core 
income streams.

2. Failure to achieve maximum 
operational and financial efficiency 
from our assets and services 
leads to financial loss, stakeholder 
dissatisfaction, service decline and 
loss of opportunities for growth.

 • We have robust budgeting, forecasting and monitoring processes in place
 • Our risk management framework allows us to identify emerging risks and 

issues and address them
 • Our Value for Money approach feeds into a continuous drive for efficiency
 • Our asset management and portfolio management strategies ensure we take a 

prudent approach to achieving efficiency, while ensuring we maintain safe and 
decent conditions for our customers 

 • The Group Board tracks overall progress against the strategic plan, including 
performance against operational and financial KPIs.

3. Failure to structure and resource 
the Group so we can deliver our 
strategic ambitions, while protecting 
our social assets and acting in 
compliance with relevant legal or 
regulatory requirements, leads to 
reputational damage, regulatory 
intervention and service decline.

 • We have a well-embedded people and culture strategy to ensure we attract 
and retain great talent

 • We’ve maintained IIP Gold Status for the past ten years
 • We have a well-embedded approach to talent management, succession 

planning and continued professional development
 • Our structure is designed to ensure effective governance arrangements and 

robust decision making
 • We have robust measures in place to ensure the protection of our social 

housing assets.

Hyde Group strategic risk map – top three risks

Almost 
certain
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Unlikely

Rare

Insignificant Minor Moderate Significant Major
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Health and safety

We’re committed to providing a safe and healthy 
workplace for our employees and contractors, and a 
safe environment in which our customers can live. 
We regard the successful management of health and 
safety as essential to the delivery of our business.
We’re also committed to continual improvement in health 
and safety management in our homes and we achieve 
this through delivery of a comprehensive property health 
and safety compliance programme.

We track a number of key health and safety performance 
indicators relating to our core housing operations, 
those undertaken by our direct labour organisation and 
construction site activity undertaken by our development 
partners. We continue to perform well in respect of 
accident frequency, lost day and reportable injury rates.

Our health and safety arrangements are independently 
reviewed and certified annually.

Following the pandemic and the removal of Government 
restrictions, we’ve adopted new ways of working, with 
most staff now taking an agile approach between 
working from the office and working from home. We 
continue to support staff through risk assessments 
of home workstations, as well as wider COVID-19 risk 
assessments of our office and other work environments.

Our health and safety training programme is targeted by 
role and includes mandatory elements for all staff. We 
maintain full compliance regarding completion of our 
four core health and safety e-learning modules.

Our governance
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Improving our information governance

Accurate, up-to-date and well-protected data means we’ll be a more efficient, customer-driven organisation. We 
hold a lot of data, from customers’ personal details to information on our homes, and it’s crucial this is stored 
securely and can be accessed easily when we need it.
In 2021/22, our InfoGov team made good progress against two of our 2050 Strategic Plan objectives: to embed 
information governance principles into everything we do; and to agree and implement an InfoGov roadmap.  
The roadmap was launched in June 2021 and the first two ‘blocks’ – incident management and valuable 
information – were completed by the end of the year.

Our InfoGov roadmap 
Incident management: Our data and security incident 
guidance ensures we report all incidents as soon as 
possible, ensures we take the appropriate steps to 
investigate and address the issues, and identify any 
lessons learnt. There are four types of incidents:

•  Confidentiality: unauthorised or accidental 
disclosure of, or access to, data and information

•  Availability: unauthorised or accidental destruction 
of, or loss of access to, data and information

•  Integrity: unauthorised or accidental alteration of 
data and information

•  Resilience: a threat to our ability to handle or 
manage data. 

About 300 staff were given training on the guidance, 
which stressed the importance of incident reporting. 
This resulted in an increase in reported incidents, helping 
us resolve issues and identify areas for improvement.

Customer rights: Customers and staff have data rights, 
including knowing how we use their data. We’ll update 
our individual rights guidance and publish a new privacy 
notice in 2022.

Valuable information: Our information asset 
management guidance sets out how we manage new, 
existing and changing information assets, classify 
information and identify and mitigate risks. About 
200 staff were given training on the new guidance, 
which replaces our complex and time-consuming data 
protection impact assessment.

To keep or not: We must manage data responsibly 
throughout its entire lifecycle (creation, storage, use, 
access, end-of-use and destruction). In 2022/23 we’ll 
review, develop and update retention schedules for our 
valuable information, and producing new guidance and 
training for staff.

Smart data: We’ll work with the Digital Programme 
team to apply smart principles to our data, enabling 
automated decision-making and segmentation, and 
profiling, of data.

Data resilience: We’ll be developing and implementing 
good resilience measures to ensure we’re strong 
enough to ‘bounce-back’ from external threats to 
information security.

Our governanceOur governance
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The Group Board confirms that the annual report has 
been prepared in accordance with the principles set  
out in paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7 of the 2018 Statement  
of Recommended Practice (SORP) for registered  
social landlords.

The Group has undertaken an assessment of compliance 
with the Regulator of Social Housing’s Consumer and 
Economic Standards for the period April 2021 to March 
2022, as required by the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019. The Group 
Board can confirm that, during the year in question, 
the Group has complied with the Governance and 
Financial Viability Standard, including demonstrating full 
compliance with the NHF Code of Governance.

Going concern
The Group undertakes a robust going concern assessment 
by reference to its most recent five-year Financial Plan. 
The Financial Plan considers the current economic 
environment and the Group’s future strategic plans. This 
includes considering the expected case in the Financial 
Plan and adverse stress-tested scenarios, with appropriate 
and proportionate mitigation. 

The impact of the different stress tests is assessed 
against liquidity, interest cover covenants, credit rating 
metrics and Group operating margin. 

Across the different scenarios and stress tests, and with 
mitigations, the Group remains compliant with all banking 
covenants and has sufficient liquidity throughout the going 
concern assessment period of at least 12 months. 

Based on the robust going concern assessment, the 
directors consider the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, being a period of at least 12 months after the 
date on which the financial statements are signed. For 
this reason, the Group continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in the financial statements. No material 
uncertainties exist.

Independent auditors
BDO LLP are our independent statutory auditors and 
were first appointed for the year ended 31 March 2021. 
The Board proposes to reappoint BDO LLP for the 
2022/23 financial year.

 

Mike Kirk 
Chair 
27 July 2022

Statements of compliance, Regulator of Social 
Housing Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard 2021/22
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Hyde 
Housing Association Limited

Opinion on the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:
 • the financial statements give a true and fair view 

of the state of the Group’s and of the Association’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of the Group’s and 
the Association’s surplus for the year then ended;

 •  the financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

 • the financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) 
Regulations 1969, the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.

We have audited the financial statements of Hyde 
Housing Association Limited (“the Association”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year ended 31 March 
2022 which comprise the consolidated and Association 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
and Association statement of financial position, the 
consolidated and Association statement of changes 
in reserves, the consolidated statement of cash flows 
and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. Our audit opinion is consistent with the 
additional report to the Group Audit Committee.

Independence
Following the recommendation of the Group Audit 
Committee, we were appointed by the Board in November 
2020 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 
31 March 2021 and subsequent financial periods. The 
period of total uninterrupted engagement including 
retenders and reappointments is two years, covering the 
year ending 31 March 2021 to 31 March 2022. 

We remain independent of the Group and the Parent 
Association in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as 
applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. The non-audit services prohibited 
by that standard were not provided to the Group or the 
Parent Association.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the Board’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Board’s 
assessment of the Group and the Parent Association’s 
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting included:
 • We obtained management’s assessment that 

supports the Board’s conclusions with respect to  
the disclosures provided around going concern;

 • We considered the appropriateness of 
management’s forecasts by reviewing and 
assessing assumptions applied by management, 
assessing historical forecasting accuracy and 
understanding management’s consideration of 
downside sensitivity analysis;

 • We obtained an understanding of the  
financing facilities from the finance agreements, 
including the nature of the facilities, covenants  
and attached conditions;

 • We assessed the facility and covenant headroom 
calculations, and re-performed sensitivities and 
stress testing; and

 • We reviewed the wording of the going concern 
disclosures and assessed its consistency with 
management’s forecasts.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may 
cast significant doubt on the Group and the Parent 
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
a period of at least 12 months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Board 
with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report.
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Overview

Coverage

Key audit 
matters

Materiality

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an 
understanding of the Group and its environment, including 
the Group’s system of internal control, and assessing 
the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements.  We also addressed the risk of management 
override of internal controls, including assessing whether 
there was evidence of bias by the Board that may have 
represented a risk of material misstatement.

Audit work on all significant components was 
performed by BDO UK both for the purposes of reporting 
on the individual financial statements and for group/
consolidation purposes. 

Audit work on all components was performed by BDO 
UK both for the purposes of reporting on the individual 
financial statements and for group/consolidation 
purposes. We identified four components which, in 
our view required an audit of their complete financial 
information due to their size or risk characteristics and 
were therefore considered to be significant components. 

Subsidiaries Hyde Housing Association Limited, Martlet 
Homes Limited, Hyde Vale Limited and Hyde New Build 
Limited were identified as significant components due 
to their size and risk characteristics.

The components not subject to a full scope audit by 
BDO UK comprise less than 1.3% of the Group’s assets 
and 0.2% of the Group’s surplus before tax. 

Our involvement with component auditors
For the work performed by component auditors,  
we determined the level of involvement needed in  
order to be able to conclude whether sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as a 
basis for our opinion on the Group financial statements 
as a whole. Our involvement with component auditors 
included the following:
 • In relation to Harrow View LLP, where turnover 

represents 4.5% of the overall group, we engaged 
directly with the component auditor as part of audit 
planning and execution to understand its activities, 
performance in the year and the component auditors 
assessment of audit materiality and audit risk.

 • Whilst not ‘significant’, as defined by ISA600 ‘Audits 
of group financial statements’, we undertook a 
review of the component auditors work in relation to 
Harrow View LLP and assessed the work performed 
and conclusions reached in the context of previously 
determined component materiality

 • For other non-significant components we performed 
analytical review procedures. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and include the most significant assessed 
risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) that we identified, including those which had 
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the 
allocation of resources in the audit, and directing the 
efforts of the engagement team. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

We audit the following within the group:

100% (2021: 100%) of Group profit before tax

100% (2021: 100%) of Group revenue

100% (2021: 100%) of Group total assets

2022 2021

The recoverable amount of property  
developed for sale is materially misstated

Yes Yes

Fire provisions No Yes

The form and substance of the ongoing 
complex stock transfer and agreements 
may not be accurately accounted for in the 
financial statements

No Yes

Fire Risk Assessments are no longer considered to be a key 
audit matter as there have not been any additional schemes 
identified as having substantial fire cladding concerns.

The form and substance of the ongoing complex stock 
transfer and agreements may not be accurately accounted 
for in the financial statements is no longer considered to be 
a key audit matter as the transfer occurred in the prior year.

Group financial statements as a whole

£9.7m (2021: £8.7m) based on 6% (2021: 5%) of adjusted 
operating surplus 
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Key audit matter How the scope of our audit  
addressed the key audit matter

The recoverable 
amount of  
property 
developed 
for sale is 
materially 
misstated 
Accounting 
policies - note 1

Inventories 
balance - note 21

As explained in the accounting 
policies as per note 1, properties 
developed for sale, including shared 
ownership first tranches and 
properties developed for outright sale, 
are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value resulting in 
an amount recognised in the balance 
sheet of £97.6m. For properties in 
development at the balance sheet 
date (see note 21) an assessment is 
needed of an anticipated selling price 
and a determination of the expected 
costs to complete.

Due to the volume of properties 
developed for sale and the level of 
judgement required there is inherent 
estimation uncertainty for both sales 
proceeds and costs to complete. We 
consider there is a significant risk 
that the carrying amount of properties 
developed for sale is misstated and 
we have therefore considered this to 
be a key audit matter.

Having obtained management’s assessment of the 
net realisable value of properties developed for sale, 
we tested all schemes under construction that meet a 
certain set of criteria at the year-end. 

For an additional sample of developments under 
construction, we obtained details of the expected costs 
to complete and agreed a proportion of costs to the 
latest third-party contract documentation.

We assessed the accuracy of cost forecasting by 
looking at outturn costs compared to budget on 
schemes that completed in the year. 

We tested the operating effectiveness of controls 
associated with the approval of development proposals 
as well as the creation, updating and monitoring of 
development appraisals. 

We held detailed discussions with appropriate 
individuals to gain assurance over the development 
appraisal assumptions. 

We obtained details of the expected proceeds from the in 
year sale of properties and agreed the amounts involved 
to supporting documentation or compared the expected 
proceeds to similar developments in the same locality.

For a sample of completed properties, we agreed the 
amounts involved to supporting documentation where 
the property was sold post year-end. Where the property 
was not yet sold we obtained third-party housing market 
information to confirm that properties were held at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. 

For schemes not yet under construction, we reviewed 
documentation associated with planning permission, 
with specific consideration of key factors or conditions 
that may indicate that either planning may not be 
granted or where terms and conditions may prevent the 
construction of a viable development. 

Key observations:
No material exceptions were noted from our testing.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning 
and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect 
of misstatements. We consider materiality to be the 
magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, 
could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users 
that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning 
and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect 
of misstatements. We consider materiality to be the 
magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, 
could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users 
that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

In order to reduce to an appropriately low level the 
probability that any misstatements exceed materiality, 
we use a lower materiality level, performance materiality, 
to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, 
misstatements below these levels will not necessarily 
be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of 
the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular 
circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their 
effect on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole and 
performance materiality as follows:

Rationale for the materiality benchmark applied
The benchmark used for the current year materiality is 
adjusted operating surplus. Adjusted operating surplus 
is of particular interest to the users of the financial 
statements as it is a term defined for the purposes of 
the entity’s lending covenants. This involves adjusting 
operating profit for depreciation, amortisation, 
capitalised major works and the net profit/loss on non-
outright sale properties.

The level of performance materiality applied was set 
after having considered a number of factors including the 
expected total value of known and likely misstatements.

Component materiality
A full scope statutory audit was carried out for each 
subsidiary. We set materiality for each component 
dependent on the size and our assessment of the risk of 
material misstatement of that component.  Component 
materiality ranged from £3,000 to £2,760,000. In 
the audit of each component, we further applied 
performance materiality levels of 62.5% to 75% of the 
component materiality to our testing to ensure that the 
risk of errors exceeding component materiality was 
appropriately mitigated.

Reporting threshold 
We agreed with the audit committee that we would 
report to them all individual audit differences in excess 
of £200,000 (2021: £173,000). We also agreed to report 
differences below this threshold that, in our view, 
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Group financial statements Parent Association financial statements

2022 2021 2022 2021

Materiality £9.7m £8.7m £7.7m £6.0m

Basis for determining 
materiality

5% of adjusted  
operating surplus

5% of adjusted  
operating surplus

5% of adjusted  
operating surplus

5% of adjusted  
operating surplus

Performance materiality £6.4m £5.2m £4.8m £3.6m

Basis for determining 
performance materiality

62.5% of  
materiality

60% of  
materiality

62.5% of  
materiality

60% of  
materiality
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Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where we are required by the Co-operative  
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 or the 
Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 to report to you if, 
in our opinion:
 • the information given in the Report of the Board  

for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is not consistent with the 
financial statements;

 • adequate accounting records have not been kept by 
the Association; 

 • a satisfactory system of control has not been 
maintained over transactions; 

 • the Association financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 • we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Other information
The board are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report and Financial Statements, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in 
the financial statements themselves. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the board
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Group 
Board’s responsibilities, set out on page 95, the board 
is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
Board members determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board 
are responsible for assessing the Group and the 
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Board either intend to liquidate 
the Group or the Association or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined 
above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which 
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud is detailed below:

Based on our understanding of the Group and the 
sector in which it operates, we identified that the 
principal risks of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations related to their registration with the 
Regulator of Social Housing, and we considered 
the extent to which non-compliance might have a 
material effect on the Group Financial Statements or 
their continued operation. We also considered those 
laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the 
financial statements such as compliance with the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing and tax legislation.

We evaluated management’s incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the 
financial statements (including the risk of override 
of controls) and determined that the principal risks 
were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to 
manipulate financial results and management bias in 
accounting estimates.

The audit procedures to address the risks  
identified included:
 • We understood how the Group and Association are 

complying with the legal and regulatory frameworks 
most significant to the Group and Association 
by making enquiries to management and those 
responsible for legal and compliance procedures.  
We corroborated our enquiries through our review  
of minutes;

 • We assessed the susceptibility of the Group and 
Association’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur. We 
discussed with management where it’s considered 
there was a susceptibility of fraud relating to 
management override of controls and improper 
income recognition. In addressing the risk of fraud, 
including the management override of controls 
and improper income recognition, we tested the 
appropriateness of certain manual journals and tested 
the application of cut-off and revenue recognition;

 • Reviewed and challenged the application of 
significant accounting estimates and judgements 
including housing property and inventory allocation, 
impairment of housing properties, fire provision, 
gift aid distributions, provision for bad and doubtful 
debts, derivatives and pensions made in the 
preparation of the financial statements;

 • Discussed with management and those charged 
with governance, including consideration of known 
or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations and fraud; and

 • Read minutes of meetings of those charged with 
governance, reviewed internal audit reports and 
reviewed correspondence with HMRC and the 
Regulator of Social Housing.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks 
of material misstatement in the financial statements, 
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of 
not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, 
misrepresentations or through collusion. There are 
inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed 
and the further removed non-compliance with laws 
and regulations is from the events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we 
are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities for the  
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at:  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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BDO LLP, Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of BDO LLP
London
United Kingdom

Date: 29 July 2022

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in 
England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the 
Association, as a body, in accordance with the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Association’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Association and the members as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.
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GROUP

Pre swap  
fair value1

Swap  
fair value1 Total Pre swap  

fair value1
Swap  

fair value1 Total 

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 3, 4 373,590 - 373,590 365,417 - 365,417

Operating expenditure 3, 4 (298,089) - (298,089) (269,440) - (269,440)

Surplus on disposal of property assets 7 34,994 - 34,994 41,734 - 41,734

Gift Aid income 8 - - - - - -

Share of operating surplus in joint ventures 9 170 - 170 1,634 - 1,634

Operating surplus 110,665 - 110,665 139,345 - 139,345

Interest receivable 10 1,065 35,290 36,355 1,812 43,980 45,792

Interest and financing costs 11 (50,789) (3,371) (54,160) (53,418) (1,168) (54,586)

Other financing costs – refinancing costs/break costs 11 - - - (154,942) - (154,942)

Movement in fair value of investment property 18 494 - 494 525 - 525

Movement in fair value of other investments 19 612 - 612 1,438 - 1,438

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 62,047 31,919 93,966 (65,240) 42,812 (22,428)

Taxation 12 253 - 253 (127) - (127)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 62,300 31,919 94,219 (65,367) 42,812 (22,555)

- Group 62,131 31,919 94,050 (65,355) 42,812 (22,543)

- non-controlling interests 169 - 169 (12) - (12)

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 34 13,101 - 13,101 (8,553) - (8,553)

Other movements 335 - 335 (103) - (103)

Total other comprehensive income/(expense) 13,436 - 13,436 (8,656) - (8,656)

Total comprehensive income for the year 75,736 31,919 107,655 (74,023) 42,812 (31,211)

Revenue reserve brought forward 600,294 631,505

Revenue reserve carried forward 707,949 600,294

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

- Group 75,567 31,919 107,486 (74,011) 42,812 (31,199)

- non-controlling interests 169 - 169 (12) - (12)

ASSOCIATION

Pre swap  
fair value1

Swap  
fair value1 Total Pre swap  

fair value1
Swap  

fair value1 Total 

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 3, 4 228,310 - 228,310 233,299 - 233,299

Operating expenditure 3, 4 (199,638) - (199,638) (179,355) - (179,355)

Surplus on disposal of property assets 7 32,379 - 32,379 41,706 - 41,706

Gift Aid income 8 4,886 - 4,886 8,442 - 8,442

Share of operating surplus in joint ventures 9 - - - - - -

Operating surplus 65,937 - 65,937 104,092 - 104,092

Interest receivable 10 2,838 27,945 30,783 3,729 25,148 28,877

Interest and financing costs 11 (34,100) (1,148) (35,248) (37,367) (1,148) (38,515)

Other financing costs – refinancing costs/break costs 11 - - - (154,942) - (154,942)

Movement in fair value of investment property 18 494 - 494 490 - 490

Movement in fair value of other investments 19 15 - 15 (460) - (460)

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 35,184 26,797 61,981 (84,458) 24,000 (60,458)

Taxation 12 - - - - - -

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 35,184 26,797 61,981 (84,458) 24,000 (60,458)

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 34 10,724 - 10,724 (8,316) - (8,316)

Other movements (56) - (56) (106) - (106)

Total other comprehensive income/(expense) 10,668 - 10,668 (8,422) - (8,422)

Total comprehensive income for the year 45,852 26,797 72,649 (92,880) 24,000 (68,880)

Revenue reserve brought forward 350,332 419,211

Revenue reserve carried forward 422,981 350,331

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

- owners of the parent 45,852 26,797 72,649 (92,880) 24,000 (68,880)

- non-controlling interests - - - - - -

Statement of Comprehensive Income

The turnover, surpluses and deficits for the current year and previous year relate to continuing activities. 
1 The Group reports the result excluding and including the impact of interest rate swaps fair value movements. Fair value movements on swaps 
are further detailed in notes 10, 11 and 35.

For the Year Ended 31 March 2022

Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended 31 March 2022
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GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022 2021 2022 2021

Notes  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Housing properties at cost 14 3,570,006 3,382,994 2,887,229 2,797,407

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 14 (411,316) (374,950) (337,389) (309,152)

Net book value of housing properties 14 3,158,690 3,008,044 2,549,840 2,488,255

Intangible fixed assets 15 9,036 1,666 9,036 1,666

Other fixed assets 16 13,608 18,763 9,077 14,162

Derivative financial instruments: assets 17 11,886 6,186 11,886 6,186

Investments in joint ventures 9 48,177 45,528 - -

Investment properties 18 22,907 22,703 22,832 22,628

Investments 19 15,425 15,440 30,151 26,533

Pension assets 34 16,549 - 9,702 -

Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year 20 24,291 26,299 48,330 49,295

3,320,569 3,144,629 2,690,854 2,608,725

Current assets

Inventories 21 97,584 207,581 33,697 53,170

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 22 40,060 42,836 32,298 45,579

Cash and cash equivalents 23 120,427 162,386 39,927 77,541

Current liabilities

Less: creditors: amounts falling due within one year 24 (87,001) (81,095) (59,892) (62,326)

Net current assets 171,070 331,708 46,030 113,964

Total assets less current liabilities 3,491,639 3,476,337 2,736,884 2,722,689

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 25 (2,669,041) (2,742,019) (2,230,804) (2,272,639)

Derivative financial instruments: liabilities 26 (75,348) (101,629) (45,079) (66,237)

Recycled capital grant fund 27 (39,588) (34,685) (38,978) (34,241)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 28 (18,735) (17,663) (18,730) (17,658)

Provisions for pensions obligations 34 (2,598) (639) (2,598) (5,406)

(2,805,310) (2,896,635) (2,336,189) (2,396,181)

Total net assets 686,329 579,702 400,695 326,508

Reserves

Called up share capital - - - -

Revenue reserve 707,949 600,294 422,981 350,332

Cash flow hedge reserve (23,549) (25,209) (22,644) (24,152)

Restricted reserve 1,804 2,289 358 328

Total before minority interests 686,204 577,374 400,695 326,508

Minority interests 125 2,328 - -

Total reserves 686,329 579,702 400,695 326,508

Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2022

These financial statements on pages 120 to 173 were authorised to be issued by the Board on 27 July 2022 and 
were signed on its behalf. The notes on pages 128 to 173 form part of the financial statements.

Mike Kirk
Chair

Rod Holdsworth 
Chief Financial and Resources Officer

Zoe Ollerearnshaw
Company Secretary
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Notes

Revenue 
reserve

£’000

Pension 
reserve

£’000

Revenue 
reserves - net

£’000

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

£’000

Restricted 
reserve

£’000

Sub  
total

£’000

Non-
controlling 

interests

£’000

Total 
reserves 

£’000

Group

Balance as at 1 April 2021 600,933 (639) 600,294 (25,209) 2,289 577,374 2,328 579,702

Surplus/(deficit) from Statement 
of Comprehensive Income 94,219 - 94,219 - - 94,219 - 94,219

Actuarial gain/(loss) 34 - 13,101 13,101 - - 13,101 - 13,101

Pension cost for the year 34 (1,489) 1,489 - - - - - -

Restricted reserve transfer 485 - 485 - (485) - - -

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 35 - - - 1,148 - 1,148 - 1,148

Amortisation of gilt lock hedge 35 - - - 512 - 512 - 512

Minority interest (169) - (169) - - (169) (2,203) (2,372)

Other movements 19 - 19 - - 19 - 19

Balance at 31 March 2022 693,998 13,951 707,949 (23,549) 1,804 686,204 125 686,329

Association 

Balance as at 1 April 2021 355,738 (5,406) 350,332 (24,152) 328 326,508 - 326,508

Surplus/(deficit) from Statement 
of Comprehensive Income 61,981 - 61,981 - - 61,981 - 61,981

Actuarial gain/(loss) 34 - 10,724 10,724 - - 10,724 - 10,724

Pension costs 34 (1,786) 1,786 - - - - - -

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 35 - - - 1,148 - 1,148 - 1,148

Amortisation of gilt lock hedge 35 - - - 360 - 360 - 360

Other movements (56) - (56) - 30 (26) - (26)

Balance at 31 March 2022 415,877 7,104 422,981 (22,644) 358 400,695 - 400,695

 
 

Notes

Revenue 
reserve

£’000

Pension 
reserve

£’000

Revenue 
reserves - net

£’000

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

£’000

Restricted 
reserve

£’000

Sub  
total

£’000

Non-
controlling 

interests

£’000

Total 
reserves 

£’000

Group

Balance as at 1 April 2020 626,346 5,159 631,505 (26,869) 2,270 606,906 2,154 609,060

Surplus/(deficit) from Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (22,555) - (22,555) - - (22,555) - (22,555)

Actuarial gain/(loss) 34 - (8,553) (8,553) - - (8,553) - (8,553)

Pension costs 34 (2,755) 2,755 - - - - - -

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 35 - - - 1,148 - 1,148 - 1,148

Amortisation of gilt lock hedge 35 - - - 512 - 512 - 512

Minority Interest - - - - - - 174 174

Other movements (103) - (103) - 19 (84)                - (84)

Balance at 31 March 2021 600,933 (639) 600,294 (25,209) 2,289 577,394 2,328 579,702

Association 

Balance as at 1 April 2020 419,117 94 419,211 (25,659) 286 393,838 - 393,838

Surplus/(deficit) from Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (60,458) - (60,458) - - (60,458) - (60,458)

Actuarial gain/(loss) 34 - (8,316)         (8,316) - - (8,316) - (8,316)

Pension costs 34 (2,816) 2,816 - - - - - -

Change in value of effective 
hedged instruments 35 - - - 1,148 - 1,148 - 1,148

Amortisation of gilt lock hedge 35 - - - 359 - 359 - 359

Other movements (105) - (105) - 42 (63) - (63)

Balance at 31 March 2021 355,738 (5,406) 350,332 (24,152) 328 326,508 - 326,508

2022 2021

Balance as at 1 April 12 11

Additions 5 2

Disposals (5) (1)

Balance at 31 March 12 12

For the Year Ended 31 March 2021For the Year Ended 31 March 2022

Statement of Changes in ReservesStatement of Changes in Reserves

Amortisation relates to the release of balances in the cash 
flow hedge reserve into the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income within interest payable. These balances are a result of 
recognising the value of derivatives at the inception of effective 
hedge relationships in the cash flow hedge reserve. These hedge 
relationships are however no longer effective, and the balances 
are amortised over the life of the hedged items. Gilt lock costs are 
also amortised. They result from the movement in gilt rates at the 
time of entering a gilt lock (the strike price) to the time that the 
related transaction took place. They are amortised over the life of 
the transaction/bond.

Included in the Association’s revenue reserves is (£221.5m) (2021: 
(£253.4m)) which is the cumulative fair value loss that is recorded 
on our derivative financial instruments.

Non-controlling interests reflect the 13% of One Preston Park LLP 
which is not owned by the Group.

Paid share capital for the Group and the Association is £12 (2021: 
£12). Each share is £1 and carries one voting right. The shares carry 
no dividend rights and are cancelled on cessation of membership of 
the Association.
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GROUP

 
Notes

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Net cash from operating activities 181,782 237,806

Cash flow from investing activities

Housing properties acquisitions (112,586)   (79,733)

Grants received 19,769  24,247

Purchase of other fixed assets (8,999)  (4,527)

Non-controlling interests (2,328) 175

Purchase of investment - (2,981)

Return on investment 479 489

Interest received 1,312 1,918

Tax paid - -

Net cash flow from investing activities (102,353) (60,412)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (55,880) (61,960)

Other finance costs - refinancing costs - (198,985)

Return on loan collateral 7,355 -

Net revolving credit facilities (60,000) (169,648)

Drawdown of new loans - 339,198

Repayments of borrowings (12,863)  (73,667)

Net cash flow from financing activities (121,388) (165,062)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (41,959) 12,332

Cash at beginning of the year 162,386 150,054

Cash at end of the year 23 120,427 162,386

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating surplus for the year (excluding housing asset sales) 3,4 75,501 95,977

Surplus on disposal of property assets 7 34,994 41,734

Share of surplus from joint ventures 9 170 1,634

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation 41,362 42,591

Amortisation (11,998) (12,041)

Impairment (6,280) -

Decrease in inventory and property assets 16,031 5,049

Non cash disposal of housing fixed assets 22,231 78,442

Decrease/(increase) in debtors 4,539 (1,096)

Decrease creditors (6,553) (18,150)

Net cash flow (to)/from joint ventures (82) 5,995

Post-employment benefits less payments (1,355) (2,599)

Other provisions 662 270

Net cash from operating activities 181,782 237,806

For the Year Ended 31 March 2022

Statement of Cash Flows

GROUP

31 March 2021 
£’000

Cash flow 
£’000

Non-cash changes 
£’000

31 March 2022 
£’000

Group reconciliation of net debt

Cash balances 162,386 (41,959) - 120,427

Debt falling due within one year (3,151) 3,841 (11,730) (11,040)

Debt falling due after one year (1,611,120) 61,667 12,758 (1,536,695)

Net debt (1,451,885) 23,548 1,028 (1,427,308)

For the Year Ended 31 March 2022

Statement of Cash Flows
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Notes to the financial statements

General information
The Hyde Group (the Group) is headed by parent entity, 
Hyde Housing Association (the Association), and 
subsidiaries as disclosed in the related parties (note 32). 
The Association is a public benefit entity and a private 
registered provider of social housing incorporated in the 
United Kingdom. The registered office is 30 Park Street, 
London, SE1 9EQ. Amounts are rounded to thousands 
unless otherwise stated. All amounts are in GBP.

Statement of compliance
The Group and individual financial statements of the Group’s 
entities have been prepared on a going concern basis, in 
compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102, “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and 
the Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102), the Housing SORP 2018 
update: Statement of Recommended Practice for Registered 
Social Housing Providers (the SORP 2018), the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Provider of Social Housing 
2019 (the Direction 2019) and the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the fair value of 
certain investments and derivative financial instruments. 
The following accounting policies have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items which are considered to 
be material in relation to the financial statements of the 
Group and all constituent subsidiaries. The Association 
has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 
102 and has not disclosed transactions or balances with 
entities which form part of the Group who are wholly owned 
subsidiaries, except as required by the Accounting Direction 
for Private Providers of Registered Social Housing from 
January 2019. Disclosure requirements for transactions 
between regulated, and non-regulated, related party entities 
are provided in note 32.

Going concern
The Group undertakes a robust going concern assessment 
by reference to its most recent five-year Financial Plan. The 
Financial Plan considers the current economic environment 
and the Group’s future strategic plans. This includes 
considering the expected case in the Financial Plan and 
adverse stress-tested scenarios, with appropriate and 
proportionate mitigation. 

The impact of the different stress tests is assessed against 
liquidity, interest cover covenants, credit rating metrics and 
Group operating margin. 

Across the different scenarios and stress tests, and with 
mitigations, the Group remains compliant with all banking 
covenants and has sufficient liquidity throughout the going 
concern assessment period of at least 12 months. 

Based on the robust going concern assessment, the 
directors consider the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, 
being a period of at least 12 months after the date on which 
the financial statements are signed. For this reason, the 
Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in the 
financial statements. No material uncertainties exist.

Basis of consolidation
The Group is required by the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014 to prepare consolidated financial 
statements. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the 
Group has control. Subsidiaries are fully-consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date the control ceases. 
Group entities are detailed within note 32 to the financial 
statements. Intra-group income and expenditure is included 
in turnover and operating costs on an arm’s length basis in 
the financial statements of the Association but is eliminated 
in producing the Groups’ consolidated financial statements.

Segmental reporting
Due to the Group having listed debt on the London Stock 
Exchange, it must apply International Reporting Standard 
8 – Operating Segments (IFRS 8). Segmental reporting is 
reported in the Group and Association’s financial statements 
in respect of the Group’s business segments, which are 
the primary basis of segmental reporting. The business 
segmental reporting reflects the Group’s management 
and internal reporting structure. Segmental results include 
items directly attributable to the segment, as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segmental 
reporting is presented in note 2 to the Financial Statements. 
As the Group has no activities outside of the UK, segmental 
reporting is not required by geographical region.

The chief operating decision maker (CODM) have been 
identified as the Executive Leadership Team (ELT), now 
known as the Hyde Leadership Team (HLT). The CODM 
review the Group’s internal reporting to assess performance 
and allocate resources. Management has determined the 
operating segments as the operating business, fire safety 
project, first tranche and outright sales, joint ventures, 
fixed asset sales and disposals and financing. Surplus 
on disposal of property asset sales, surplus on sale of 
investments and share of surplus of joint ventures are 
reported separately within operating surplus. These are also 
identified in note 3, and further disclosed information for 
these activities are in notes 7 and 9 respectively. Prior year 
figures have been represented to maintain consistency with 
the information reviewed by the CODM in the current year. 

1. Group accounting policies

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the 
Group undertakes an economic activity that is subject to 
joint control with third parties and the parties have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. The Group’s interest 
in joint ventures is accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the 
investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses of the investee in surplus/
(deficit) for the year, and the Group’s share of movements 
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other 
comprehensive income. Within individual entities, 
these joint ventures are recognised as investments and 
accounted for at cost. Dividends received or receivable 
from joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the 
carrying amount of the investment. Unrealised gains on 
transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these 
entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted 
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to 
the arrangement. All attributable assets, liabilities, income 
and expenditure are included, on a proportionate basis, in 
the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Income and the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Turnover 
Turnover is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amount 
receivable for goods supplied or services rendered net 
of recoverable value added taxes (VAT). The Group/
Association recognises income when: the significant risks 
and rewards have been transferred to the buyer; the Group/
Association retains no continuing involvement of or control 
over the goods; the amount of income can be measured 
reliably; it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the entity; and when the specific criteria relating to 
the income have been met, as described below:
a. Rental and service charge income: is recognised on a 

receivable basis for the period the amounts are due in 
accordance with tenancy and/or lease agreements 

b. Management fees: are recognised on a receivable 
basis as management services are provided; income 
is recognised through unitary charges from local 

authorities, based on performance against the agreed 
contractual framework

c. First tranche shared ownership sales: are recognised  
on completion based on the proportion of equity sold  
of the property

d. Outright property sales: are recognised on completion
e. Revenue grants: are grants receivable from local 

authorities and other organisations. Grants in respect 
of revenue expenditure are credited to the income 
statement using the performance model in the same 
period as the expenditure to which they relate

f. Grant amortisation: grant associated with housing 
properties is amortised to turnover over the useful 
economic life of the structure and components of  
those properties

g. Construction contracts: where one entity within the 
Association is building properties for another, income in 
relation to these properties is recognised once the total 
development is completed, only if the decision-making is 
with the entity building the properties.

Distribution of reserves
Distribution of reserves is recognised on a receivable basis 
in the period the distribution relates and was declared.

Interest
Interest payable and interest receivable is recognised on a 
payable or receivable basis in the period the interest relates 
to respectively.
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Housing properties
Housing properties are measured using the cost model 
and comprise their purchase price, together with directly 
attributable costs in bringing them into working condition 
for their intended use. The directly attributable costs 
include the labour costs of Hyde employees arising directly 
from the construction or acquisition of the property and 
the incremental costs that would have been avoided, only if 
individual properties had not been constructed or acquired. 
Interest is capitalised on specific and general borrowings 
of the Group/Association as a whole, calculated on the 
net costs incurred during the period of development. 
Improvements are capitalised only when they result in an 
increase in the net rental income, such as a direct increase 
in rental income or a reduction in future maintenance 
costs, and when there is a significant extension of the 
useful economic life of the property. All other improvement 
expenditure is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income account when incurred. 

The Group/Association operates a component accounting 
policy in relation to the capitalisation and depreciation of its 
completed housing property portfolio. Housing properties 
where the Group/Association has the responsibility 
for maintaining and replacing a component are split 
between their land and structure costs and seven major 
components, each having their own periodic replacement. 
Where the Group/Association does not have responsibility 
for maintaining and replacing components, properties are 
split between land and build only. Depreciation of freehold 
housing properties is charged so as to write down their 
cost to their residual value on a straight line basis over their 
expected useful economic lives on the following basis:

 
 Component Useful economic life (years)

Land Not depreciated

Structure 100

Roof 60

Heating (excluding boiler) 30

Boiler 15

Windows and doors 30

Electrical wiring 40

Bathroom 30

Kitchen 20

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Where opportunities for the swapping of housing 
properties with other associations arise, the outgoing 
items are treated as a disposal with the recognition of a 
surplus/deficit.

Housing property component allocation
Components are recognised for housing properties, 
detailed in the accounting policies above. Where specific 
information on component splits is not available, the NHF 
National Matrix of Property Components is applied. 

Stock transfers
Stock transfers represent the net costs of developing 
properties owned by local authorities but currently 
managed by the Group/Association. The net cost of 
developing the pr operties is shown as a long term debtor. 
The long term debtor is amortised over the life of the 
management contract with the local authority.

Social Housing Grant and other government 
grants or financial assistance
Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other capital grants are 
held in creditors using the accruals model under FRS 
102. Grants are recognised over the useful economic life 
of the related housing properties and amortised to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income up to a period of 100 
years. The amount due to be amortised to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income in the next year is held within 
creditors due within one year. The remaining balance is 
held within creditors due greater than one year. Certain 
developments are funded by other capital grants. These 
grants are dealt with in a similar manner to SHG. Where 
grants are receivable for the development programme 
in arrears, the amounts not yet received are held within 
debtors. Where grants are repayable and the associated 
asset is sold, the entire grant, including the portion of the 
grant previously amortised to income, is held within the 
recycled capital grant fund or the disposal proceeds fund 
within creditors, until it is recycled or repaid to the issuer 
where applicable. Where grants are not repayable and the 
associated asset is sold, the unamortised portion of the 
grant is recognised in income.

Operating leases
The Group/Association treats operating leases as follows:

a. As a lessee: operating lease expenditure is charged 
on a straight line basis over the lease term to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

b. As a lessor: operating lease income is recognised in 
turnover on a receivable basis over the lease term. This 
includes rental income from the Group/Association’s 
portfolio of social and non-social housing properties 
and income from the sublet of office properties, 
including investment properties.

Shared ownership
First tranche sales are included within turnover and the 
related proportion of the cost of the asset recognised 
as operating costs. The costs relating to expected 
future first tranche sales in respect of shared ownership 
properties, are transferred from housing properties under 
construction in fixed assets to inventories. The remaining 
element of shared ownership schemes are included in 
housing properties within fixed assets. Lessees have 
the right to acquire further tranches and any surplus or 
deficit on such subsequent tranches is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as a part disposal 
of a fixed asset. Depreciation is not charged on shared 
ownership properties as the Group estimates that the 
residual value is higher than the historical cost before 
charging any depreciation.

Other fixed assets
Other fixed assets are measured using the cost model and 
comprise their purchase price, together with any directly 
attributable costs in bringing them into working condition 
for their intended use. Fixed assets are depreciated each 
month from the purchase date. Other fixed assets are Held 
at cost and depreciated on the following basis.

Category Useful economic life (years)

Freehold premises 100 

Leasehold premises Life of the lease

Solar panel components 25

Solar panel power inverters 12

Furniture 6

Computer hardware 3-5

Motor vehicles 4

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are computer and network 
software, and associated implementation and incremental 
costs, amortised over five to 10 years, representing 
management’s judgement of the estimated useful 
economic life (UEL) of the assets.

Investment properties
Investment properties represent properties of the Group/
Association which are held for long-term investment 
rather than social benefit. This includes properties held for 
commercial rental income, such as offices and shops that 
are not community facilities, and market rental income. 
Investment properties are initially recognised at cost which 
includes purchase cost and any attributable expenditure. 
Investment properties are subsequently measured at fair 
value at each yearend with any surplus/(deficit) recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investment 
properties are valued by an independent valuer with relevant 
qualifications. The surplus on disposal of investment 
properties is recognised within operating surplus.

Other investments
Other investments held are measured at fair value at each 
yearend, see note 19 for further details. Investment in 
subsidiaries and related undertakings in Association are 
measured at cost less provision for diminution in value.

Easybuy loans
Easybuy loans are included within investments as these 
are held for capital appreciation. Easybuy loans are loans 
the Group/Association has entered into on outright sale 
properties, which are repayable at market value. They are 
valued by calculating the future likely amount to be received 
based on discounted cash flow of predicted redemption 
value. Any disposals are recognised within operating 
surplus under surplus on sale of other investments.

Inventories 
Inventories includes properties developed for resale and 
first tranche shared ownership properties. Inventories 
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value 
(estimated selling price less costs to sell). Costs related 
to sold inventories are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related revenue is recognised. For repair 
materials, cost is determined on a ‘first in, first out’ basis. 
Cost includes the purchase price plus expenditure directly 
attributable to bring the item to its present condition.

The first tranche element of the shared ownership property 
is calculated based on the average experience of first 
tranche sales proportions. Once the shared ownership 
property is available for sale, the proportion in inventories is 
based on the market value expectations for that property.
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Impairment
Housing properties: 

Impairment is performed by cash generating unit. The 
Group/Association normally defines a cash generating 
unit (CGU) as a scheme (all units within one area or 
estate and tenure) within housing properties, unless 
other specific factors requiring consideration. During 
2022, some CGUs were assessed to be separate 
phases of certain schemes. Impairment is assessed 
by establishing the recoverable amount of the housing 
properties. Where a CGU is held for its service potential, 
and that service potential continues to be met, no 
impairment is charged. Where there is an indication that 
the service potential cannot be met, or the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, impairment is 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Further details are provided below in the accounting 
policy note “Significant accounting judgements and 
estimation uncertainty” and note 14.

Other fixed assets and intangibles

Other fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if there is 
an indication that impairment may have occurred. Where 
there is evidence of impairment, they are written down 
to their recoverable amount. Any such write down is 
charged to operating surplus. 

Inventories

At the end of reporting period, an impairment review is 
undertaken, where an assessment of the recoverable 
amount is made, comparing carrying costs to net 
realisable value less selling costs. If an item of 
inventory is impaired, the carrying value of the item 
is reduced and an impairment charge is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where a 
reversal of the impairment is required, the impairment 
charge is reversed up to the original impairment loss 
and is recognised as a credit to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Impairment of inventories is 
assessed at the scheme level.

Concessionary arrangements
The Group has a number of arrangements in place 
whereby it has performed works to properties or 
manages properties on behalf of others and receives 
fees for doing so. These arrangements include:
 • Islington PFI: The Association provides management 

services for the London Borough of Islington and 
receives management fees. See further details 
relating to the contract in the narrative of note 5

 • Hillside PFI: Hillside Housing Trust Limited, a 
Group subsidiary, provides management services 
for the London Borough of Brent and receives 
management fees

 • Brent PFI: Brent Co-Efficient Limited, a Group 
subsidiary, has built units for use by London Borough 
of Brent. The Association manages these properties 
and ownership will transfer to the Association at the 
end of the agreement.

The associated turnover and costs from these 
arrangements are recognised within turnover and 
operating costs allocated to the specific tenure type of 
the properties managed.

Taxation
The Group/Association has charitable status and 
therefore is not subject to Corporation Tax on the surplus 
arising from charitable activities. Provision is made 
for the tax liabilities which may arise when property is 
developed for commercial outright sale or private rent. 
Tax is chargeable on the activities of certain subsidiaries 
and a provision is made for any tax payable. This is only 
when the profits cannot be distributed via Gift Aid to the 
parent, Hyde Housing Association Limited. Deferred tax 
is recognised without discounting in respect of all timing 
differences between the treatment of certain items for 
taxation and accounting purposes which have arisen but 
not reversed by the Statement of Financial Position date 
except as otherwise required by FRS 102. 

Deferred tax asset or liability on unrealised fair value 
gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments is not 
recognised by applying the disregard regulations.

Service charges
The Group operates both fixed and variable service 
charges on a scheme-by-scheme basis in full 
consultation with residents. The service charges on all 
schemes are charged based on budgets. Where variable 
service charges are used, the budget will include an 
allowance for the surplus or deficit from prior years, with 
this surplus being returned to residents in the form of a 
reduced charge for the year and a deficit being recovered 
via a higher service charge (or by alternative methods if 
the contract allows). Until these surpluses/deficits are 
applied, they are identified separately for each property 
and reported in the Statement of Financial Position as a 
creditors or debtors due within one year, as appropriate.

Restricted reserve
The restricted reserve relates to restricted funds held in 
relation to Hyde Housing Association Limited, Hillside 
Housing Trust Limited and Hyde Charitable Trust 
Limited. These funds can only be spent on further build 
of social properties within the London Borough of Brent 
or on other specific activities.

Cash flow hedge reserve
The cash flow hedge reserve includes the value of hedged 
financial instruments on historical transition to FRS 102 
and any subsequent movement in hedged derivatives.

Cash flow statement
The Association has taken advantage of the exemptions 
under FRS 102 and has not prepared a cash flow statement. 

Cash 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and other short term 
liquid investments with maturity of three months or 
lower. Bank overdrafts, where applicable, are shown 
within borrowings in current liabilities and within the 
Statement of Cash Flows.

Pension schemes
The Group/Association operates/participates in five 
defined benefit schemes: the Hyde Housing Association 
Limited Pension and Assurance Scheme, the Pension 
Trust Social Housing Pension Defined Benefit Scheme 
(SHPS) and the West Sussex Pension Scheme. These 
schemes are not open to new entrants.

In addition, the Group/Association also operates 
a defined contribution scheme, the Hyde Housing 
Association Limited Defined Contribution Scheme. The 
difference between the fair value of the assets held 
and the scheme’s liabilities measured on an actuarial 
basis using the projected unit method are recognised 
in the group’s balance sheet as a pension asset or 
liability as appropriate.

Hyde Housing Association Limited Pension and 
Assurance Scheme and the West Sussex Pension Scheme
 • In accordance with the requirements of FRS 102, 

the costs are accounted for when committed, 
regardless of when the benefits are deliverable. The 
financial statements reflect, at fair value, the assets 
and liabilities arising from the Group/Association’s 
retirement obligations

 • The operating costs of providing retirement benefits to 
employees are recognised in the accounting period(s) 
in which the benefits are earned by the employees. 
The related finance costs and any other charges in 
value of the assets and liabilities are recognised in the 
accounting periods in which they arise

 • The financial statements disclose the cost of 
providing retirement benefits and related gains, losses, 
assets and liabilities. The attributable assets of the 
schemes are measured, at their fair value, at the 
Statement of Financial Position date, and are shown 
net of attributable scheme liabilities.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from any new 
valuation, and from updating the latest actuarial valuation 
to reflect conditions at the Statement of Financial 
Position date, are recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income for the year. For all pension schemes, current 
service costs are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income within operating costs.

Losses arising on a settlement or curtailment not 
allowed for in the actuarial assumptions are measured 
at the date on which the Group/Association becomes 
demonstrably committed to the transaction and are 
recognised in the operating costs at that date. Gains 
arising on a settlement or curtailment not allowed 
for in the actuarial assumptions are measured at the 
date on which all parties whose consent is required 
are irrevocably committed to the transaction and are 
recognised in the operating costs at that date (note 34).

Surpluses are recognised for both schemes as the 
respective scheme rules do not restrict the right  
to repayment of these surpluses upon wind-up of  
the schemes.

Pension Trust Social Housing Pensions Scheme (SHPS)

The SHPS scheme is a multi-employer defined benefit 
pension scheme. However, historically, sufficient 
information has not been available from the scheme 
administrator to use defined benefit accounting. This 
has meant the Group/Association had entered into an 
agreement with the administrators that determined how 
the entity will fund a deficit and had recognised a liability 
based on discounted future cash flows using an actuarial 
valuation tool. This liability was included within creditors.

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined  
Contribution Scheme

Employees have the option to join the Hyde defined 
contribution scheme, to which the Association makes 
a contribution of up to 10%. The contributions are 
recognised as they fall due.
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Financial instruments
The Group/Association has made an accounting policy 
choice to continue to measure and recognise financial 
instruments in accordance with IAS 39 - Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as is 
permitted by FRS 102 and to follow the disclosure 
requirements of FRS 102.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the Group/Association’s Statement of Financial 
Position, when the Group/Association becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Treasury management/derivatives

To manage interest rate risk, the Group/Association 
manages its proportion of fixed to variable rate 
borrowings within approved limits and, where 
appropriate, uses interest rate swap agreements. 
Amounts payable or receivable in respect of these 
agreements are recognised as adjustments to interest 
expense over the period of the agreement.

Financial assets

The Group/Association measures financial assets 
on initial recognition at fair value and determines the 
classification of such assets at initial recognition and on 
any subsequent reclassification event. Financial assets 
are classified into one of four primary categories:
 • Financial assets at fair value through the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income: these are derivative 
assets, other than those that are designated as 
hedging instruments and assets acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the near term. They 
are initially measured at fair value, excluding 
transaction costs. At each Statement of Financial 
Position date, they are re-measured at fair value. 
Any change in value is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income within interest payable 
or receivable, unless hedge accounting is effective, 
in which case movements are treated as described 
in the hedge accounting section below. If the hedge 
relationship is deemed to not be effective, or if 
there is partial ineffectiveness, changes in fair value 
ineffectiveness is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Investments owned by Hyde 
Charitable Trust, one of the Group subsidiaries, are 
stated at fair value.

 • Loans and receivables: this includes non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market and have 
not been designated as either fair value through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income or available 
for sale. Such assets are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. They are 
measured on this basis whether they are intended 
to be held-to-maturity or not. Gains and losses are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income when loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired as well as through amortisation.

 • Held to maturity investments: non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturity are classified here when the 
Group/Association has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. These are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income when held to maturity 
investments are derecognised or impaired as well as 
through amortisation.

 • Available for sale financial assets: available for 
sale financial assets are non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as such, or that are not 
classified in any of the other categories. These 
are held at fair value, with gains or losses being 
recognised as a separate component of equity 
until the asset is derecognised or is determined to 
be impaired, at which time the previously reported 
cumulative gain or loss is included in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. If there is no active 
market for a financial asset and it is not appropriate 
to determine fair value using valuation techniques, 
financial assets are carried at amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets are reviewed for indicators of 
impairment at each reporting date. Such indicators 
include default in contractual payments, significant 
financial difficulties of the issuer or debtor, probability of 
bankruptcy, or prolonged or significant decline in quoted 
market price. An impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement when there is objective evidence that 
an asset is impaired.

The impairment loss on loans and receivables, which are 
measured at amortised cost, is the difference between 
the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Impairment 
provisions for rental arrears are calculated based on 
average collection rates and risk profile of different 
categories of rent accounts. 

When an impairment loss is identified on an available-
for-sale financial asset, the cumulative losses 
previously recognised directly in equity are recorded 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The loss 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of 
principal repayment and amortisation) and the fair 
value at the time of impairment, less any impairment 
loss previously recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

The impairment loss on investments in companies that 
are not quoted in an active market and are measured at 
cost is the difference between the carrying amount of 
the investment and the present value of its estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the current market 
interest rate for similar financial assets. Impairment 
losses in respect of loans are recognised under 
operating costs in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Impairment losses in respect of trade 
receivables are recognised under operating expenses in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Impairment losses on investments in companies that 
are not quoted in an active market and are measured at 
cost, and on equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, cannot be reversed through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial liabilities

The Group/Association determines the classification 
of financial liabilities at initial recognition and on any 
subsequent reclassification event. Financial liabilities 
are classified into one of two primary categories:
 • Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement 

of Comprehensive Income. These are derivative 
liabilities, other than those that are designated within 
cash flow hedge relationships. These are initially 
measured at fair value, not including transaction 
costs. At each Statement of Financial Position 
date, they are re-measured at fair value. Any 
change in value is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income within interest payable or 
receivable. Where hedge relationships are effective, 
movements are treated as described in the hedge 
accounting section. If the hedge relationship is 
deemed to not be effective, or if there is partial 
ineffectiveness, changes in fair value/ineffectiveness 
would be recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Discounted bonds are shown 
at their redemption value plus or minus the issue 
premium or discount, which is written off through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on an annuity 
basis over the life of the bond. Fair values have been 
determined using updated SONIA rates as a result of 
the interest rate benchmark reforms

 • Other financial liabilities are held at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate. This includes loans 
and borrowings, overdrafts and trade payables. 
Borrowings will include accrued un-amortised issue 
costs. There have been no changes to the amortised 
cost measurement in the balance sheet as a result of 
the interest rate benchmark reforms.

Hedge accounting

During the current financial year, there were no derivative 
financial instruments subject to hedge accounting. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any 
cumulative gains or loss existing in reserves at that time 
remain in reserve and are amortised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 



136   |   Annual report and financial statements | 31 March 2022 Annual report and financial statements | 31 March 2022   |   137 

Significant accounting judgements  
and estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements and estimates  
that affect the application of accounting policies  
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,  
income and expenses.

Judgements

Judgements are those management has made in 
applying the Group’s accounting policies that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised. 
The most significant judgements are as follows:
 • Gift Aid payments: Where Gift Aid distributions 

are expected to be made within the relevant period 
of the next financial year end for tax purposes, 
management consider that such payments are 
probable. As a result, the income tax effects of 
any such Gift Aid distributions are accounted for 
during the year and no deferred tax liabilities with 
respect to Gift Aid payments are recognised. As Gift 
Aid and distributions result from core activities in 
subsidiaries and other investments, it is included in 
the definition of operating surplus.

 • Impairment of housing properties: For a number 
of social housing developments, management 
are actively considering options to sell the 
developments to another register provider. As 
part of the negotiations, a third party is providing 
pricing estimates. This is considered to trigger an 
indicator of potential impairment and recoverable 
amount assessment. In accordance with the 
SORP, management’s judgement is that the best 
information to inform recoverable amount is the 
pricing estimates from the third party with pricing 
adjustments for known factors as part of the 
commercial negotiations as at the year-end. This is 
because the pricing is what is used to consider if the 
developments will be sold or held. Further details of 
this assessment is set out in note 14.

 • Housing property and inventory classification: 
Judgement is required to classify development 
schemes between housing properties (social 
rent, affordance rent and retained equity shared 
ownership tenure properties) and inventories (shared 
ownership first tranche and outright sale tenure 
properties) based on the expected tenure being 
developed. Between the acquisition of development 
sites, obtaining planning permission and 
constructing the properties, the expected tenures 
will often change based on ongoing discussions 
with planning authorities, expected levels of grant 
and appraisal metrics. To minimise transfers and 
reclassifications between housing properties and 
inventories, management apply a trigger point to 
determine the classification. The trigger point is 
judged to be when development schemes reach 
the “start on site” milestone which is when a prime 
contractor has been appointed and a design and 
build contract has been entered into. Before this 
trigger, development sites are classified as housing 
properties as this is considered to be the primary 
intended use. The Group has not purchased any land 
sites speculatively and does not have any landbank 
with the intention of solely generating a capital gain 
and/or a commercial rental return. Where existing 
housing property assets are intended to be sold, 
they are not reclassified to current assets however 
are considered to have triggered an impairment 
assessment. Housing properties are shown in note 
14 and inventories are shown in note 21.

 • Housing property and inventory allocation: Where 
schemes under construction are mixed tenure and 
have met the trigger point for classifying between 
housing properties and inventories, management’s 
judgement is to apply a suitable method such as 
tenure mix, area (square footage) or rental yield, 
depending on the stage of development, to allocate 
costs between tenures. The allocation of the cost 
of shared ownership schemes under construction 
between housing properties and inventories is 
determined by management’s most recent scheme 
appraisals and past experience of first tranche sales 
(notes 14 and 21).

 • Building safety provisions: The building provision 
requires judgement to be made as to whether a 
constructive or legal obligation exists in recognising 
a provision. Management makes judgements on a 
scheme by scheme basis taking into consideration 
the specific facts and circumstances of each 
scheme. The key judgements applied are as follows:

 • Construction obligation: Where the Group have 
made specific communications to residents 
that raises a valid expectation that certain 
works will be undertaken, a provision will be 
recognised 

 • Legal obligation: A provision will be recognised 
where it is judged not to be reasonably practical 
or possible to avoid undertaking certain works.

During the year, provisions are based on 
constructive obligations as a result of resident 
forums and/or direct correspondence to residents, 
where the Group communicated specific remedial 
works required and the timelines that such works 
would be undertaken. Aside from those schemes 
and properties where a constructive obligation 
exists and the Group is responsible to undertake any 
works, no legal obligations were triggered for any 
additional schemes or properties. No new building 
safety provisions were triggered during 2022. 
Additions to provisions in the current year related to 
remeasures of existing provisions. 

Provisions are calculated based on the cost of 
remedial works to be undertaken. During the year, 
the provisions were calculated using contracts in 
place, survey reports from employers’ agents, and 
active tender documents. There are no significant 
estimation techniques used in calculating the value 
of provisions. 

In accordance with FRS 102 paragraph 21.9, any 
pending claims from contractors or government 
grants are excluded from the calculation of 
provisions. These are only recognised when 
reimbursement is virtually certain. There are no 
such assets recognised at the year-end. Building 
safety provisions are shown in note 28.

Estimation uncertainty

Estimates are those which contain key assumptions 
concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the year end, that have a risk 
of causing adjustments to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. The 
key estimation techniques are as follows:
 • Pensions: The Group has obligations to pay pension 

benefits to current and certain former employees. 
The cost of these benefits and the present value 
of the obligation depend on a number of factors 
including life expectancy, salary increases, asset 
valuations and the discount rate on corporate 
bonds. Management estimates these factors, using 
qualified actuaries, in determining the net pension 
obligation in the balance sheet. Management 
have not changed the standard assumptions 
recommended by actuaries not have particular 
circumstances requiring special assumptions; 
therefore no sensitivities are disclosed (note 34).

 • Derivative financial instruments held at fair value: 
The fair values are determined based on counterparty 
estimates or as determined by third party valuers 
based on available market data and inputs. Due to the 
variability of valuations based on market conditions, 
specifically changes to interest rates and RPI, the 
impact of changes to these market indices are 
disclosed in note 35.
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2. Group segmental reporting

Segmental reporting is presented via six segments following the format presented to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). 

These are: operating business (rental business and central overheads); costs and income associated with fire-related safety works; first tranche 
and outright sales; joint ventures; fixed asset and investment properties sales and disposals; and financing operations. Asset and liabilities per 
segment are not disclosed, as they are not presented to the CODM.

Operating 
business

2021
£’000

Property asset 
disposals 

 
2021

£’000

First tranche 
and outright 

sales 
2021

£’000

Joint  
ventures 

2021
£’000

Building 
safety 

 
2021

£’000

Impairment, net 
financing and other 

income/(expenditure) 
2021

£’000

Total
 
 

2021
£’000

Turnover 272,648 139,711 79,825 21,856 12,944 - 526,984

Operating costs (187,275) - (2,993) (18,349) (12,650) - (221,267)

Cost of sales - (97,976) (66,523) (1,873) - - (166,372)

Gross operating surplus 85,373 41,735 10,309 1,634 294 - 139,345

Net financing costs - - - - - (51,768) (51,768)

Break costs - - - - - (154,942) (154,942)

Pension interest cost - - - - - (127) (127)

Taxation - - - - - 162 162

Total surplus/(deficit) - before fair value adjustments 85,373 41,735 10,309 1,634 294 (206,675) (67,330)

Fair value movement in investment properties - - - - - 525 525

Fair value movement in investments - - - - - 1,438 1,438

Fair value movement in derivatives - - - - - 42,812 42,812

Total surplus/(deficit) 85,373 41,735 10,309 1,634 294 (161,900) (22,555)

2. Group segmental reporting (continued)

Operating 
business

2022
£’000

Property asset 
disposals 

 
2022

£’000

First tranche 
and outright 

sales 
2022

£’000

Joint  
ventures 

2022
£’000

Building 
safety 

 
2022

£’000

Impairment, net 
financing and other 

income/(expenditure) 
2022

£’000

Total
 
 

2022
£’000

Turnover 277,096 68,928 93,612 6,071 2,882 - 448,589

Operating costs (195,433) - (3,357) - (16,209) (6,280) (221,279)

Cost of sales - (33,934) (76,810) (5,901) - - (116,645)

Gross operating surplus 81,663 34,994 13,445 170 (13,327) (6,280) 110,665

Net financing costs - - - - - (49,724) (49,724)

Taxation - - - - - 253 253

Total surplus/(deficit) - before fair value adjustments 81,663 34,994 13,445 170 (13,327) (55,751) 61,194

Fair value movement in investment properties - - - - - 494 494

Fair value movement in investments - - - - - 612 612

Fair value movement in derivatives - - - - - 31,919 31,919

Total surplus/(deficit) 81,663 34,994 13,445 170 (13,327) (22,726) 94,219
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3. Group particulars of turnover, operating expenditure  
and operating surplus/(deficit)

Notes

Turnover 
 

2022
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2022
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2022
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2022
£’000

Turnover 
 

2021
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2021
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2021
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2021
£’000

Social housing lettings 4 254,534 - (168,530) 86,004 253,108 - (160,628) 92,480

Other social housing activities:

Shared ownership first tranche sales 18,271 (14,102) (945) 3,224 20,634 (16,969) (1,876) 1,789

Impairment of housing properties - - (6,280) (6,280) - - - -

Building safety 2,882 - (16,209) (13,327) 12,944 - (12,650) 294

Hyde Foundation 268 - (2,674) (2,406) 172 - (3,148) (2,976)

Other, including management activities 5,261 - (7,902) (2,641) 5,311 - (9,106) (3,795)

Non-social housing activities:

Outright property sales 75,341 (62,708) (2,412) 10,221 59,191 (49,554) (1,118) 8,519

Leaseholders and freeholders 14,331 - (15,705) (1,374) 11,672 - (13,341) (1,669)

Market rent 657 - (49) 608 624 - (373) 251

Management agent activity - - - - 99 - (62) 37

Commercial 2,045 - (573) 1,472 1,662 - (615) 1,047

373,590 (76,810) (221,279) 75,501 365,417 (66,523) (202,917) 95,977

Surplus on disposal of property assets 7 34,994 41,734

Share of operating surplus  
in joint ventures 9 170 1,634

Operating surplus 110,665 139,345

Notes

Turnover 
 

2022
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2022
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2022
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2022
£’000

Turnover 
 

2021
£’000

Cost of 
sales 

2021
£’000

Operating 
expenditure 

2021
£’000

Operating 
surplus/
(deficit) 

2021
£’000

Social housing lettings 4 184,223 - (138,892) 45,331 182,856 - (121,228) 61,628

Other social housing activities:

Shared ownership first tranche sales 18,271 (14,677) (892) 2,702 20,634 (17,361) (1,876) 1,397

Impairment on housing properties - - (4,503) (4,503) - - - -

Impairment on shared  
ownership inventory - - - - - - - -

Building safety 2,815 - (13,198) (10,383) 12,944 - (11,507) 1,437

Other management costs 4,664 - (7,530) (2,866) 5,025 - (13,336) (8,311)

Hyde Foundation 138 - (2,669) (2,531) 140 - (1,667) (1,527)

Non-social housing activities:

Leaseholders and freeholders 12,087 - (12,297) (210) 9,094 - (10,536) (1,442)

Intercompany sale 4,422 (4,422) - - 1,242 (1,080) - 162

Commercial 1,033 - (496) 537 739 - (390) 349

Market rent 657 - (62) 595 624 - (373) 251

228,310 (19,099) (180,539) 28,672 233,298 (18,441) (160,913) 53,944

Surplus on disposal of property assets 7 32,379 41,706

Gift Aid income 9 4,886 8,442

Operating surplus 65,937 104,092

Other management activities include ancillary income, and mainly include central support costs, overheads and mortgage rescue activities.

3. Association particulars of turnover, operating expenditure 
and operating surplus/(deficit)
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4. Group particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings

As at 31 March 2022
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 146,383 25,462 5,420 6,678 15,041 7,047 31 206,062

Service charges receivable 11,358 1,171 1,203 2,677 4,747 (12) - 21,144

Net rental income 157,741 26,633 6,623 9,355 19,788 7,035 31 227,206

Other income 320 1 480 135 4 1 - 941

Management fee income 13,623 - 235 - 344 95 43 14,340

Revenue grants 80 13 - - - - - 93

Amortisation of grant funding 8,013 998 789 211 1,751 190 2 11,954

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 179,777 27,645 8,127 9,701 21,887 7,321 76 254,534

Service charge costs (14,000) (2,016) (2,030) (2,848) (6,218) (837) (11) (27,960)

Management (40,367) (4,442) (2,982) (3,104) (2,787) (1,119) (169) (54,970)

Routine maintenance (20,868) (2,349) (1,377) (1,276) (17) (1,138) (4) (27,029)

Planned maintenance (15,823) (1,209) (771) (957) (198) (295) (1) (19,254)

Major repairs expenditure (1,240) (98) (356) (209) (788) 7 - (2,684)

Property lease charges - - (110) - - - (11) (121)

Bad debts 4,080 (1,321) (149) (236) (91) (225) (19) 2,039

Depreciation and amortisation (29,510) (4,866) (1,704) (953) (40) (1,457) (21) (38,551)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (117,728) (16,301) (9,479) (9,583) (10,139) (5,064) (236) (168,530)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 62,049 11,344 (1,352) 118 11,748 2,257 (160) 86,004

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(535) (141) (99) (110) (20) (152) - (1,057)

As at 31 March 2021
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 145,759 22,376 5,830 6,768 16,327 6,159 31 203,250

Service charges receivable 13,170 1,218 1,024 2,920 4,673 541 - 23,546

Net rental income 158,929 23,594 6,854 9,688 21,000 6,700 31 226,796

Management fee income 13,636 - 233 - 323 11 5 14,208

Revenue grants 101 - - 4 - - - 105

Amortisation of grant funding 8,053 706 828 211 2,045 153 3 11,999

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 180,719 24,300 7,915 9,903 23,368 6,864 39 253,108

Service charge costs (13,131) (1,218) (1,762) (2,753) (5,462) (542) (15) (24,883)

Management (39,955) (4,165) (2,623) (3,289) (1,962) (538) 190 (52,342)

Routine maintenance (20,185) (2,412) (1,152) (1,241) (33) (871) (3) (25,897)

Planned maintenance (11,927) (1,786) (1,078) (834) (317) (584) (1) (16,527)

Major repairs expenditure (1,424) (54) (74) (88) (701) (28) (4) (2,373)

Property lease charges - - (84) - - - (10) (94)

Bad debts (3,072) 1,425 279 123 179 254 28 (784)

Depreciation of housing properties (29,785) (4,392) (1,693) (798) (72) (973) (15) (37,728)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (119,479) (12,602) (8,187) (8,880) (8,368) (3,282) 170 (160,628)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 61,240 11,698 (272) 1,023 15,000 3,582 209 92,480

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(578) (114) (36) (169) (11) (168) - (1,076)

4. Group particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings (continued)

Depreciation and amortisation includes housing property depreciation and the amortisation of stock transfer debtors relating to the 
management of housing properties.
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4. Association particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings

4. Association particulars of comprehensive  
income from social housing lettings (continued)

As at 31 March 2022
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 94,471 22,848 5,255 4,628 14,026 6,672 31 147,931

Service charges receivable 7,705 1,171 1,085 1,931 4,484 (12) - 16,364

Net rental income 102,176 24,019 6,340 6,559 18,510 6,660 31 164,295

Other income 136 1 476 114 2 1 - 730

Management fee income 6,595 - 236 - 111 785 353 8,080

Amortisation of grant 7,441 860 786 164 1,680 185 2 11,118

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 116,348 24,880 7,838 6,837 20,303 7,631 386 184,223

Service charge costs (9,694) (1,816) (1,910) (1,966) (6,011) (801) (11) (22,209)

Management (38,228) (5,505) (3,413) (3,094) (3,200) (1,195) (171) (54,806)

Routine maintenance (13,430) (2,095) (1,341) (931) (16) (1,089) (4) (18,906)

Planned maintenance (9,432) (1,024) (706) (545) (167) (260) (1) (12,135)

Major repairs expenditure (844) (90) (382) (158) (768) 10 - (2,232)

Property lease charges - - (110) - - - (11) (121)

Bad debts 3,439 (1,204) (148) (174) (91) (218) (19) 1,585

Depreciation of housing properties (22,038) (4,250) (1,680) (623) (46) (1,410) (21) (30,068)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (90,227) (15,984) (9,690) (7,491) (10,299) (4,963) (238) (138,892)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 26,121 8,896 (1,852) (654) 10,004 2,668 148 45,331

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(360) (131) (92) (76) (20) (145) - (824)

As at 31 March 2021
General 

needs 
Affordable 

rental tenure
Supported 

housing 
Older people 

schemes 
Shared 

ownership 
Intermediate 

market rent 
Other Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Rent receivable net  
of service charges 94,110 19,984 5,684 4,642 15,283 5,818 32 145,553

Service charges receivable 9,551 1,101 945 2,172 4,386 523 - 18,678

Net rental income 103,661 21,085 6,629 6,814 19,669 6,341 32 164,231

Management fee income 5,752 - 234 - 322 775 358 7,441

Revenue grants 20 - - - - - - 20

Amortisation of grant 7,482 565 825 164 1,979 148 1 11,165

Turnover from  
social housing lettings 116,915 21,650 7,688 6,978 21,970 7,264 391 182,856

Service charge costs (9,117) (1,101) (1,704) (1,870) (5,239) (523) (15) (19,569)

Management (28,170) (3,910) (2,598) (2,559) (1,669) (1,270) (163) (40,339)

Routine maintenance (12,605) (2,195) (1,128) (896) (31) (833) (3) (17,691)

Planned maintenance (7,436) (1,584) (1,036) (451) (309) (554) (1) (11,371)

Major repairs expenditure (907) (44) (74) (49) (660) (27) (3) (1,764)

Property lease charges - - (84) - - - (10) (94)

Bad debts (2,769) 1,294 279 95 190 248 28 (635)

Depreciation of housing properties (22,796) (3,779) (1,669) (493) (90) (925) (13) (29,765)

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings (83,800) (11,319) (8,014) (6,223) (7,808) (3,884) (180) (121,228)

Operating surplus/(deficit)  
on social housing lettings 33,115 10,331 (326) 755 14,162 3,380 211 61,628

Void losses (being rented  
income lost as a result of the 
property not being let although  
it is available for letting)

(320) (103) (34) (118) (11) (157) - (743)
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5. Group housing units 

As 
at 31 

March 
2021 

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2022

As 
at 31 

March 
2020 

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2021

Social housing  
units owned  
and/or managed

        

General needs 28,862 42 (107) - (183) 28,614 28,905 129 (176) (10) 14 28,862

Affordable  
rental tenure 2,750 150 (10) - 114 3,004 2,676 84 (12) - 2 2,750

Supported housing 2,674 - (18) (62) 42 2,636 2,754 3 (86) - 3 2,674

Shared ownership 4,042 89 (149) - (7) 3,975 3,962 199 (112) - (7) 4,042

Care homes 147 - - - (13) 134 190 - (43) - - 147

Other social  
housing units 1,029 - - - 35 1,064 1,033 - - - (4) 1,029

Total social housing 
units owned  
and/or managed 

39,504 281 (284) (62) (12) 39,427 39,520 415 (429) (10) 8 39,504

Total social housing 
units managed  
but not owned 1

5,193  - (1) - (31) 5,161 4,779 372 - 44 (2) 5,193

Total social housing 
units owned 34,311 281 (283) (62) 19 34,266 34,741 43 (429) (54) 10 34,311

Total social housing 
units owned  
but not managed

952 - (14) (62) (5) 871 1,082 3 (120) - (13) 952

Total social housing 
units managed 38,552 281 (270)  - (7) 38,556 38,438 412 (309) (10) 21 38,552

Total social units 
owned and/or 
managed

39,427 39,504

Leasehold and  
freehold units 8,567 9,144

Non-social rental  
housing units 68 73

Total units owned  
and/or managed  
as at 31 March

48,062 48,721

As 
at 31 

March 
2021 

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2022

As 
at 31 

March 
2020

Units 
developed 

or newly 
built units 

acquired

Units 
sold/

demol-
ished

Transfers 
and acqui-

sitions (to)/
from other 

RPs

Other 
move-
ments

As 
at 31 

March 
2021

Social housing  
units owned  
and/or managed

    

General needs 20,400 42 (89)  - (179) 20,174 20,448 129 (169) (10) 2 20,400

Affordable  
rental tenure 2,417 150 (10)  - 111  2,668 2,344 84 (12) - 1 2,417

Supported housing 2,190 - (18) (62) 42  2,152 2,275 3 (86) - (2) 2,190

Shared ownership 3,778 89 (141)  - (7) 3,719 3,690 199 (112) - 1 3,778

Care homes 147  -  -  - (13)  134 190 - (43) - - 147

Other social  
housing units 988  -  -  - 35  1,023 996 - - - (8) 988

Total social housing 
units owned  
and/or managed 

29,920 281 (258) (62) (11)  29,870 29,943 415 (422) (10) (6) 29,920

Total social housing 
units managed  
but not owned

4,862  - -  - (30) 4,832 4,448 372 - 44 (2) 4,862

Total social housing 
units owned 25,058 281 (258) (62) 19  25,038 25,495 43 (422) (54) (4) 25,058

Total social housing 
units owned  
but not managed

924 - (14) (62) 3  845 1,046 3 (120) - (5) 924

Total social housing 
units managed 28,996 281 (244) (62) (8)  29,025 28,897 412 (302) (10) (1) 28,996

Total social units 
owned and/or 
managed

29,870        29,920

Leasehold and  
freehold units 6,844          7,341

Non-social rental  
housing units 68               73

Total units owned  
and/or managed  
as at 31 March

  36,782 37,334

5. Association housing units

1 On 7 July 2022, a contract with Partners for Improvement in Islington 2 Limited expired. Under the contract, the Group provided housing 
management services for 3,983 social housing properties owned by London Borough of Islington. In accordance with the agreement, 
properties under management transferred to London Borough of Islington four months prior to the expiration of the contract on 4 April 2022. 
With reference to note 4, the number of units in the line item “Total social housing units managed but not owned” therefore reduced by 3,983 
on this date. All of these units were managed by the Association. 
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6. Operating surplus

7. Surplus on disposal of property assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Operating surplus (all relating to continuing activities – included 
within operating costs) is stated after charging/(crediting):

Operating lease charges 3,777 3,684 3,064 2,972

Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT and including expenses):

   As auditors of the financial statements 355 297 182 175

   Other services provided 29 28 29 28

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Right to buy and acquire

Proceeds 4,265 1,574 1,776 565

Cost of sales (2,032) (820) (976) (216)

Total surplus 2,233 754 800 349

Staircasing

Proceeds 25,653 19,568 24,619 18,832

Cost of sales (13,467) (11,209) (12,884)    (10,776)

Total surplus 12,186 8,359 11,735 8,056

Other disposals

Proceeds 39,300 118,561 38,361 119,030

Cost of sales (18,725) (85,940) (18,517) (85,729)

Total surplus 20,575 32,621 19,844 33,301
 

34,994 41,734 32,379 41,706

Other disposals includes investment property disposals with a loss of £0.006m (2021: £0.006m loss). 

Other services related to service charges reporting. 

Investments in joint ventures: Joint ventures are accounted for in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102, Chapter 15 – Investments 
in joint ventures, in the consolidated financial statements, using the equity accounting method. Within the subsidiary undertaking’s individual 
financial statements in which the joint venture investment is held, the joint venture is accounted for as a fixed asset investment and shown at 
cost, less any impairment. The joint ventures that traded or were trading during the year are as follows:

Note 29 includes details of the Group’s share of capital commitments in the joint ventures. Note 32 includes a full list of all joint ventures, 
including those that are dormant. 

Joint venture entities

Packington Square LLP

Harrow View LLP

51 College Road LLP

Homes for the City of Brighton & Hove LLP 

Evera Homes LLP

Group interest

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

50% through Hyde Housing 
Association Limited

25% through Hyde Vale Limited

Group voting rights

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Housing 
Association Limited

25% through Hyde Vale Limited

Partner

Rydon

Barratt London

Barratt London

Brighton & Hove City Council 

Flagship Housing Development Limited 
Keystone Developments Limited 
CKH Development Limited

Packington 
Square LLP 

2022
£’000

Harrow  
View LLP 

 
2022

£’000

51 College  
Road LLP 

 
2022

£’000

Homes for the 
City of Brighton 

& Hove LLP 
2022

£’000

Evera  
Homes LLP 

 
2022

£’000

Total share  
of surplus 

2022
£’000

Removal of  
consolidated  

profits  
2022

£’000

Total  
consolidated  

share of surplus 
2022

£’000

Total  
consolidated  

share of surplus 
2021

£’000

Share of turnover - 16,358 - - 1,134 17,492 (11,421) 6,071 21,856

Share of costs of sales - (12,005) - - (1,117) (13,122) 8,097 (5,025) (18,349)

Share of operating cost - (1,245) (28) (217) (143) (1,633) 757 (876) (1,873)

Share of operating surplus/
(deficit) for the year - 3,108 (28) (217) (126) 2,737 (2,567) 170 1,634

9. Share of operating surplus and net assets in joint ventures

Packington 
Square LLP 

2022
£’000

Harrow  
View LLP 

 
2022

£’000

51 College  
Road LLP 

 
2022

£’000

Homes for the 
City of Brighton 

& Hove LLP 
2022

£’000

Evera  
Homes LLP 

 
2022

£’000

Total 
 
 

2022
£’000

Total 
 
 

2021
£’000

Share of net assets/ 
(liabilities) as at 1 April - 39,800 400 5,141 187 45,528 50,960

Share of net assets/
(liabilities) as at 31 March - 38,915 343 8,983 (64) 48,177 45,528

Following the publication of Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Technical Alert 16/14 BL, Gift Aid payments are 
treated as distributions of reserves. Distributions of reserves are shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

8. Distribution of reserves

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Distribution of reserves (Gift Aid payments to the Association) - - 4,886 8,442

10. Interest receivable

Interest receivable from other sources includes that received from joint ventures and dividend income from investments.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

From cash deposits 40 62 5 44

From other sources 1,025 1,750 472 1,296

From Group undertakings - - 2,361 2,389

Total interest receivable on financial assets not measured  
at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income

1,065 1,812 2,838 3,729

On financial derivative liabilities/assets at fair value  
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Fair value gains in respect of derivative financial instruments 35,290 43,980 27,945 25,148

Total interest receivable and similar income 36,355 45,792 30,783 28,877
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Interest is capitalised at a weighted average rate of 3.35% (2021: 3.18%). Other finance costs relate to commitment fees. Loan break costs – 
refinancing costs resulted from the debt restructure and one-off payments of finance/derivative breakage costs in 2021.

11. Interest and financing costs

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

On bank loans and overdrafts 54,537 58,372 32,207 36,040

Other finance costs 3,399 3,252 3,380 3,235

Due to Group undertakings - - 1,809 1,670

57,936 61,624 37,396 40,945

Less interest capitalised (7,155) (8,044) (3,396) (3,530)

Total interest payable on financial liabilities not measured at fair value 
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income 50,781 53,580 34,000 37,415

On financial liabilities/assets at fair value through  
the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Fair value losses in respect of derivative  
financial instruments

3,371 1,168 1,148 1,148

Pension costs 8 (162) 100 (48)

Total interest and finance costs 54,160 54,586 35,248 38,515

12. Taxation

Hyde Housing Association Limited and its subsidiaries (except 
for Hyde Vale Limited, Hyde New Build Limited and Brent  
Co-Efficient Limited), are exempt from Corporation Tax on  
the charitable activities they perform. Hyde Vale Limited’s 
principal activity is the development of property for outright  
sale on a commercial basis in support of the mixed tenure 
activities of the Group. Provisions for corporation tax liabilities 
have been made, to the extent that these liabilities are not 
mitigated by the distribution of profits back to Hyde Housing 
Association Limited to fund additional social housing units. 
Hyde New Build Limited’s principal activity is the design and 
build of property on behalf of the Group and its subsidiaries. 
Provisions for corporation tax liabilities have been made, to the 
extent that these liabilities are not mitigated by the distribution 
of profits back to Hyde Housing Association Limited to fund 
additional social housing units. Brent Co-Efficient Limited’s 
principal activity is the delivery of a PFI project. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability 
method on temporary differences arising between the tax base 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in the financial 
statements. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date 
and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is 
realised, or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. 
The Group does not recognise deferred tax assets/liabilities, as 
majority of profit are transferred to the Association via Gift Aid 
and does not expect future taxable profit to offset any deferred 
tax assets/liabilities. The Government announced that a main 
rate of corporation tax of 25% will be effective from 1 April 2023. 
This was substantively enacted on Royal Assent of the Finance 
Bill 2021 on 10 June 2021.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Current tax (253) 253 - -

Deferred tax - - - -

Adjustment for the prior period - (126) - -

Total tax charge/(credit) (253) 127 - -

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Reconciliation of total tax charge

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 106,092 (22,428) 63,120 (60,458)

Tax at 19% thereon: (2020: 19%) 20,157 (4,261) 11,993 (11,487)

Effects of:

Charitable income not chargeable to tax (7,727) (1,475) - - 

Charitable loss not deductible for tax - 11,488 (11,993) 11,500

Expenses disallowable for tax purposes (1,541) (3,574) - -

Trading losses carried forward (267) (296) - -

Disregard regulations adjustment on swaps 80 80 - -

Qualifying charitable donations (702) (1,696) - -

Prior year adjustment (253) (126) - -

Group relief - (13) - (13)

Total tax charge/(credit) (253) 127 - -

Additional financing costs:

Loan break costs – refinancing costs - 154,942 - 154,942
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GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
No.

2021
No.

2022
No.

2021
No.

FTEs 1,141 1,083       963         905

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Staff costs 2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Wages and salaries 49,903 47,041 43,699 41,024

Social security costs 5,088 4,743 4,490 4,158

Pension costs (note 34) 5,174 6,531 4,219 5,788

60,165 58,315 52,408 50,970

13. Employee information and costs

GROUP

The number of full time employees paid a basic salary (and any redundancy, bonus and 
performance related pay) in excess of £60,000 during the year, including pension costs

2022
FTE Nos.

2021
FTE Nos.

£60,000 - £69,999 66 53

£70,000 - £79,999 35 42

£80,000 - £89,999 18 14

£90,000 - £99,999 18 18

£100,000 - £109,999 11 7

£110,000 - £119,999 13 12

£120,000 - £129,999 6 4

£130,000 - £139,999 8 8

£140,000 - £149,999 5 6

£150,000 - £159,999 2 1

£160,000 - £169,999 2 2

£170,000 - £179,999 - -

£180,000 - £189,999 2 -

£190,000 - £199,999 - -

£200,000 - £209,999 - -

£210,000 - £219,999 - -

£220,000 - £229,999 1 2

£230,000 - £239,999 1 -

£240,000 - £249,999 - -

£250,000 - £259,999 - 1

£260,000 - £269,999 1 1

£270,000 - £279,999                                        1                        -

£280,000 - £289,999 - -

£290,000 - £299,999 1 -

£330,000 - £339,999 - 1

191 172

The average number of people employed (including Executive Directors but excluding non-executive Board members) expressed as Full 
Time Equivalent (FTEs), based on a 35 hour working week, during the year was:

Remuneration of non-executive board members was £129k (2021: £185k). Total remuneration of the key management personnel was 
£2,648k (2021: £2,445k). Remuneration to the highest paid Director was £297k (2021: £287k); no pension contributions were paid to this 
Director (2021: nil). No compensation for loss of office were paid during the year (2021: nil).

The Chief Executive Officer as at the year-end received no pension contributions in the year (2021: nil). During the year, the Interim Chief 
Executive Officer was a member of the Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Contribution Scheme and had no special terms or 
conditions with respect to their membership.

No assets were held under finance leases at 31 March 2022 and 2021. Group borrowings are secured with fixed charges on housing properties. 
Total expenditure on works to existing properties during the year amounted to Group: £35.7m, (2021: £29.2m) and Association: £23.9m (2021: 
£19.8m) of which Group: £30.2m (2021: £24.4m) and Association: £21.6m (2021: £18.1m) was capitalised. 

Accumulated impairment for the Group and Association at the year-end is £8.2m (2021: £1.9m), relating to 355 units (2021: 19 units).

14. Housing properties

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Housing  

properties  
held for  

letting

Housing  
properties  

under  
construction

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
properties

Shared  
ownership

under  
construction Total

Housing  
properties  

held for  
letting

Housing 
properties 

under  
construction

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
properties

Shared  
ownership 

under  
construction Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2021 2,850,000 158,949 342,315 31,730 3,382,994 2,316,822 131,032 321,069 28,484 2,797,407

Additions 30,068 45,330 (62) 44,656 119,992 23,121 46,295 (62) 44,894 114,248

Transfers to/from 
inventory - 82,631 - 11,559 94,190 - 4,988 - (4,332) 656

Disposals (14,590) - (12,580) - (27,170) (12,478) - (12,604) - (25,082)

Completions 13,315 (13,315) 16,866 (16,866) - 13,315 (13,315) 16,866 (16,866) -

As at 31 March 2022 2,878,793 273,595 346,539 71,079 3,570,006 2,340,780 169,000 325,269 52,180 2,887,229

Accumulated 
depreciation  
and impairment 

As at 1 April 2021 (360,462) - (14,899) 411 (374,950) (295,212) - (14,351) 411 (309,152)

Tenure conversions - - - - - - - - - -

Depreciation charge  
for the year (35,016) - (12) - (35,028) (28,021) - (18) - (28,039)

Impairment charge  
for the year - (3,599) - (2,681) (6,280) - (2,807) - (1,696) (4,503)

Disposals 4,380 - 562 - 4,942 3,759 - 546 - 4,305

As at 31 March 2022 (391,098) (3,599) (14,349) (2,270) (411,316) (319,474) (2,807) (13,823) (1,285) (337,389)

Net book value

As at 31 March 2022 2,487,695 269,996 332,190 68,809 3,158,690 2,021,306 166,193 311,446 50,895 2,549,840

As at 31 March 2021 2,489,538 158,949 327,416 32,141 3,008,044 2,021,610 131,032 306,718 28,895 2,488,255
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14. Housing properties (continued)

15. Intangible fixed assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION
£’000 £’000

Cost

As at 1 April 2021 2,236 2,236

Additions 7,663 7,663

Disposals (574) (574)

As at 31 March 2022 9,325 9,325

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 April 2021 (570) (570)

Charge for the year (293) (293)

Disposals 574 574

As at 31 March 2022 (289) (289)

Net book value as at 31 March 2022 9,036 9,036

Net book value as at 31 March 2021 1,666 1,666

Impairment
Defining level of Cash Generating Unit (CGU)

For housing properties which are developed and held in accordance 
with scheme appraisals, the CGU is determined to be an individual 
scheme. A scheme is defined as all units of the same tenure within one 
area or estate. No impairment indicators were identified for housing 
property schemes meeting this CGU definition.  

During 2021/22, management’s plans and intentions with respect to 
seven sites in development across twelve phases and 35 schemes 
are under consideration. For these sites, management are actively 
considering options to sell the developments to another register 
provider. As part of these considerations the pricing for these sites 
are being negotiated by phase, with schemes within each phase lotted 
together in the pricing negotiations. It is therefore judged the CGU of 
these sites is an individual phase, as opposed to individual schemes. 
Aside from these sites, no impairment indicators were identified for any 
other housing properties.

Estimation technique to measure recoverable amount

Recoverable amount was measured for the twelve phases with 
impairment indicators. As part of the negotiations involved in 
considering the sale of these sites, a third party is providing pricing 
estimates. Management’s judgement is that the best information to 
inform recoverable amount is the pricing estimates from the third 
party with pricing adjustments for known factors likely to impact the 
most recent pricing estimates at the year-end. Pricing estimates and 
sensitivities were therefore adjusted for the following factors:
 • Adjusting grant recycling assumptions 
 • Share of selling costs between the Group and the buyer
 • Aligning rent increase and cost inflation assumptions to the 

Group’s Financial Plan 
 • Variations in pricing based on the timing of sales taking place

These pricing estimates and sensitivities reduced the fair value less 
costs to sell by 8.4%. 

Once recoverable amount was estimated, this was allocated to 
each site to determine the impairment charge allocation between 
housing properties under construction and shared ownership under 
construction. For the year ended 31 March 2022, an impairment 
charge of £6.3m (2020/21: nil) was incurred. This related to sites in 
development to build 336 units). 

Shared ownership first tranche and retained equity allocation 
Housing properties include completed shared ownership properties 
where the first tranche has been sold or where the first tranche 
element is due to be sold. Where the first tranche element is due to be 
sold, the housing property element is calculated on the basis of the 
historical percentage unsold. Rental income is collected on the unsold 
element of shared ownership properties. When shared ownership 
properties within housing properties are sold, either in entirety or a 
proportion, this is called staircasing. Staircasing sales are recognised 
within surplus on disposal of property assets (note 7). Also included 

in housing properties are incomplete shared ownership properties 
which are under construction. The element included in housing 
properties is the portion that is not expected to be sold. 

The first tranche element of shared ownership properties is held 
within inventories; this is calculated on the basis of the historical 
average percentage expected to be sold (note 23). Sales of first 
tranche shared ownership properties are recognised in operating 
surplus (note 3).

All intangible assets are acquired separately. Amortisation is recognised within operating expenditure in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Intangible assets consist of completed software and IT infrastructure.

16. Other fixed assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Freehold 
office

Furniture, 
equipment 

and vehicles
Leasehold 

property
Project 

costs
Total other 

fixed assets
Freehold 

office

Furniture, 
equipment 

and vehicles
Leasehold 

property
Project 

costs
Total other 

fixed assets

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2021 6,342 25,871 2,124 1,383 35,720 2,173 24,979 1,999 1,382 30,533

Additions - 1,336 - - 1,336 - 1,337 - - 1,337

Transfers - 926 - (926) - - 926 - (926) -

Disposals/written off -  - - (450) (450) - - - (450) (450)

As at 31 March 2022 6,342 28,133 2,124 7 36,606 2,173 27,242 1,999 6 31,420

Accumulated depreciation      

As at 1 April 2021 (662) (15,208) (1,087) - (16,957) (380) (14,903) (1,088) - (16,371)

Charge for the year (47) (5,888) (106) - (6,041) (22) (5,844) (106) - (5,972)

As at 31 March 2022 (709) (21,096) (1,193) - (22,998) (402) (20,747) (1,194) - (22,343)

Net book value      

As at 31 March 2022 5,633 7,037 931 8 13,608 1,771 6,495 805 6 9,077

As at 31 March 2021 5,680 10,663 1,037 1,383 18,763 1,793 10,076 911 1,382 14,162

17. Derivative financial instruments: assets due after more than one year

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Derivative financial instruments 
expiring greater than one year 
(note 35)

11,886 6,186 11,886 6,186
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Investment properties are initially recognised at cost, which 
includes purchase cost and any attributable expenditure. Investment 
properties are valued and subsequently measured at fair value with 
any surplus/(deficit) recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Investment properties are those which are not held for 
social benefit and where a reliable fair value is available. This 
includes properties held for commercial rental income, such as 
offices and shops that are not community facilities, and market 
rental income. Investment properties are valued by Jones Lang 
Salle, an independent valuer with relevant qualifications and 
experience of the location and tenure of the investment property 
portfolio. The valuation has been prepared in accordance with 

the RICS Valuation – Global Standards, incorporating the IVS, and 
the RICS Valuation – Global Standards – UK National Supplement 
published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (commonly 
known as the “Red Book”).

These valuations are based on input factors such as rent 
charged and market observations. Management’s view is that 
the commercial rental income should remain constant over the 
upcoming period, and that a variation in market rental income 
should not cause a material impact on our valuations.

The valuation methods and key assumptions applied are 
summarised as follows:

Tenure Methodology/assumptions

Commercial Passing rent capitalisation

Market residential Market value subject to tenancies, average vacant possession discount of 87.5% 

18. Investment properties

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2022

£’000
2021

£’000
2022

£’000
2021

£’000

As at 1 April 22,703 22,132 22,628 22,092

Additions - 46 - 46

Revaluation 494 525 494 490

Disposals (290) - (290) -

As at 31 March 22,907 22,703 22,832 22,628

Investment properties include accumulated fair value gains of £13.7m (2021: £13.2m).

19. Investments

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Charitable 
investments Easybuy

Other  
investments Total

Charitable 
investments Easybuy

Other  
investments

Investments in 
subsidiaries Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2021 10,882 651 3,907 15,440 172 651 6,160 19,550 26,533

Additions - - - - - - 4,066 - 4,066

Revaluation 616 (4) - 612 20 (4) - - 16

Other movements - 15 (163) (148) - 15 - - 15

Return of capital - - (479) (479) - - (479) - (479)

As at 31 March 2022 11,498 662 3,265 15,425 192 662 9,747 19,550 30,151
  662        

As at 1 April 2020 8,951 712 1,497 11,160 139 712 2,780 12,050 15,681

Additions - - 2,924 2,924 - - 3,869 7,500 11,369

Other movements 33 (70) (25) (62) - (70) - - (70)

Revaluations 1,898 17 - 1,915 33 17 - - 50

Disposals - (8) - (8) - (8) - - (8)

Return of capital - - (489) (489) - - (489) - (489)

As at 31 March 2021 10,882 651 3,907 15,440 172 651 6,160 19,550 26,533

At 31 March 2022, the majority of charity investments were held 
with the Charities Official Investment Fund (COIF) (£6.3m) and JM 
Finn investment fund (£5.0m). As at the COIF accounting date (31 
December 2021) 87% was assessed at fair value level 1, 8% level 2 
and 6% level 3. The JM Finn portfolio is assessed at fair value level 1, 
using the unadjusted stock market quoted price. The Easybuy financial 
asset receivables largely have repayment dates that vary and variable 
repayment amounts, provided as part of the sales transactions and are 
secured by a second legal charge on the related property. The assets 
are recorded at fair value, being the estimated future receivable by the 
Group, discounted back to present values. The fair value of the future 
anticipated receipts takes into account management’s view of future 
house price movements, the expected timing of receipts and credit risk. 

These assumptions are reviewed at the end of each financial reporting 
period. The difference between the anticipated future receipt and 
the initial fair value is credited to income with the financial asset 

increasing to its full expected cash settlement value on the anticipated 
receipt date. Credit risk is accounted for in determining fair values and 
appropriate discount rates are applied.

Other investments in Group are mostly held with the Islington Private 
Finance Initiative (PFI). The Islington PFI is the Group’s investment in 
the provision of social housing in conjunction with the London Borough 
of Islington. Within the Association this figure also include the joint 
venture investment in Homes for the City of Brighton & Hove LLP. 
Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, 
on consolidation in Group only. The investment in Homes for the City of 
Brighton & Hove LLP is recognised at cost. The addition during the year 
relates to the Group’s investment in the new entity, Halesworth Limited. 

Investment in subsidiaries and related undertakings are measured at 
cost less any impairment. No impairment of subsidiaries and related 
undertakings was recognised in 2022 or 2021.

Stock transfers represent stock improvement undertaken for 
leaseholders under the Large Scale Voluntary Stock Transfers. This is 
amortised over 30 years, in line with the benefits received from the stock 
improvements. This stock transfer represents the works performed on 
the properties at Stonebridge, for which there are 18 years remaining.

Included within loans to Group undertakings is the amount due from 
BCE for the PFI scheme. This represents the residual value of the 
properties constructed under the agreement with the London Borough 
of Brent. Loans to Group undertakings include unsecured loans at rates 
of interest varying from LIBOR + 5.5% to 10%, and are due for repayment 
in instalments with final repayment due in November 2029.

20. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2022

£’000
2021

£’000
2022

£’000
2021

£’000

Service charge debtors 5,749 6,518 5,570 6,200

Stock transfers 14,792 15,409 5,414 5,414

Loans to Group undertakings - - 37,346 37,681

Loans to joint ventures 3,750 4,250 - -

Other - 122 - -

24,291 26,299 48,330 49,295
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Inventories consists of first tranche shared ownership and outright sale assets under construction or completed which are intended for sale. 
The Group amount includes schemes which have been transferred from the Association into Hyde Vale Limited, a member of the Group, which 
is developing these assets for outright sale. There have been no net realisable value write-downs of inventories during the year (2021: nil).

21. Inventories

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2022

£’000
2021

£’000
2022

£’000
2021

£’000

Repairs material 70 97 - -

Shared ownership first tranche under construction 34,384 57,586 24,846 29,381

Shared ownership first tranche held for resale 3,153 8,927 3,153 8,508

Outright sale under construction 54,394 133,214 5,695 15,281

Outright sale held for resale 5,583 7,757 - -

97,584 207,581 33,697 53,170

22. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

23. Cash and cash equivalents

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Rental and service charge debtors 18,838 19,540 11,743 12,684

Provision for doubtful debts (8,343) (11,246) (6,347) (8,532)

10,495 8,294 5,396 4,152

Social housing grant receivable - - - -

Prepayments and accrued income 10,787 10,401 10,721 10,246

Amounts due from Group undertakings - - 3,527 12,799

Other debtors 18,778 24,141 12,654 18,382

40,060 42,836 32,298 45,579

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Unrestricted cash 100,605 132,792 25,454 63,865

Restricted cash 19,822 29,594 14,473 13,676

120,427 162,386 39,927 77,541

Amounts due from Group undertakings represent intercompany balances which are unsecured, interest free and are settled throughout the 
year. Other debtors include receivables associated with other operational activities of the Group/Association. The provision for doubtful 
debts has been calculated using historical data including collection rates and arrears aging for current and former tenants. 

Restricted cash of £14.5m (2021: £13.7m) is held within the Association for leaseholder sinking funds. 

Restricted cash of £4.9m (2021: £10.8m) relates to Brent Co-Efficient Limited, where the restricted funds are ring fenced for expenditure on 
the Brent PFI contract. The restricted funds are used to settle the Group/Association’s liabilities. All payments and transfers from these bank 
accounts have to be approved by the syndicate agent, Barclays. 

Restricted cash of £0.3m (2021: £0.3m) is held in Martlet Homes Limited, as leaseholder sinking funds. Restricted funds of £0.1m (2021: £0.1m) 
is held in Hyde Charitable Trust Limited for specific charitable purposes.

24. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

25. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Notes
2022

£’000
2021

£’000
2022

£’000
2021

£’000

Loans 25 11,040 3,151 9,653 1,816

Loan interest accrual 8,931 9,302 3,809 3,547

Rent in advance 11,944 11,701 8,429 8,178

Development accruals 13,704 8,419 563 1,764

Trade creditors 4,937 16,598 3,851 11,679

Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 11,178 11,457

Taxation and social security costs 5,326 1,794 1,734 3,205

Pension contributions due 573 528 573 528

Other creditors and accruals 30,546 29,602 20,102 20,152

87,001 81,095 59,892 62,326

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Social housing and other grants 1,120,572 1,117,969 1,064,016 1,060,017

Bonds1 936,739 936,772 543,147 543,428

Loans2 586,179 658,791 397,037 468,371

Intercompany loans - - 76,280 46,175

Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 125,089 126,027

Other long-term creditors 25,551 28,487 25,235 28,621

2,669,041 2,742,019 2,230,804 2,272,639

Amounts due to Group undertakings represent intercompany balances which are unsecured interest free and settled throughout the year. 

1 The debt reserve set off against the Haven bond is classified as an asset available for sale within one year and held at fair value. See note below.
2 Includes directly attributable transaction costs adjusted against the loans and amortised over the tenure of the loans.

Amounts due to Group undertakings within the Association represent an intercompany finance debtor the Association holds with Brent  
Co-Efficient Limited. Brent Co-Efficient Limited receives payments from the London Borough of Brent in return for the construction of 364 
general needs units and 20 care properties and for the management of these properties. The 20 care properties are owned by the London 
Borough of Brent. The ownership of the 364 properties is with the parent, the Association. However, the ownership of the 364 properties is 
conditional upon payment of the Intercompany Finance debtor balance by the Association to Brent Co-Efficient Limited at the end of the project 
as defined in residual value agreement. Therefore the balance is an intercompany balance and shown as a creditor for the Association.
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25. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Loans and bonds

Between one and two years 11,095 41,249 9,653 39,861

Between two and five years 87,689 116,907 83,014 112,409

More than five years 501,498 508,046 315,633 322,746

Bonds

More than five years 936,739 944,919 543,147 549,318

1,537,021 1,611,121 951,447 1,024,334

Loan costs (14,103) (15,558) (11,263) (12,535)

1,522,918 1,595,563 940,184 1,011,799

Less than one year 11,040 3,151 9,653 1,816

1,533,958 1,598,714 949,837 1,013,615

GROUP ASSOCIATION

 Social housing and other grants £’000 £’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2021 1,288,644 1,218,632

Received 19,769 19,769

Transfer from RCGF drawdown 1,047 1,047

Other transfers (285) 307

Transfer to RCGF recycle (7,402) (7,402)

As at 31 March 2022 1,301,773 1,232,353

Amortisation (contingent grant)

At 1 April 2021 (170,675) (158,615)

Amortisation in year (11,998) (11,164)

Disposed 1,472 1,442

As at 31 March 2022 (181,201) (168,337)

 Balance as at 31 March 2022 1,120,572 1,064,016

 Balance as at 31 March 2021 1,117,969 1,060,017

Contingent grants relate to social housing grant balances that were transferred to the Group as a part of some stock swaps. A liability will be 
realised in Recycled Capital Grant Fund if units from these stock swaps are sold in the future. Contingent grant is disclosed in note 31.

The maturity of the loan balances presented in creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year and less than one year are 
presented below:

Group loans and bonds are secured by fixed charges on  
housing properties.

Loans are at rates of interest varying from 1.0% to 6.6%. The 
average interest rate on borrowings held at year end was 3.35% 
(2021: 3.18%). The Group’s interest rate risk management policy is 
designed to reduce volatility in cash flows and earnings. The size 
and maturity of debt is matched and hedged using a combination 
of various interest rate hedge instruments, primarily vanilla interest 
rate swaps, cancellable swaps, RPI swaps and interest rate caps. 
Group policy is to maintain minimum and maximum thresholds 

of fixed to floating rate debt (after allowing for the impact of its 
interest rate swaps) of 70%-95%. The loans and bonds repayable 
by bullet payments were £1,243m (2021: £1,312m). The group 
amended external loans to move from LIBOR to SONIA following 
interest rate benchmark reforms. As a result of these reforms the 
effective interest rate was adjusted resulting in no immediate gain 
or loss. Intercompany loans are expected to be moved from LIBOR 
to SONIA by the end of the 2022/23 financial year.

Further information is provided in note 35. 

25. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

26. Derivative financial instruments: liabilities

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2022

£’000
2021

£’000
2022

£’000
2021

£’000

Debt reserve

Balance at 1 April 8,045 9,523 8,045 9,523

Cash movement/deposit (7,355) (1,000) (7,355) (1,000)

Unrealised gain during the year - (478) - (478)

690 8,045 690 8,045

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Liabilities on derivative financial  
instruments expiring in more than one year 75,348 101,629 45,079 66,237

27. Recycled capital grant fund

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Greater London 
Authority

2022
£’000

Homes  
England

2022
£’000

Total 

2022
£’000

Greater London 
Authority

2022
£’000

Homes  
England

2022
£’000

Total 

2022
£’000

At start of the year 16,968 17,717 34,685 16,871 17,370 34,241

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled 3,096 2,777 5,873 3,079 2,628 5,707

Interest accrued 38 39 77 38 39 77

Recycling of grant:

New build - (1,047) (1,047) - (1,047) (1,047)

20,102 19,486 39,588 19,988 18,990 38,978
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27. Recycled capital grant fund (continued)

Amounts due for repayment were £nil (2021: £nil). The Recycled Capital Grant Fund (RCGF) arises from grant recovery on all other sales of 
properties originally funded by Social Housing Grant. In accordance with the funding authorities’ requirements, such proceeds are credited 
to the fund and together with accrued interest must be used to provide replacement properties. There is a time limit of three years, within 
which the Group/Association must use the proceeds. No amounts are due greater than three years.

GROUP ASSOCIATION
Greater London 

Authority
2021

£’000

Homes  
England

2021
£’000

Total 

2021
£’000

Greater London 
Authority

2021
£’000

Homes  
England

2021
£’000

Total 

2021
£’000

At start of the year 25,591 16,708 42,299 25,502 16,430 41,932

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled 5,355 1,902 7,257 5,347 1,833 7,180

Inter group transfer 282 - 282 282 - 282

Transfer from DPF 168 - 168 168 - 168

Other 9,556 - 9,556 9,556 - 9,556

Interest accrued 24 16 40 24 16 40

Recycling of grant:

New build (14,452) (909) (15,361) (14,452) (909) (15,361)

Other – allocation of grant (9,556) - (9,556)                   (9,556) - (9,556)

16,968 17,717 34,685 16,871 17,370 34,241

28. Provisions for liabilities and charges

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Dilapidations
Legal 

claims
Onerous 

Lease
Building 

safety Total Dilapidations
Legal 

claims
Onerous 

Lease
Building 

safety Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 April 2021 1,121 1,522 204 14,816 17,663 1,115 1,525 204 14,814 17,658

Additions 368 498 - 5,022 5,888 368 495 - 5,022 5,885

Utilisation - - - (4,612) (4,612) - - - (4,609) (4,609)

Release of provision - - (204) - (204) - - (204) - (204)

Balance as at 31 March 2022 1,489 2,020 - 15,226 18,735 1,483 2,020 - 15,227 18,730

Balance as at 1 April 2020 1,213 1,417 204 19,566 22,400 1,213 1,417 204 19,032 21,866

Additions 57 362 - 1,396 1,815 58 365 - 1,394 1,817

Utilisation - - - (6,146) (6,146) - - - (5,612) (5,612)

Release of provision (149) (257) - - (406) (156) (257) - - (413)

Balance as at 31 March 2021 1,121 1,522 204 14,816 17,663 1,115 1,525 204 14,814 17,658

Dilapidations provisions are included for all leased properties 
where the contract requires the Group to return the property to its 
original condition at the end of the lease and are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income within operating costs. Legal 
claim provisions are included for claims brought against the Group 
and are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income within 
operating costs. 

The Group/Association closely monitors Government guidance in 
respect of combustible materials and building safety regulatory 
compliance to determine the nature and extent of any remedial 
work required to its housing properties. At the year-end, 
remediation work was ongoing for certain housing properties. 
There are a number of complexities involved in determining the 
remedial work required and the associated costs. As such, this 
provision represents the Group/Association’s best estimate of 
these costs at the year-end. Management will continue to assess 
the magnitude and utilisation of this provision in future financial 
reporting periods in line with the evolving guidelines.

29. Capital commitments

The commitments relate to the build of housing properties from the period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2025. There are no performance-related 
conditions attached to the commitments. For the Group, the commitments are expected to be funded by a combination of property sales, debt 
financing, funding from partners and social housing grant. The Group/Association regularly monitors its funding sources and considering its 
liquidity position, expects to be able to satisfy these commitments.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements 35,120 202,032 35,100 157,100

Capital expenditure contracted for by joint venture entities 44,399 35,804 - -

Total capital expenditure contracted for 79,518 237,836 35,100 157,100

Capital expenditure authorised by the Board but not contracted for 207,059 71,280 537 66,182

Total capital expenditure either contracted or authorised by the Board but not contracted for 286,577 309,116 35,637 223,282

30. Operating leases

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Not later than one year 3,787 3,786 3,269 3,265

Later than one year but not later than five years 12,758 13,789 12,032 12,543

Later than five years 3,998 6,568 3,998 6,568

20,543 24,143 19,299 22,376

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for the Group/Association as a lessee:

The operating leases above relate to office properties, company vehicles, electronic equipment and white goods. 

Certain social housing properties of the Group are held under operating leases and are tenanted under cancellable operating lease 
conditions. Typical tenant break clauses exist requiring a notice period of a month. Rents fluctuate in accordance with the Rent Standard 
and are affected by the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016. Shared ownership properties may be purchased (staircased) by the leaseholder 
at any time at the pro-rata market rate. Ongoing lease payments will be adjusted according to the share of ownership retained by the Group. 
Certain properties are available to purchase via right to buy by the existing tenant. Shared ownership property purchases and those by rent to 
buy may reduce the future lease payments

31. Contingencies

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2022

£’000
2021

£’000
2022

£’000
2021

£’000

Government funding received 1,301,773 1,288,644 1,232,353 1,218,632

Grants amortised to date (contingent liabilities) (181,201) (170,675) (168,337) (158,615)

Net grant (note 25) 1,120,572 1,117,969 1,064,016 1,060,017

On 14 July 2022, the High Court  handed down a judgement in favour 
of Martlet Homes Limited relating to a contractor who fitted defective 
cladding to one our buildings. A future hearing will be held whereby the 
Court will provide the financial order associated with the decision. Until 
this future judgement takes place, it is not possible to provide a reliable 
estimate to recognise any amounts in the financial statements, or to 
disclose the financial value of any contingent assets. 

The Group receives financial assistance from the HCA and GLA. 
These government grants are accounted for as deferred income in 

the Statement of Financial Position and are amortised annually to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, based on the life of the build 
structure which is 100 years. The amount amortised represents a 
contingent liability to the entity and will be recognised as a liability when 
the associated properties funded by the relevant government grant are 
either disposed of or cease to be used for social housing purposes.

Below is the analysis of the assistance from government sources in the 
form of government grants:
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32. Related parties

Related undertaking name Principal Activity Interest Legal status

Martlet Homes Limited Registered provider of social housing based in Chichester Wholly owned subsidiary Community Benefit Society

Hyde Southbank Homes Limited Registered provider of social housing based in South London Wholly owned subsidiary Community Benefit Society

Hillside Housing Trust Limited (PRP) Registered provider of social housing based in South London Wholly owned subsidiary Community Benefit Society

Hyde Vale Limited Development and investment company Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Brent Co-Efficient Limited A Special purpose vehicle to deliver a PFI project  
in the London Borough of Brent

Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde New Build Limited Design and build company Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Charitable Trust A charity that supports Hyde’s residents and communities Wholly owned subsidiary Charity and Limited Company

One Preston Park LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Brighton 87% owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

The Kent Homebuilding  
Partnership LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Kent Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

London Homebuilding  
Partnership LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale housing in London Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

Bilsham Road LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in West Sussex Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Liability Partnership 

Mount Anvil Regeneration LLP1 A partnership building social and outright sale housing in London 50% joint venture Limited Liability Partnership 

51 College Road LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Harrow 50% joint venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Harrow View LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Harrow 50% joint venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Evera Homes LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing  
in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

25% joint venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Greenwich Partnership LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing in Greenwich 50% joint venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Packington Square LLP A partnership building social and outright sale housing  
on the Packington Estate

50% joint venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Homes for the City of  
Brighton & Hove LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale housing  
in Brighton and Hove

50% joint venture Limited Liability Partnership 

Homes for the City of Brighton & Hove 
Design and Build Company Ltd

A partnership building social and outright sale housing  
in Brighton and Hove

50% joint venture Limited Company 

Rochester Riverside  
Managing Agent Limited

A company undertaking managing agent activities within Rochester Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

New England Square  
Management Ltd1

To manage the public square that forms part of a development  
in Brighton

51% owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Investment Holdco Limited A limited company for holding investments for the Group Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Halesworth Limited1 A limited company for providing housing activities2 Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Investment Leibniz Limited A limited company for holding investments for the Group Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Devco 1 Ltd1 A limited company to provide development and construction services Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Devco 2 Ltd1 A limited company to provide development and construction services Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Holdco Ltd1 A limited company for the management of real estate Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Manco Ltd1 A limited company for the management of real estate Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company 

Hyde Devmanco Ltd1 A limited company to provide development services  
and the management of real estate

Wholly owned subsidiary Limited Company

All the above entities are included within the consolidation. Where the entity is a joint venture, this is included in the consolidation using the equity method at 
the Group level. Hyde Vale Limited also has a joint operation arrangement with Countryside PLC for developments in Rochester.

32. Related parties (continued)

Intra-group transactions between Hyde Housing Association Limited and its non-regulated subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Loan
2022

£’000

Interest
2022

£’000

Total
2022

£’000

Loan
2021

£’000

Interest
2021

£’000

Total
2021

£’000

Loans from Hyde Housing Association

Brent Co-Efficient Limited 37,169 3,469 40,638 37,318 2,389 39,707

Total 37,169 3,469 40,638 37,318 2,389 39,707

Loans to Hyde Housing Association Limited

Martlet Homes Limited 76,333 1,704 78,037 46,176 1,670 47,845

Other transactions

Hyde New Build Limited for sales and construction services - - 41,504 - - 43,982

Hyde Housing Association Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Contributions - - 2,202 1,844

Recharges to subsidiaries and related undertakings - - 677 - - 6,674

Total Gift Aid received from Hyde New Build Limited,  
Hyde Vale Limited and PRS Company Limited

- - 4,886 - - 8,442

Intra-group transactions between Hyde Housing Association Limited and its non-regulated joint ventures are summarised as follows:

1 Includes a balance of £6,289k included in creditors

1 Entitles are dormant 
2 Entity was registered with Regulator of Social Housing on 7 July 2022 and became a for-profit registered provider 

GROUP ASSOCIATION
2022

£’000
2021

£’000
2022

£’000
2021

£’000

Purchase of housing properties 

Harrow View LLP1 13,479 3,094 3,094

Investments

Homes for the City of Brighton & Hove LLP 9,171 5,342 5,342
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32. Related parties (continued)

All the above entities are included within the consolidation. Where the entity is a joint venture, this is included in the consolidation using the equity method at 
the Group level. Hyde Vale Limited also has a joint operation arrangement with Countryside PLC for developments in Rochester.

33. Payments to creditors

The Group/Association has a policy of paying suppliers within agreed payment terms. Subject to resolution of any 
queries or discrepancies on specific invoices, the usual policy is to pay creditors within 30 days.

Certain Board and committee members, acting in their 
capacity as tenant representatives, may be tenants of 
Group entities. Such tenancies are granted on the same 
terms and conditions and managed on the same basis 
as other tenants of the Group. Jan Durbridge is a Hyde 
Housing Association Limited tenant who sits on the 
board of Martlet Homes Limited, Hyde Southbank Homes 
and Hillside Housing Trust as a Non-Executive Director. 
The rent she paid was £5,397 (2021: £4,601). Stella 
Young is also a tenant of the Hyde Housing Association 
Limited and joined the board of Hyde Southbank Homes 
Limited, Martlet Homes Limited and Hillside Housing 
Trust on 12 September 2019. The rent she paid was 
£7,683 (the period to 31 March 2021 was £4,591).

Homes England is a related party due to Key 
Management Personnel of the Group and Homes 
England who are close family members. During 
the year, social housing grant was received from 
Homes England of £14.9m (2021: £8.8m). Amounts 
were received as part of the Homes England grant 
programmes in accordance with the prescribed terms 
and the Capital Funding Guide. These transactions were 
made on an arm’s length basis. There are no additional, 
specific, or special terms and conditions attached to 
these transactions.

The Group has robust declarations of interest 
procedures in place to ensure conflicts, perceived 
or actual, are appropriately managed. These are 
discussed with other parties, including but not limited 
to those disclosed as related parties. No members 
of staff, designated as key management personnel 
or otherwise, have delegated authority with regard 

to the entering into transactions with related parties. 
Where any actual or perceived conflicts are identified, 
appropriate safeguards are put in place. These include 
any individuals identified as actual or potential related 
parties to be removed from key decisions, and/
or ensuring additional oversight by independence 
governance arrangements.

In addition to the required related party disclosure, the 
other relationships exist which do not meet the definition 
and disclosure requirements of related parties. 

Peter Denton was the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Group up to 30 June 2021. From 1 July 2021, Peter 
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of Homes 
England. Appropriate safeguards were in place once 
this relationship was known, which included Peter not 
partaking in any management decisions which had 
actual or perceived connection with Homes England.

Alan Collett was the Chair of the Group Board up to 
5 October 2021. Alan was a non-executive director 
of M&G RFP GP Limited. The Group entered into 
transactions in the prior year with another entity in the 
M&G plc group, M&G UK Shared Ownership Limited. 
These two entities are separate discretionary funds 
and does not give rise to a related party relationship. 
Additionally, Alan did not partake in any decisions which 
had any actual or perceived connection with M&G plc 
group entities.

34. Pension schemes 

The pensions of employees of the Hyde Group are administered through three schemes which provide defined 
benefits relating to pay and service and a fourth scheme which is a defined contribution scheme.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Contributions by employer:

Defined benefit schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 2,202 1,844 2,202 1,844

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund 359 361 - -

The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme 493 484 493 484

Defined contribution schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Contribution Scheme 3,681 3,369 3,326 3,044

6,735 6,058 6,021 5,372

Net interest expense:

Defined benefit schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme (32) 91 (32) 91

The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme (68) (43) (68) (43)

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund 92 114 - -

(8) 162 (100) 48

Defined benefit schemes
Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit 
Pension Scheme (HHALPAS) - Hyde Housing 
Association Limited operates a funded defined benefit 
scheme that closed to new members on 1 July 2004 
and to future accrual on 31 October 2018. All new 
employees since 1 July 2004 have been given the option 
to join a defined contribution scheme. From 1 April 2007 
until closure to future accrual, member benefits in the 
defined benefit scheme were based on Career Average 
Related Earnings (CARE), rather than Final Pensionable 
Salary. The pension deficit and associated recovery 
plan are determined in accordance with the advice of 
professionally-qualified consulting actuaries with the 
latest actuarial valuation being undertaken as at 31 
March 2019. A new four-year recovery plan was agreed 
after the 2019/20 year-end, based on the position as at 
31 March 2019, with the remaining deficit contributions 
of £2.995m due in 2022/23.

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund (WSCCPF) -  
Martlet Homes Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, is 
an admitted member of the WSCCPF. Contributions 
are made to the WSCCPF, which is administered by 
Hampshire County Council. It is a defined benefit 
pension scheme providing benefits held separately from 
the assets of the Group. 

Pension contributions during 2021/21 were determined 
in accordance with the advice of professionally-
qualified consulting actuaries based on the most recent 
full actuarial valuation made as at 31 March 2019. 
Contributions of 23.9% are payable from 1 April 2022 
until 31 March 2023.
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34. Pension schemes (continued)

HHALPAS SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 31 March 2022

Contributions by employer 2,202 493 2,695 341 3,036

Administrative costs (809) - (809) (730) (1,539)

Interest income/(expense) (32) (68) (100) 92 (8)

Total credit/(cost) recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income 1,361 425 1,786 (297) 1,489

As at 31 March 2021

Contributions by employer 1,844 484 2,328 361 2,689

Administrative costs (726) - (726) (536) (1,262)

Interest income/(expense) 91 (43) 48 114 162

Total credit/(cost) recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income 1,209 441 1,650 (61) 1,589 

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income with respect to the defined benefit schemes 
are as follows:

34. Pension schemes (continued)

HHALPAS SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Net asset/(liability) in the Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2021 (2,613) (2,793) (5,406) 4,767 (639)

Present value of defined benefit obligations (101,015) (17,738) (118,753) (50,673) (169,426)

Fair value of fund assets 110,717 15,140 125,857 57,520 183,377

Net asset/(liability) in the Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2022 9,702 (2,598) 7,104 6,847 13,951

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit obligation as at 1 April 2021 107,928 18,124 126,052 53,843 179,895

Current service cost - - - 730 730

Administrative costs 809 - 809 - 809

Cessation - - - - -

Interest cost 2,247 393 2,640 1,074 3,714

Contributions by members - - - 104 104

Actuarial gain/(loss) (7,279) (281) (7,560) (4,005) (11,565)

Benefits paid (2,690) (498) (3,188) (1,073) (4,261)

Closing defined benefit obligation as at 31 March 2022 101,015 17,738 118,753 50,673 169,426

Movements in fair value of plan assets

Opening fair value of employer assets as at 1 April 2021 105,315 15,331 120,646 58,610 179,256

Interest on plan assets 2,215 325 2,540 1,166 3,706

Contributions by members - - - 104 104

Contributions by employer 2,202 493 2,695 341 3,036

Actuarial gains/(loss) 3,675 (511) 3,164 (1,628) 1,536

Benefits paid (2,690) (498) (3,188) (1,073) (4,261)

Closing fair value of scheme assets as at 31 March 2022 110,717 15,140 125,857 57,520 183,377

A summary of the movement in pension assets and liabilities for the Group’s defined benefit pension funds is 
shown below:

A summary of the actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes is shown below:

HHALPAS SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation

Actuarial gain/(loss) 7,279 281 7,560 4,005 11,565

Movements in fair value of fund assets

Actuarial gain/(loss) 3,675 (511) 3,164 (1,628) 1,536

Net actuarial movements at 31 March 2022 10,954 (230) 10,724 2,377 13,101

Defined benefit schemes (continued)
The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme 
(SHPS) - Hyde participates in SHPS (the Scheme) which 
is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. Employer 
participation in the Scheme is subject to adherence 
with the employer responsibilities and obligations as 
set out in the ‘SHPS House Policies and Rules Employer 
Guide’. The scheme operated a single benefit structure, 
final salary with a 1/60th accrual rate until 31 March 
2007. With effect from 1 April 2007 Hyde operated a 
Career Average Related Earnings (CARE) structure, with 
a 1/60th accrual rate, until the scheme was closed to 
future accrual on 31 March 2013. With effect from 1 
April 2013, the employees who were contributing to 
the SHPS defined benefit scheme were admitted to 
the HHALPAS scheme and a 5% AVC contribution was 
paid to the SHPS defined contribution scheme until 
April 2019 when this increased to 8%, to reflect the 
minimum contribution required to comply with the rules 
of the scheme. The last full actuarial valuation of the 

scheme was performed as at 30 September 2017 by a 
professionally-qualified actuary. The market value of the 
Scheme’s assets at the valuation date was £4.6bn. The 
valuation for the whole Scheme revealed a shortfall of 
assets compared with the value of liabilities of £1.5bn, 
equivalent to a past service funding level of 75%. 
Pension contributions during 2021/21 were determined 
in accordance with the advice of professionally-qualified 
consulting actuaries based on the most recent full 
actuarial valuation. The SHPS deficit payments are 
£494k from 1 April 2022 increasing at a rate of 2% per 
annum until September 2026. The estimated amount 
of withdrawal liability for Hyde Housing Association 
Limited is £14.04m. The last Hyde employee left the 
Growth Plan (the plan) section on 30 June 2019 and this 
plan was closed. The cessation valuation determined 
there was an employer deficit of £0.10m which 
was paid to the fund upon exit and Hyde no longer 
participates in the plan.
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34. Pension schemes (continued)

The fair value of assets and the present value of liabilities in the schemes at each Statement of Financial Position 
date, along with the principal actuarial assumptions used were:

As at 31 March 2022 HHALPAS SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
The fair value of the assets:

Equities 36,536 2,905 39,441 28,760 68,201

Liability-driven investment 29,894 4,225 34,119 - 34,119

Corporate bonds 1,107 1,010 2,117 - 2,117

Bonds - 952 952 19,557 20,509

Property 14,393 1,488 15,881 8,628 24,509

Diversified growth 4,429 2,613 7,042 - 7,042

Insurance policy 21,036 353 21,389 - 21,389

Secured income 3,322 390 3,712 - 3,712

Cash - 51 51 575 626

Emerging market multi asset - - - - -

Credit - 563 563 - 563

Target return - 590 590 - 590

Total market value of assets 110,717 15,140 125,857 57,520 183,377

Actuarial value of liabilities (101,015) (17,738) (118,753) (50,673) (169,426)

Surplus/(deficit) 9,702 (2,598) 7,104 6,847 13,951

As at 31 March 2021 HHALPAS SHPS Association Total WSCCPF Group Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
The fair value of the assets:

Equities 35,807 2,444 38,251 32,822 71,073

Liability-driven investment 25,275 3,897 29,172 - 29,172

Corporate bonds - 906 906 18,169 19,075

Bonds - 1,004 1,004 - 1,004

Property 11,585 1,340 12,925 4,102 17,027

Diversified growth 4,213 3,140 7,353 - 7,353

Insurance policy 24,222 368 24,590 - 24,590

Secured income - 300 300 - 300

Cash - - - 3,517 3,517

Emerging market multi asset 4,213 - 4,213 - 4,213

Credit - 993 993 - 993

Target return - 939 939 - 939

Total market value of assets 105,315 15,331 120,646 58,610 179,256

Actuarial value of liabilities (107,928) (18,124) (126,052) (53,843) (179,895)

Surplus/(deficit) (2,613) (2,793) (5,406) 4,767 (639)

Asset categories with % of each asset class at 31 March 2022 HHALPAS SHPS WSCCPF

Equity instruments 33% N/A 50%

Liability-driven investment 27% N/A -

Property 12% N/A 15%

Diversified growth 4% N/A -

Emerging market multi asset 3% N/A -

Insurance policies 20% N/A -

Bonds 1% N/A 34%

Cash - N/A 1%

Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 March 2022 HHALPAS SHPS WSCCPF

Salary increases N/A 4.3% 3.7%

Pension increases in payment N/A N/A 3.2%

Discount rate 2.8% 2.8% 2.7%

Inflation (RPI) 3.6% 3.7% N/A

Inflation (CPI) 3.1% 3.3% N/A

Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 March 2021 HHALPAS SHPS WSCCPF

Salary increases N/A 3.8% 3.4%

Pension increases in payment 2.0% N/A 2.9%

Discount rate 2.1% 2.1% 2.0%

Inflation (RPI) 3.2% 3.1% N/A

Inflation (CPI) 2.7% 2.8% N/A

Mortality assumptions at 31 March 2022 HHALPAS SHPS WSCCPF

Current pensions – males 86 yrs at 65 21.1 yrs at 65 21.9 yrs at 65

Current pensions – females 86 yrs at 65 23.7 yrs at 65 24.2 yrs at 65

Future pensions – males 88 yrs at 65 22.4 yrs at 65 22.8 yrs at 65

Future pensions – females 88 yrs at 65 25.2 yrs at 65 25.9 yrs at 65

Mortality assumptions at 31 March 2021 HHALPAS SHPS WSCCPF

Current pensions – males 87 yrs at 65 21.6 yrs at 65 22.1 yrs at 65

Current pensions – females 87 yrs at 65 23.3 yrs at 65 24.1 yrs at 65

Future pensions – males 88 yrs at 65 22.9 yrs at 65 23.1 yrs at 65

Future pensions – females 88 yrs at 65 25.1 yrs at 65 26.1 yrs at 65

Key information and assumptions for March 2022

*N/A indicates the information was not available. 

For HHALPAS, mortality is shown as expected life. For SHPS and WSCCPF, mortality is shown as remaining years.

34. Pension schemes (continued)

Key information and assumptions for March 2021

Asset categories with % of each asset class at 31 March 2021 HHALPAS SHPS WSCCPF

Equity instruments 34% N/A 56%

Liability-driven investment 24% N/A -

Property 11% N/A 7%

Diversified growth 4% N/A -

Emerging market multi asset 4% N/A -

Insurance policies 23% N/A -

Absolute return fund - N/A 31%

Gilts - N/A 6%

Bonds - N/A -

Cash - N/A -

*N/A indicates the information was not available. 

For HHALPAS, mortality is shown as expected life. For SHPS and WSCCPF, mortality is shown as remaining years.
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35. Financial instruments and risk management

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Valuation method 2022
£’000

2021
£’000

2022
£’000

2021
£’000

Financial assets at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income

Derivative financial instruments - (a) Fair value 11,886 6,186 11,886 6,186

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Investments and loans to subsidiaries and joint ventures - (b) Amortised cost 15,893 17,018 6,515 6,860

Service charge debtors Amortised cost 5,649 6,518 5,470 6,200

Rental debtors Amortised cost 8,461 8,294 1,499 4,152

Social housing grant receivable Amortised cost - - - -

Other debtors Amortised cost 17,948 20,412 55,134 69,422

Cash at bank and in hand Amortised cost 120,427 162,386 39,927 77,541

168,378 214,628 108,545 164,175

Financial assets that are equity instruments measured at fair value

Investments - (c) Fair value 11,499 10,883 191 172

Sinking fund investment offset loan Fair value 690 8,046 690 8,045

12,189 18,929 881 8,217

Financial liabilities that are measured at amortised cost

Rent in advance - (d) Amortised cost 10,616 10,038 7,314 6,793

Amounts due to contractors - (d) Amortised cost 6,629 3,975 471 471

Trade creditors - (d) Amortised cost 4,931 16,598 3,851 11,679

Other creditors and accruals - (d) Amortised cost 63,443 53,196 30,821 32,217

Bonds - (d) Amortised cost 936,413 936,772 542,821 543,428

Loans - (d) Amortised cost 597,909 669,987 407,379 478,232

Intercompany loans - (d) Amortised cost - - 201,370 172,203

Other long term creditors - (d) Amortised cost 55,221 50,002 2,235 4,946

1,675,162 1,740,568 1,196,261 1,249,969

Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income

Derivative financial instruments - (a) Fair value 75,348 101,629 45,079 66,237

a. Derivatives are measured at fair value. The fair value of the derivative financial instruments are obtained from third-party valuations and 
external advisors

b. The loans to subsidiaries and joint ventures are financial assets that are debt instruments are measured at amortised cost

c. These investments are the investments held in COIF and JM Finn

d. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

35. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

As at 31 March 2022
Cash flow  

hedge reserve 
Profit 

or loss 
Maturity  

date(s)

£’000 £’000

Derivative financial instruments:

Subject to cash flow hedge accounting - - -

Subject to fair value hedge accounting - - -

Not subject to hedge accounting - 31,919 2023-2058

Total derivative financial instruments - 31,919

Other movements:

Amortisation of de-designated cash flow hedges 1,148 - -

Amortisation of gilt lock cash flow hedges 512 - -

Total amortisation 1,660 -

Total Group 1,660 31,919

As at 31 March 2021
Cash flow  

hedge reserve 
Profit 

or loss 
Maturity  

date(s)

£’000 £’000

Derivative financial instruments:

Not subject to hedge accounting - 42,812 2023-2058

Total derivative financial instruments - 42,812 -

Other movements:

Amortisation of de-designated cash flow hedges 1,148 - -

Amortisation of gilt lock cash flow hedges 512 - -

Total amortisation 1,660 - -

Total Group 1,660 42,812 -

Cash flow hedges
In a cash flow hedge relationship, the proportion of 
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is 
determined to be an effective hedge is recognised 
directly in the cash flow hedge reserve. The balance 
in the cash flow hedge reserve is then recycled to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income to offset 
the impact of the hedged item when this occurs. Any 
ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is taken directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The derivatives subject to cash 
flow hedge accounting have been terminated. As such, 
the related balances in the cash flow hedge reserve are 
amortised to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
over the original period of the hedged risk.

Revolver loans
The Group’s financing facility also includes revolving 
credit facilities totalling £740m; these have undrawn 
balances of £740m as at 31 March 2022. Commitment 
fees of between 0.28% and 0.56% are charged on these 
undrawn facilities.

Sensitivity disclosures
Derivative assets:
 • Interest rate swaps: A 100bp movement in interest 

rates would impact the fair value by £2.5m 
 • Interest rate caps: A 100bp movement in interest 

rates would impact the fair value by £0.1m.

Derivative liabilities:
 • Interest rate swaps: A 100bp movement in interest 

rates would impact the fair value by £121.8m
 • RPI swaps: A 1% movement in RPI would impact the 

fair value by £5.0m.
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